Development of Disruptive and Sustainable Technologies, Concepts for Aviation

HAS Doctoral Thesis

Presented by

Dániel Rohács, PhD Associate Professor, head of Department

Department of Aeronautics, Naval Architecture, Faculty of Transport Engineering and Vehicle Engineering Budapest University of Technology and Economics Budapest, 2023

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my colleagues at the Department of Aeronautics, Naval Architecture for their continuous help and support in various research projects at the national and international level, as well as establishing a friendly, pleasant working environment.

A special thanks goes to József Bokor, Péter Gáspár, István Varga, Ádám Török, Lászlóné Tánczos for their particular advices and discussion that helped me to progress with this thesis.

I express my gratitude to all of my previous supervisors, and managers (i) István Varga, Szalay Zsolt at the Budapest university of Technology and Economics, (ii) Ádám Egry at HungaroControl, (iii) András Levente Gál at the KTI Hungarian Institute for Transport Sciences and Logistics (iv) Vu Duong, Marc Brochard at Eurocontrol, (v) Ivan Lavellee at Sorbonne and (vi) Alexandre d'Aspremont at Princeton University for all the support and guidance that they have provided my throughout my professional career.

My sincere thanks go to my family, girlfriend and Maximilian for supporting and motivating me to complete this thesis, help to overcome the difficult moments and establishing the peaceful environment at home.

Abstract

Seeing the present difficulties of air transportation (in almost all KPIs, such as safety, security, efficiency, predictability, capacity), the stakeholders defined challenging visions and targets in the strategic research agendas and white papers. The *problem* is that the defined visions might only be met with the development and implementation of radically new, so-called disruptive technologies, which seeing their complexity require further more mature evaluation and support.

The overall objective of this thesis is to develop advanced modelling techniques, supporting practices and philosophies for disruptive and sustainable technologies, systems and concepts. This covers (i) the modelling of disruptive technology development (e.g. advanced demand modelling), (ii) the future technology development and deployment (including technology identification, selection, advanced techniques of radically new technology development and (iii) the evaluation and supporting framework definition (with e.g. total impact analysis, energetic evaluation, and advanced safety and security philosophies).

The *hypothesis* is that advanced modelling techniques, supporting practices developed in this thesis could help the development of disruptive technologies, systems and concepts, being required to meet the challenging requirements defined by the aviation related strategic agendas and visions.

Disruptive technology development is in focus of all high level strategic groups, policy makers, transportation research programs, key industrial players and the society, which makes the *actuality* of the research topic and objective unquestionable.

The *overall result* of the author is the contribution to the creation, investigation, test and implementation of future disruptive technologies and solutions helping to reach the ambitious targets of the aviation industry.

The developed methodologies were *tested and demonstrated* in various national and international research activities. Results clear showed that the proposed techniques provide an outstanding support for the development of disruptive technologies, systems and concepts.

The findings of the investigations performed are summarized in 5 *theses*.

This thesis is a restructured and furtherly developed version of the former Habilitation Thesis of the author "Development of Disruptive Technologies and Solutions for Future Aviation, BME, Budapest, 2020"

The major results of the related research activities and the development of the core areas are summarized in the following theses.

drohacs_112_23

Contents

Acknow	wledgement	ii
Abstrac	ct	iii
Content	its	iv
Figures	s	v
1. Int	troduction	1
1.1.	Actuality	1
1.2.	Objective	3
1.3.	General methodology	5
2. M	lodeling disruptive technology development	6
2.1.	Overall model of future aviation development	6
2.2.	Demand modeling – applied to small aircraft transportation	18
Su	ummary	28
2.3.	Thesis I	29
3. Di	isruptive and sustaining development and deployment	30
3.1.	Identifying, selecting, and developing disruptive technologies and concep	ots 31
3.2. – the	Using out-of-the-box approach for the development of radically new sole Gabriel concept	utions 40
3.3.	Conceptual design of electric and hybrid aircraft	46
3.4.	Integration of drones in the smart city transportation system	52
3.5.	Thesis II, III, IV	57
		57
4. Ev technol	valuation and supporting framework development related to disrulogies	uptive 63
4.1.	Total impact analysis	63
4.2.	Energetic evaluation of the new aircraft developments	72
4.3. syste	Developing safety and security philosophies for personal aircraft transporem	tation 83
4.4.	Thesis V	93
5. Co	onclusions	95
Referen	nces	96
Referen	nces to own major publications	112

Figures

Figure 1.	Areas having strong influences on the future aviation (National, 2002)1
Figure 2.	Greenhouse gas emission of international aviation2
Figure 3.	General process of developing new technologies and concepts
Figure 4.	A simple controllable stochastic model of the future development processes.
Figure 5.	A process example that leads to the future state (explanation in the text) 9
Figure 6.	Major factors determining the development of future aviation12
Figure 7.	General ecosystem of future aviation
Figure 8.	The direct link between air transport volume and GDP grows
Figure 9.	Impact of past disease and covid outbreaks on the aviation segment
Figure 10.	Effect of covid on future aviation determined by the developed methodology
Figure 11.	Forecasts of itinerant general aviation operations at all US towered airports
Figure 12.	Influences of the economic factors on the general aviation
Figure 13.	Historical data-series on the number of air passengers (in thousand) of the selected German regions
Figure 14.	Prediction of small aircraft transportation flights routes for 2035, coloured by the number of daily flights
Figure 15.	The basic approach based on the S-curve of technology, product life and market penetration
Figure 16.	The role of Gömpertz curve in forecasting
Figure 17.	The applied general methodology of passenger demand forecast for the small aircraft segment
Figure 18.	Summarised results of the small aircraft demand in form of passenger kilometres
Figure 19.	Summarised results of the business jet demand (in passenger kilometres). 26
Figure 20.	Changes in small aircraft demand induced by electric and hybrid electric aircraft in the Hamburg NUTS-2 region
Figure 21.	Concept validation using Japan's historical data
Figure 22.	Harmonized demand estimation for freight (upper) and passenger (lower), Kenya railways
Figure 23.	Developed technology identification, evaluation and selection process 32

drohacs_112_23

Figure 24.	The developed methodology of identification, evaluation and selection of radically new technologies and concepts
Figure 25.	Operational concept of the Gabriel project
Figure 26.	Evaluation of EDS PM technology for reaching 400 km/h take-off speed. 37
Figure 27.	GABRIEL ground system, the cross section of the guideway and the sledge.
Figure 28.	The proposed concept development and validation methodology (where TIES stands for technology identification, evaluation, selection)
Figure 29.	The optimization process of the adapted aircraft
Figure 30.	Simulation study on rendezvous control: landing of aircraft on the moving sledge
Figure 31.	Principle of the rendez-vous control system
Figure 32.	The proposed supporting information screen for the rendez-vous concept 43
Figure 33.	The core elements influencing the weight balance calculation
Figure 34.	The developed new approach – based on the total impact performance index – to the conceptual design of electric, hybrid – electric aircraft
Figure 35.	The ration of various aircraft components based on the developed conceptual design methodology
Figure 36.	Weight breakdown and layout of the developed small cargo UAV based on the proposed methodology
Figure 37.	The recommended solution for airspace design developed by the National University of Singapore
Figure 38.	Simulation results of the drone following model
Figure 39.	The developed conflict management system54
Figure 40.	The concept and structure of the developed Total Sustainable Performance Index –TSPI
Figure 41.	The total life cycle CO _{2e} emission of the investigated small 4-seater aircraft
Figure 42.	Comparison of the fully electric, hybrid and conventional small aircraft configurations
Figure 43.	Price and specific energy of lithium-ion batteries
Figure 44.	Comparison of the key indicators of different fuels and propulsion systems of mid-size aircraft (in % relative to fossil jet configurations)
Figure 45.	Range depending on the hybridization factor and cruise speed
Figure 46.	Introduced new energy coefficients for advanced energetic efficiency evaluation

drohacs_112_23

Figure 47.	Energy intensity comparison over cruise phase of a conventional 4-seater aircraft (similar to Cessna 172), its electrified versions with 200, 400, 600 and 800 kWh energy storage at reduced and normal (Electric 800 Vcr) cruising speed
Figure 48.	Total energy used factors of various passenger aircraft
Figure 49.	Connecting the engine control and the elevator to facilitate the control of a small aircraft
Figure 50.	Automation to handle the engine and longitudinal control
Figure 51.	Model of situation awareness in the future air transportation environment (as the basis of subjective decision model)
Figure 52.	Display of the developed pilot support system
Figure 53.	Final phase of aircraft approach90
Figure 54.	Results of simulation of way of pilots situation awareness, evaluation – reaction

1. Introduction

1.1. Actuality

The history of air transport and generally the development of aeronautics might be approximated by "S" - curves known from innovation diffusion theory (Rogers, 2003).

In these days, after the first era related to pistons aviation, the second era, commercial aviation with gas turbines "S" – curve is about to end. Therefore, the stakeholders high level groups, leading institutions, aircraft producers, operators and policy makers developed challenging visions (NASA, 2002), (ACARE, 23011), for the future aviation segment (Strategic, 2011), FAA, 2016).



Figure 1. Areas having strong influences on the future aviation (NASA, 2002)

Seeing the limitations of the presently applied technologies and concepts, the established vision calls for *disruptive concepts, radically new technologies*, on demand services and novel air vehicles, such as drones or supersonic commercial air transportation (see Figure 1.). In this environment, *the adequate technology identification, selection, development, deployment, and the supporting framework establishment plays a crucial role.* See for example the methodology developed and applied in the EU FP7 Gabriel project, (Gabriel, 2011 - 2014), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2016), managed by the author of this thesis.

In this environment, researchers of countries with limited aeronautical industry and support in aeronautics research (like of Hungary) might contribute to the future aviation by (i) using existing technologies in new areas (like the development of drone applications), (ii) joining to major industry players (as Airbus, or DLR) and / or (iii) developing, studying and implementing disruptive technologies, radically new solutions.

In addition to the challenging key performance indicators such as safety, security, efficiency, capacity, predictability or flexibility, the importance of greening and the environmental friendly solutions continues to significantly grow. The global economy and societies face with significant new problems in environmental protection, climate change, circular economy, changes in global energy supply systems. These problems led to the definition of new inspiring targets in e.g. aviation related sustainability, environmental impact reduction or carbon neutralisation until 2050 (UN, 2015), (European Parliament,

2021), (ACARE, 2011), (ICAO, 2022). As a result, numerous research activities focus on greening, and the predicted HGH (greenhouse gas) emission (see Figure 2.). The future will be affected by a series of related aspects like the latest result of sciences and technologies, the availability of the required material and energy sources, the possible changes in the economic or social circumstances. Strategic planning should thus include the modelling of future states or the development process of the directly and indirectly linked governing aspects, framework. This could cover (i) the modelling of disruptive technology development (comprising e.g. an overall future aviation development (including technology identification, selection, advanced techniques of radically new technology development and (iii) the evaluation and supporting framework definition (with e.g. total impact analysis, or advanced safety and security philosophies.



Figure 2. Greenhouse gas emission of international aviation (Source: ICAO – International Civil Aviation: icao.int/environmentalprotection/pages/climatechange_trends.aspx (CAEP 11 – Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection, information on 11th meeting)

These problems in fact represent the general process of developing new technologies and concepts, upon the elements specified in the Figure 3.



Figure 3. General process of developing new technologies and concepts

The topic of disruptive technology development might be seen rather complex, however,

- (i) *high level groups of stakeholders and policy makers* defined ambitious objective that require radically new technologies and solutions,
- (ii) *transportation research programs* including aeronautics and air transportation are heavily focused on disruptive technologies and solutions,
- (iii) *key industrial players* are seeking for outstanding improvements (e.g. in efficiency, greenings, safety, security) and target their attention more intensively on pioneering ideas, since the presently available solutions cannot meet the requirements,
- (iv) *society* following the presently observed trends is looking for green, sustainable solutions, with the potential of fully exploited alternative energy systems, which should be based on disruptive concepts.

The facts above on the amount of stakeholders being interested makes the actuality of the development of disruptive technologies and concepts unquestionable.

The author of this thesis developed his knowledge and competence at numerous top rated universities, at the SME, national and international governmental, research and industrial sectors, managing various national as well as international projects in the aspects outlined in this thesis. The author focused all of his academic scientific activities to disruptive air transportation. Firstly in his MSc (Rohacs, 2004a), he addressed personal air transportation vehicles, and advanced safety philosophies, concepts. In his PhD (Rohacs, 2007a), and advanced demand model was developed, which later was applied in numerous EU projects related to small aircraft transportation. Since the PhD, the author was involved and coordinated numerous national and international research projects aimed to develop radically new and disruptive technologies / concepts, solutions, systems, including even the related environmental, social, financial / business, regulatory aspects (see for example the magnetic levitation assisted take-off and landing concept). The most important finding were summarized in his Dr. - Habilitation thesis (Rohacs, 2020).

In addition, the author was also involved or coordinated numerous industrial and global strategic plan development activities, for example (i) Disruptive product and service portfolio strategy (HungaroControl, 2019), (ii) National Waste Management Strategy (Ministry of Innovation and Technology, 2020), (iii) Hungarian Drone Strategy (Ministry of Technology and Industry, 2022); (iv) Scientific Strategy (Hungarian Institute for Transport Sciences and Logistics, 2022), (v) Hungarian Air Transportation Strategy (Hungarian Institute for Transport Sciences and Logistics, 2022). These activities permitted to achieve an outstanding acknowledged knowledge in scientifically proved strategic planning, and the identification, evaluation, selection of disruptive solutions.

1.2. Objective

This thesis is the further developed version of the former Habilitation Thesis of the author titled "Development of Disruptive Technologies and Solutions for Future Aviation" defended in 2020" (Rohacs, 2020).

The overall objective of this thesis is to support the future disruptive and sustainable aviation development processes with adequate modelling techniques, supporting practices and philosophies. This covers

- (i) the modelling of the disruptive technology development and general innovation process, such as (the development of an overall model of future aviation development advanced demand modelling),
- (ii) the future technology development and deployment (including technology identification, selection, advanced techniques of radically new technology development and
- (iii) the development of complex evaluation techniques and supporting philosophies, frameworks (with e.g. total impact analysis, energetic evaluation, and advanced safety and security philosophies).

The overall result of the author is the contribution to the creation, investigation, test and implementation of future disruptive technologies and solutions supporting the development of the future aviation segment. Altogether, the investigations led to the formulation of several governing ideas related to disruptive technology development:

- the development of future aviation requires *more precise modelling* to cover the introduction of the major radically new, emerging and future technologies,
- the accuracy of long-term forecasts could be enhanced with *innovation diffusion model technology techniques*,
- disruptive technology development require advanced *out-of-the-box concept generation* methods, and complex *technology selection, evaluation and assessment techniques*
- the integration of disruptive technologies and solutions (such as drones) to the future transportation systems *needs new approaches* (from the business model to the interoperability of the connected other transportation systems).
- the deployment of disruptive technologies require *new supporting framework, philosophies* (e.g. safety and security) and *complex impact assessment methods* considering technical, non-technical, social, financial and regulatory aspects (on the entire life-cycle)

This thesis is structured along the core areas related to disruptive technology development. These are described by the same structured approach including (i) the problem definition, (ii) the basic considerations, (iii) the developed solutions, (iv) the applicability (and examples) of the created solutions, (v) the conclusions and (vii) the results.

All the research activities outlined in this thesis were supported with national and / or international (EU supported) projects. Investigations were performed by high level professional methodologies (applied to research, model-formation, modelling, simulations, testing, impact evaluation) being combined with economic assessment and innovation development processes.

1.3. General methodology

The future state and global aviation development process could be captured with a simple, controllable stochastic model (Figure 4.). This starts with the identification and evaluation of the present. As it can be seen, the progress in sciences and technologies and other changes in required natural sources composes the mainly objective stochastic part in future development and determine the predicted (or predictable) future. It might be examined by technology foresights, forecasts and roadmaps techniques. On the other hand, the economy and society have a vision on the future that they (stakeholders) are expecting. This is the subjective part of the process, called as expected or desired future.



Figure 4. A simple controllable stochastic model of the future development processes.

The estimated difference between the predicted and expected future can be used to generate the required control actions, leading to the expected future. This control includes e.g. a vision generation, strategic goal development, resource allocation (technical and financial support), or supporting framework development (e.g. regulation, safety and security standards). This leads to the "real future", which might be slightly different from the expected future state, due to e.g. technological, financial, social acceptance or regulatory limitations.

The simplified process might be modelled as controllable Markov process with continues time and discrete state. Of course the process might be improved by applying semi Markov process, hidden elements, or Markov chain with discrete time and space. In any way, the identification or determination of the required state change coefficients (defining the probability density of state changes) result to complex problems and investigations, discussed by this thesis.

The overall model might be created on the basis of innovation theory, with a systems engineering description approach, comprising probability and stochastic processes development theories. The sub-model elements should include various related disciplines, related for example to aircraft design, theory of flight, flight dynamics and control, demand and business models, economics, safety or security. In addition, the model should also comprise the indirectly linked explanatory variables, derived from (i) policy requirements and regulation, (ii) technology developments, (iii) available natural resources and (iv) market, society needs. These could be synthetized on a new level, which is deeply discussed in this thesis, and demonstrated at various examples.

2. Modeling disruptive technology development

2.1. Overall model of future aviation development

Problem

The management of aviation progress – along e.g. the strategic research plans, the society expectations, the socio-economical factors, the envisaged technologies, the available natural resources – is a complex duty, which should be supported with *an overall innovation process model* that comprises all major explanatory variables.

Basic principles

The forthcoming air transportation depends on (i) mainly objective aspects, processes as the appearance of new scientific theories, results, the development of new technologies, concepts, the availability of the required natural resources (materials and energy), the human and financial assets (IATA, 2013), (IATA, 2019), and (ii) subjective features, such as the demand of future system defined by the economy or social leaders (as reachable objectives) (ACARE, 2011), (IATA, 2021), (FAA, 2004), (SESAR, 2022). The basic terms affecting the future are briefly summarized in the grey text boxes on the side.

The study, investigation, simulation management and of future developments require competences (i) in basic sciences (material technology sciences, sciences, physics, mathematics), (ii) in disciplinary multi integrated approaches like biomimicry, (Shyam et al., 2022) morphing technologies, (Ricci et al., 2017), (Chu et al., 2022), micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS) (Osiander et al., 2017), (iii) in special subjects of aircraft design

Goal – what you ultimately want to achieve **Objective** – a way to achieve a goal *Target* – a specified, realistic, measurable objective **Vision** – (here) description of the future foreseen, thought and planned by imagination and / or wisdom **Technology** – knowledge of input application aiming to reach the expected outputs / results Solutions – using the combination or set of technologies to solve a problem or reach an objective System – set of items working together as parts of hierarchically and functionally interconnecting network being available to perform a well defined task Aviation – a special economic sector that develops, produces and operates air vehicles. It has two major parts: aeronautical industry and air transportation (including *their development, optimisation, manufacture and recycle)* **Innovation** - use of new ideas, concepts, technologies or services for public good Innovation process - is the entire process from concept inspiration, creation of new idea, through research, development, production, operation, until recycling Innovation process generation - is the establishment of innovation process Innovation diffusion - is the market penetration of the *object (product or service)* Indicator – a variable selected and defined to measure the progress towards an objective Indicator data – values used in indicators Indicator type - nature of data used by the indicator (qualitative or quantitative, absolute or relative) Indicator system – a process for defining indicators, collecting, analysing data and apply the results **Indicator framework** – conceptual environment that links indicators to a theory, purpose or planning process *Indicator set* – a group of indicators selected to measure the comprehensive progress towards the goal(s) *Index* – a group of indicators aggregated into a single value Systems engineering - is a set of engineering tools to develop the new products and / or services **Phases of development and product life** – well definable parts of the development and product life that has a determining role in the system development and operation.

and operations of aircraft, comprising their supporting sub-system (e.g. airport management) (Torenbeek, 2013), (Fageda *et al.*, 2018), (Budd and Ison, 2020), (Graham, 2023), (Galotti, 2019), and even (in) in innovation development techniques, such as innovation theory or systems engineering (Berry and Berry, 2018), (Christensen *et al.*, 2004), (NASA, 2017), (Sales, 2016), (Murman *et al.*, 2016).

The investigation and simulation of the processes developing the future aviation is a rather

Technology brokering - is the creation of the breakthrough innovations at markets fields being otherwise disconnected **Emerging technology** – radically new technologies that might be available within 5 - 10 years *Foresight* - *is a knowledge (or sound judgment) of a* future event that may or may not occur. (This is an act of looking forward. It provide the general inputs for technology policy). **Forecast** – is the prediction of the future based on estimation techniques. It uses methods from simple trend analysis to complex models dealing with a large series of explanatory variables (drivers). Scenario - is a synoptical collage of an event or series of actions and events. **Roadmap** - is a plan or guide for future actions that matches the given terms of goals with technology solutions to help meet those goals. Business model - rational of how the system (organization) may create, deliver and capture (economic, social, or other forms of) value - how to make a profit. Business plan - a detailed plan setting out the objectives of a business, **Strategy** - a method or plan chosen to describe the desired future, such as the achievement of a goal or solution to a problem. Sustainability - meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future

without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs, balancing and integrating a prosperous economy, a quality environment, and social equity.

complex problem because there are too many aspects, factors affecting on the processes, while the information or data to perform the investigations are limited or unavailable. Numerous research activities aiming to cope with this problem, including the definition of future scenarios, or the development of advanced demand modelling techniques (Owen et al., 2010), (Baldwin, 2017) (Terrenoire et al., 2019). A large number of publications are based on general approaches, or a well-defined limited part of future technologies and services. which unfortunately require further efforts to translate them into applicable and solid series of actions (Wensveen, 2015), (Bala, 2021), (Farokhi, 2020), (Kousoulidou and Lonza, 2016), (Rao et al., 2017). On the other hand, one of the most powerful and applicable methodology to define the future aviation was published by NASA, in the SRA titled "Vision 2040" (Liu et al., 2018). It is an extensive work performed by the representatives of the academic, governmental, industrial and national

laboratory bodies, organisations.

The key thoughts of the NASA "Vision 2040" document (Liu et al., 2018).

- It defines a *unique methodology* based on
- the examination and state of the art of different states, called as present (S_p) and final / expected / end states (S_f) ,
- the estimation of the gaps in the redefined key element environments,
- the definition of the scope, fields, methods of investigations,
- the application of the available modern supporting methodologies, and
- the estimation, identification, evaluation and selection of the possible, recommended actions.

The Key Elements applied by this cited vision are the (i) models and methodologies, (ii) multiscale measurement and characterization tools and methods, (iii) optimization techniques, (iv) decision making and uncertainty quantification and management, (v) verification and validation, (vi) data, informatics and visualization, (vii) workflows and collaboration frameworks, (viii), education and training as well as (ix) computational infrastructure.

Sections of the key elements: definition – current state of the art – 2040 end state – gaps – recommended actions – relationships with order key elements.

Defined crosscutting themes: (i) data management, (ii) data analytics and visualization, (iii) information sharing and reusability, (iv) multidisciplinary collaboration, (v) institutional paradigms, (vi) benchmarking and business case, (vii) scalability and computational efficiency, (viii) linkage and integration, (ix) input/output confidence and reliability, (x) behaviour of materials and structures.

Result of the Vision 2040: roadmap developed for materials and (mechanical) systems.

The methodology of NASA "Vision 2040" (Liu et al., 2018) was generalised to study the entire air transportation segment, adapted to the hierarchically and functionally structured aviation system, reconsidered and redesigned for an overall model (while being applied for larger timeframe based on the available information and data).

Solution

Based on the NASA proposed methodology, future development might be defined according to the transfer from the present (S_n) , to the future (S_f) state:

$$S_p \xrightarrow{TF} S_f \tag{1}$$

where TF is a transfer function depending on the implemented actions.

Equation (1) should consider the following three major aspects:

- the states might be defined by using a series of indicators and indexes chosen specially on a goal and objective oriented basis,
- the transfer function leading to the future states should be identified / defined for each applied indicators, indexes
- the applicable models can be classified by the transfer functions / models

For the transfer functions, various available prediction models were investigated, from simple regression, or controllable stochastic techniques, to methods comprising deep learning and artificial intelligence.

The process of developing the future is recommended to be evaluated by an overall index, I_a , (index of aviation) total life cycle assessment (TLCA) related to the governing parameter. The assessment might be defined as cost, emission, greenhouse gas emission, or carbon dioxide emission, while for the governing parameter flight hours (for the aircraft), 100 passenger kilometre (100 pkm), or one tonne-kilometre (tkm) (for air transport) might be applied. For example total life cycle cost per flight hours (TLCC/h_f) or total greenhouse gas emission per 100 pkm (TLCE_{GHG}/100pkm) are sound relative indexes. Regarding the type of environmental impact, one might use the so-called direct impact – caused by the aircraft operations only – or the total impact that summarizes all the directly and indirectly associated affects. These indexes might be determined in form of annual total mass of emissions, or as contribution (in %) to the global emission caused by the aviation sector.

Based on these indexes, the development process of future aviation might be represented as a complex stochastic process $\{I(t)\}_{t\in T} \rightarrow I(t)$. See an example at Figure 5., where the thin blue curves define the various aircraft categories (such as a mid-size commercial aircraft operated by the low-cost carriers, or a rotorcraft used as urban air taxi) for the given I(t) index (e.g. fuel consumption), while the thick ones give the upper and lower timedepending boundaries (of the index). The index is time dependent and could be given at time t with the distribution function f(I(t)), showed with a red curve. As Figure 5 shows, the stochastic process $\{I(t, \omega): t \in T\}$ flows in sample space $\omega \in \Omega$. The red thick curve represents the mean of the process of changes of the selected index. As one might recognise, the stochastic process is non-stationer, thus the distribution function of the random values of indexes are time depending.



Figure 5. A process example that leads to the future state (explanation in the text) Let's discretize the time period $[t_0, t_1, ..., t_j, ..., t_f]$, and state (example) space

$$S_i, i = 1, 2, 3, \dots N; \quad S_i \cap S_k = 0, i \neq k$$
, (2)

in which "goodness" $S_p \rightarrow S_1$,

The process is monitored by the measurements $S_{j,i}$, j, i = 0, 1, 2, ... and sets of real values representing the general process I, $x_{r_{j,i}} \in I$, r = 1, 2, ..., l, j, i = 1, 2, ... The investigation of the past data series showed the followings: indicator, I, at time steps represents deformated normal distribution, and "staying" the indicator process in given S_j sub space might be approximated by an exponential function. The *I* index might be defined for classes of aircraft fleets (as long- medium – short-haul aircraft, small aircraft for commercial aviation), which follows a normal distribution. Therefore, the process development, as changes in indicator, I, can be characterised by the transition probability density:

$$\lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{P\{S_{j+1,k} = S_k | S_{j,i} = S_i\}}{\Delta t} = \lambda_{j,ik}, \qquad j \in \overline{0, f}, \quad i, k \in \overline{0, N-1},$$

$$\lambda_{j,ik} \ge 0, \quad \forall j, i, k, \qquad \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \lambda_{j,ik} = 1, \quad \forall j, i.$$
(3)

Furthermore, the time steps are represented by their starting time, t_j , while the state elements as subspace between the $(S_{i+1} - S_i)$ showed as S_i might be defined by the mean value of changes for the investigated index as $x_{j,i} = (x_{j,i+1} - x_{j,i})/2$.

This discretisation allows to introduce the probability of process realisation in the given state at the given time, $p_{j,i}(t_j, S_i)$ for j = 1, 2, ..., j, ..., f and i = 1, 2, ..., i, ..., N-1.

Applying these definitions, the mean or expected value, m_I , and the standard deviation, or variance, σ_I , of the investigated process, changes in chosen index can be defined such as follows:

$$m_{I}(t_{j}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} p_{j,i}(t_{j}, S_{i}) x_{j,i}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots f, \qquad (4)$$

$$\sigma_{I}(t_{j}) = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} p_{j,i}(t_{j}, S_{i}) \left(x_{j,i} - m_{I}(t_{j})\right)^{2}}$$
(5)

Accordingly, the vector of probabilities

$$\mathbf{P}_{j} = \mathbf{P}(t_{j}) = \left[p_{0,j}(t_{j}, S_{1}), p_{1,j}(t_{j}, S_{2}) \dots, p_{i,j}(t_{j}, S_{i}), \dots, p_{N,j}(t_{j}, S_{N-1})\right]^{T}$$
(6)

are changed defined by the simple transfers from time ,j" to time ,j+1":

$$\mathbf{P}_{j+1} = \mathbf{P}_{j}\mathbf{C}_{j,j+1}\left(t_{j}, \mathbf{F}(t_{j})\right),\tag{7}$$

where $\mathbf{TF} \rightarrow \mathbf{C}$ is a transfer (transition) matrix, or the matrix of transfer coefficients, \mathbf{F} – is the vector of affecting factors.

The complex problem of modelling the entire process of future developments could be simplified to a technically easier model, with approximating the stochastic process of continuously time and space by the extensively applied stochastic process of discrete time and space. This process is a Markov chain, because the series of chain elements are not depending on the past, but on the current state:

$$\mathbf{P}_{j+1}(I_{j+1} = x_{j+1} | I_j = x_j, I_{j-1} = x_{j-1}, I_{j-2} = x_{j-2}, \dots, I_0 = x_0) = \mathbf{P}_{j+1}(I_{j+1} = x_{j+1} | I_j = x_j).$$
(8)

At this stage, the major problem of the proposed model is the estimation of the transfer matrix elements for each time steps. As preliminary investigations show, the transfer matrix elements are not equal to the elements of the transition probability density, and thus a general controlled process is recommended to be defined, based on the controlled transition density:

$$\pi_{j,ik} = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \mu_{j,iq} \lambda_{j,qk} , \quad \forall j , \quad \forall i,q,k \in \overline{0,N-1} ,$$
(9)

where

$$\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \pi_{j,ik} = 1, \quad \forall j, i .$$
 (10)

Supposing that the controlled Markov chain is measurable, the Transfer matrix (C) might be determined from the following:

$$M[c_{j}] = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{q}^{N-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} P_{j,i} \mu_{j,iq} \lambda_{j,qk} \left(c_{j,qk}^{D} + c_{j,qk}^{S} \right) + \sum_{i}^{N-1} \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} P_{j,i} \mu_{j,ik} c_{j,iq}^{d} = min!$$
(11)

where $c_{j,qk}^{D}$ - is the cost related to the measurement and identification of the state $S_{j,k}$ when the process shifts from $S_{j,q}$ to $S_{j,k}$ states,

 $c_{j,qk}^{S}$ - is the cost related to the transition of the process from $S_{j,q}$ to $S_{j,k}$ states,

 $c_{j,iq}^d$ - is the cost related to the transition of the process from $S_{j,i}$ to $S_{j,q}$

states under the applied control.

Seeing the number of strategic research agendas and other visions on the future of aviation, one might consider that the sector's development process is well defined. However, the estimation of the transfer matrix elements is problematic, since the available documents usually provide general visions, future requirements, or challenging guidelines, rather than exact details on the implementation of the emerging and future technologies. For example, the first targeted deadline for the introduction of electric aircraft passed many years ago, mostly due to the unforeseen limitations of the battery technology and resources. In addition, the NASA BluePrint vision (NASA, 2002) and the European Vision 2020 (ACARE, 2001) formulated at the beginning of century envisaged the so called more electric aircraft, while electric propulsion systems and fully electric aircraft configurations only appeared in the later visions as FlightPath 2050 (ACARE, 2011) or the updated Strategic Research and Innovation Agenda (ACARE, 2017). Step changes in process development are thus often caused by unforeseen external circumstances (e.g. crisis, covid, war) or pioneering concepts with low TRL, which gives the prediction a relatively high uncertainty. This problem could be solved with the annual estimation of the transfer matrix elements, which takes into account the technology foresights, roadmaps and realistic predictions on the most important affecting technologies and solutions (see results of further investigation in the following chapters).

Applicability

The assessment of the applicability of the proposed concept should be started by the evaluation of the present (at t_0) and the final (at t_f) states, being defined by the high level ambitious goals of the stakeholders, the society and the economy. Then, the transfer matrix elements must be determined for each time steps, each years. All the elements, $c_{j,k|t_i|t_{i+1}}$ describe the transfer from one state S_j to any other S_k state over a step of time from t_i to t_{i+1} for all j = 1, 2, ..., k, ..., f-1 and i = 1, 2, ..., N-1.

The detailed investigation of aspects and effects influencing, determining the transfer function elements helped to formulate the following three possible approaches:

- study of all major factors influencing the future development,
- investigation of the hierarchical and functional systems, sub-systems and
- analysis of the available information, data.

Accordingly, the first approach – based on all major influencing factors – is developed, as shown in the Figure 6. As illustrated, four group of factors are defined, (i) natural resources, (ii) the market pull, (iii) the science and technology push and (iv) the policy, indexed as nr, mp, stp, p consequently. These are the four sub-coefficients, which could be used to determine the transfer coefficient upon the following:

$$c_{j,ik|t_j|t_{j+1}} = \prod_{l=1}^{4} c_{l,j,ik|t_j|t_{j+1}},$$
(12)

where *l* depicts the major factor groups.



Figure 6. Major factors determining the development of future aviation.

The second approach is based on the hierarchical decomposition of the system to its core sub-systems, and distinguishing for example large commercial operators and low-cost carriers. Figure 7. illustrates a possible functional definition of the air transportation ecosystem, as defined by the Korean Transport Institute (Kim *et al.*, 2019). As illustrated, it is a rather complex layout, with numerous key stakeholders (e.g. aircraft manufacture bodies, aircraft and airport operators, ANSPs, policy makers, research organisation), and several sub-system components (such as communication, navigation, or. engine manufacture). In this case, the determination of the transfer matrix elements follows the same approach as defined at the equation (12), with the application of separated sub-system, elements.



Figure 7. General ecosystem of future aviation (developed by KOTI – Korean Transport Institute (Kim *et al.*, 2019)

The third applicable approach is based on collection, identification analysis and selection of the available information and the determination of the required coefficients accordingly. The available data should be based on various SRAs, technology and industry visions, roadmaps, research and policy papers, or various (e.g. socioeconomic) data banks. This methodology covers since the scientifically sound systematic reviews, simulation and prediction studies, and data mining, big data analysis (Dou, 2020).

Examples

The following chapters of this thesis deal with further investigation of the proposed general model. It studies the applicable indexes, major factors influencing the future, developing radically new technologies, solutions to reach the challenging goals defined by society and economy leaders and policy makers.

Two simplified examples for the application of the developed modelling methodology could be given. The first demonstrates how roadmaps might define the effects of technology development on the predictable process of future aviation. General roadmaps or specialised roadmaps of a particular domain are often optimistic visions on the future, published by large companies and organisations such as Boeing, Airbus, IATA, EUROCONTROL, FAA (IATA, 2013), (IATA, 2019), (FAA, 2022), (US DoD, 2005), (TE, 2022), (Hanlon, 2017). For this investigation, the technological roadmap published by IATA (International Air

Transport Association) (IATA, 2013) was selected. It contains several tables (see Table 1.) that provide promising information on the new concepts, technological solutions, their applicability to aircraft program, possible fuel reduction, technological readiness and their possible implementation date. As shown, numerous potential technologies and concepts were identified to lower the fuel consumption and thus the carbon-dioxid emission. While numbers are promising, real numbers depend on the actual fleet composition, traffic volume evolution, and several other socioeconomic, as well as regulatory factors. It is important to stress, that flying without the landing gear is one of the top rated concepts, which as also addressed by the EU FP7 GABRIEL project, coordinated by the author (Gabriel, 2011 - 2014), (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2016) (see chapter 3.1 and 4.2.).

Group	Concept	Technology	Applicability to aircraft program	Fuel Reduction Benefits	Current development status (TRL #)	Availability of technology (calculated)
	Truss-Braced Wing / Strut-Braced Wing		after 2020	10 to 15%	2	2028
A	Hybrid-Wing-Body		after 2020	10 to 25%	4	2026
AlfCfatt	Cruise-Efficient STOL		after 2020	< 1%	3	2027
GUITIIYUTALIUTI	Morphing Airframe		after 2020	5 to 10%	3	2027
	Flying without landing gear		after 2030	10 to 20%	1	2032
	Advanced Wingtip Devices	Wingtip Fence	retrofit	1 to 3%	9	2012
		Blended Winglet / Sharklets	retrofit	3 to 6%	9	2012
		Raked Wingtip	retrofit	3 to 6%	9	2012
		Split Winglets with scimitar tips	retrofit	2 to 6%	7	2022
		Spiroid Wingtip	after 2020	2 to 6%	7	2022
	High Lift Devices	High-Lift / Low-Noise Devices	after 2020	1 to 3%	4	2026
		Variable Camber Trailing Edge	before 2020	1 to 2%	9	2012
Aerodynamics		Dropped Spoiler	before 2020	1 to 2%	9	2012
		Hinge-less Flap	after 2030	1 to 2%	3	2027
	Drag Reduction Coatings	Drag reduction coatings	retrofit	< 1%	9	2012
		Turbulent Flow Drag Coatings (Riblets)	retrofit	1%	8	2015
		Aircraft Graphic Films	retrofit	1%	9	2012
	Natural Laminar Flow		after 2020	5 to 10%	7	2022
	Hybrid Laminar Flow		after 2020	10 to 15%	7	2022

 Table 1. Typical information source on the technology roadmap (IATA, 2013)

The second example deals with effect of economic, pandemic, or political crises on the development of future air transportation, according to the following 7 steps:

- study of the available information on the air transportation volume (that is getting double every fifteen years),
- evaluation of the effects of crises on air transportation (Figure 8.),
- determination of the general transfer matrix elements based on historical records,
- analysis of the recovery period related to the crisis: for example the effect and recovery time caused by covid are vastly different in size and time relative to any other crisis (see Figure 9.),
- identification of the crisis appearance based on the study and definition of wellknown economic cycles (Kitchin inventory, Juglar fixed investment, Kuznets infrastructural investment and Kondratiev long waves),



Figure 8. The direct link between air transport volume (ICAO, 2017a) and GDP grows.



Figure 9. Impact of past disease and covid outbreaks on the aviation segment (combined figures published by (ICAO, 2023)).

- estimation of the changes in the transition matrix elements (7), (12).
- execution of the simulation (Figure 10.).

Figure 10 shows a simulation example. The model illustrated, even the complex effect of covid (e.g. longer recovery time could be considered, and thus provide more meaningful predictions. As found:

- could be easily adapted to special crisis as covid (by the optimal selection of the transfer matrix coefficients),
- could even consider the complex effect of covid (e.g. longer recovery time).



Figure 10. Effect of covid on future aviation determined by the developed methodology

Conclusions

Future as a period of time that is to come depends on (i) the availability of the natural resources (ii) the power sciences and technology push, (iii) the market need, market pull and (iv) the industrial strategic visions, objectives. As a consequence, the process have objective, random and subjective sides, which is a complex process, and that is difficult to model and simulate.

Seeing these circumstances, the proposed method firstly defined special indicators for the complex process identified. The changes of these indexes as a random process of continuous time and state was discretised and approximated by known stochastic process of discrete time and state space, a Markov chain. Finally, the methodology to define the transfer matrix elements was determined.

The applicability of the proposed method was investigated and discussed in the following chapters of this thesis.

Summary

I summarised the available information on the possible modelling and simulation techniques related to the future development of aviation in a general Markov chain model, which approximates the development processes with discretised time and state space.

• The model requires a sophisticated determination of the annual transfer matrix.

- I defined the framework and structure of the major factors influencing the future development along the hierarchically and functionally structured system of the aviation industry
- The determination of the transfer matrix elements was solved for several future developments, such as the effect of small aircraft development, the use of maglev to assist the aircraft take-off and landing operations, and the integration of drone in the smart city environment.
- The model and annual transfer matrix estimation were tested and demonstrated with different examples, such as using roadmaps for technology evaluation, or the recovery of the air transportation traffic volume after the crisis generated by covid.
- The methodology and the simulation model is the generalized developed improved version of the model developed by myself at EUROCONTOL, used in my PhD thesis, and numerous other EU research project (PPlane, FORSAT, FOROT, FORJET).

2.2. Demand modelling – applied to small aircraft transportation

Problem

The strategic planning and management of future aviation, and disruptive solutions, require *advanced demand modelling techniques*, in order to establish sound and mature business models, and market projections.

Air transportation development does not follow the classical product or service diffusions theories, usually faced with lack of data, and thus cannot be forecasted with the classic prediction methods. Advanced demand modelling thus require a new approach and methodology.

Basic principles – study the future

The progress in sciences and technologies pushes and the demand in future aviation pulls the development. The stakeholders' representatives, policy makers working on the industry visions, white papers, managing and policy developments should be supported with sound technology foresights and demand assessments.

Four problems related to small aircraft demand forecast was identified (by FORSAT – Forecast of Small Aircraft Transport project of CleanSky 2) (FORSAT2035, 217-2018):

• The known forecasts might overestimate the real demand and they are rather based on industry feelings (Figure 11.),



Figure 11. Forecasts of itinerant general aviation operations at all US towered airports (Shetty & Hansman, 2012)

- The demand does not depend on the usually observed major drivers (like GDP or populations) (Figure 12.). For example:
 - As shown in pink colours, even with growing GDP, when oil prices are higher, total small aircraft operations are lower, while these operations are not highly dependent on fuel prices.
 - The recovery after a crisis is usually happens earlier and faster than predicted by the industry experts.



Figure 12. Influences of the economic factors on the general aviation (Shetty & Hansman, 2012)

• The inputs required for demand forecast have serious constraints, as false or missing data (Figure 13.),





(source NUTS2 (EUROSTAT, 2018)) demonstrating the available inputs (Saarland), partly available records (Rheibnhessen-Phalz) and completely missing data (Their) (Rohacs et al., 2018)

• There is a lack of information on the technology progress (dummies) initiating step changes in small aircraft development (such as the needs in electric aircraft and their possible introduction to the market).

Solution - Methodology for demand estimation

In Europe, the first extensive forecast studies on small aircraft were performed by EUROCONTROL, aiming to identify and predict the influence of small aircraft on air traffic management (ATM). These studied the results of the NASA AGATE (Advanced General Aviation Transport Experiments), NASA SATS (Small Aircraft Transportation System) megaprojects and assessed the numerous models for demand forecast. The initiatives were dealing with the possible use of known forecasting methods (like regression or gravity models), analysed and developed further models / methods, like Markov approximation, or the estimation of the interaction of the civil air traffic with new small aircraft transportation.

The first results at EUROCONTROL (Rohacs, 2004b, 2005a, 2005b, 2006a, 2006b, 2007b, 2007c) were summarised in a PhD thesis (Rohacs, 2007a). The methodology developed was later applied by the EU supported EPATS (EPATS, 2007) and SAT-Rdmp (SAT-Rdmp, 2010 - 2012) projects (see Figure 14.). The projections were given by simple quantitative econometric model, based on a log-linear or logit models.



Figure 14. Prediction of small aircraft transportation flights routes for 2035, coloured by the number of daily flights (Ghijs & Rohacs, 2013)

A *log-linear* (or double-logarithmic) model specifies the logarithm of the traffic volume as a linear function of the logarithms of independent variables.

$$\ln(D) = \alpha + \beta_1 \ln(X_1) + \beta_2 \ln(X_2) + \dots + \beta_N \ln(X_N), \qquad (13)$$

where D – is the demand, α is a constant, $\beta_1, \beta_2, ..., \beta_N$ are the so called elasticities that measures the responsiveness of the dependent variable to a change in an independent variable, $X_1, X_2, ..., X_N$ are the variables.

The main drawback of the log-linear model is that each elasticity is invariant across all data points, which is powerless in considering unexpected events and novel factors driving the demand.

The *logit models* consider the market shares of alternative transport modes, and thus assessing the mode shift behaviour from road to air transportation. It extends the log-linear form to allow a mixture of categorical and common independent variables and to estimate one or more categorical dependent variables, such as the followings:

$$\ln\left(\frac{S_i}{S_m}\right) = \alpha_i + \sum_{k=1}^K \left(\beta_{ik} \frac{X_{ik}}{X_{mk}}\right) + \sum_{n=1}^N \gamma_{ik} X_n , \qquad (14)$$

where S_i/S_m is the ratio of demand *i* to base mode *m*, X_{ik}, X_{mk} are respectively the k^{th} attribute of mode *i* and the base mode *m*, X_n is the n^{th} common variable to all modes, $\alpha_i, \beta_{ik}, \gamma_{ik}$ are the model parameters.

These techniques are however found less appealing, seeing that both rely on a statistically adequate number of past observed records – which are limited if not fully unavailable for disruptive technologies and concepts (Laplace et al., 2011).

Seeing the limitations of the generally applied quantitative methods, other advanced techniques were analysed and developed by the author. The demand of a product – like small aircraft – can be evaluated and characterised by specially formed indicators as *state variables*, together as state vector, **x**. In this case, dependent variable (demand or market requirement, total cost) might be defined as state vector elements. The changes in state vector is determined by the governing indicators, as GDP, regulatory environment, technology development, as "control" input, $\mathbf{b}(t)$, while the real process is distributed by random values, process, space, being summarized in a noise vector, $\boldsymbol{\xi}(t)$. Mathematically this could be formulated as:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{\Phi}(\mathbf{x}, t) + \mathbf{b}(t) + \mathbf{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}, t) \boldsymbol{\xi}(t) , \qquad (15)$$

where Φ is the deterministic vector describing the rate of change of the state vector **x** (as the product of the state and time increment functions); **b** is the vector of control effects; and finally σ is the transfer matrix describing impact of the noise disturbance on the state vector **x**. This equation by replacing the state vector **x** by $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}} + \Delta \mathbf{x}$, the equation (21) could be statistically linearized in the area closed to $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}}$:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{d}{dt}(\mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}} + \Delta \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}}, t) + \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}}, t)\Delta \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{b}(t) + \mathbf{\sigma}(\mathbf{x}, t)\boldsymbol{\xi}(t)$$
(16)

where $\mathbf{U}(\mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ is the sensitivity matrix, i.e. the matrix of partial derivatives of the (vector) function $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}, t)$ respectively to state vector \mathbf{x} , determined at $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{x}}$.

Research discovered that this class of models could be applied for relatively simple projections, but the exploitation of these techniques is rather limited for disruptive products or concepts, due to the lack of relevant data. In addition, the prediction model in a generalized form is powerless, since the system should reflect special, complex characteristics influencing the demand (e.g. cultural habits, accessibility, importance of greening). These attributes might depend on the regulatory aspects or the application of the novel technologies, which defines rather a complex system with internal coupling and discrete (step) changes.

Seeing the uncertainty related to a new concept or product, a new approach was developed by the author, based on *innovation diffusion theory* (Rohacs, 2007a). This technique is based on the idea of describing the demand – instead of simple econometric models – by a more suitable method and an S-curve, which considers the market penetration of the new product or system (see Figure 15). This approach might better represent the relationship between the technology or product adoption and time, since the new technology or product covers numerous market penetration and adoption phases (e.g. innovators, early adopters, early majority late majority, laggards), with different characteristics (e.g. purchase power, technology openness).



Figure 15. The basic approach based on the S-curve of technology, product life and market penetration.

To describe S-curves, numerous formulas are available, but this thesis recommends the widely used Gömpertz curve, mostly due to its flexibility:

$$VO = S * \exp[-a * \exp(-b * v)].$$
⁽¹⁷⁾

This model estimates the dependent variable (this time the vehicle ownership per capita: *VO*) at the simulation time *t*, with a saturation level *S*, two model coefficients *a* and *b* and a major independent variable, *v*). While this techniques is capable to capture the real market processes and cope with items without past records, it still require variables on the expected market saturation level, the starting point of the S-curve and the duration of the market penetration. To overcome this problem the author combined the innovation theory approach with the so-called *Travelling Money Budget* (TMB). This, instead of a simple economic approach, considers the proportion of income that the society is willing to devote for traveling. As observed, it is highly a function of given socioeconomic and country specific factors, but usually remains unchanged even in unpredictable events (Zahavi *et al.*, 1981). Accordingly, a given product or technology becomes available on the market (which is the starting point of the S-curve), when its total operating cost reaches the traveling money budget.

Finally, seeing that the real market demand of a disruptive product or item is highly depending on other indirectly linked supporting circumstances (e.g. disruptive business model, new regulatory environment, advanced safety & security philosophies), a new systematic approach was developed and applied to forecast the small aircraft, rotorcraft and business jet segments (in the FORJET, FORROT and FORSAT EU projects) (FORJET2035, 2017-2018), (FORROT2035, 2017 – 2018), (FORSAT2035, 2017 – 2018), (Rohacs et al., 2018). This new approach has the following novelties:

- selecting the drivers after their detailed evaluation (including the reliability and sensitivity),
- selecting the input records (historical and available forecasted data of drivers sources of statistical information centres, large data sources as World Bank, Knoema, IMF, OECD, Visiongain, or large institutions, international organisation as ICAO, IATA, NASA, Airbus, Honeywell),
- introducing a special method to harmonise the missing or possibly false input data,
- developing a driver identification, evaluation and selection method,
- integrating the demand forecast depending on the accessibility (airport density, provided service as air taxi) and affordability (price of using small aircraft),
- combining the forecast of drivers, available forecast methods (like autoregressive or autoregressive with exogenous term) with "S"-curve (Gömpertz model) in shortand long-term modelling (Figure 16.),
- proposing a basic methodology composed of 5 core steps (Figure 17.),
- introducing dummies and economic cycles to modify the forecast results and
- finalizing the results to estimate the required numbers of aircraft.



Figure 16. The role of Gömpertz curve in forecasting (Rohacs et al., 2018), (FORSAT2035, 2017 - 2018)

(Here arx – autoregressive endogenous models were applied where P is the population, G stands for the GDP and E reflects the education ratio)

The developed methodology is based on using:

- d_i(t₀ t) and d_i(t₀ + t), i = 1, 2, ..., n) selected input drivers as historical (t₀ t) and forecasted (t₀ + t) data,
- f_i , j = 1, 2, ..., m harmonisation functions (or models),
- d_{m_k} , k = 1, 2, ..., p dummies taking into account the appearance of new technologies and
- e_{c_l} , l = 1, 2, ..., q effects of economic cycles.

$$\begin{pmatrix} D_{pkm}(t_0+t), D_{\frac{a}{c}}(t_0+t), \dots \end{pmatrix} =$$

$$= \phi(d_1(t_0-t), d_2(t_0-t), \dots, d_n(t_0-t))$$

$$d_{1_f}(t_0+t), d_{2_f}(t_0+t), \dots, d_{m_f}(t_0-t),$$

$$(18)$$

drohacs_112_23

$$\begin{split} &f_1 \left(d_1 (t_0 - t), d_2 (t_0 - t), \dots, d_n (t_0 - t) \right), \\ &f_2 \left(d_1 (t_0 - t), d_2 (t_0 - t), \dots, d_n (t_0 - t) \right), \dots, \\ &f_m \left(d_1 (t_0 - t), d_2 (t_0 - t), \dots, d_n (t_0 - t) \right), \\ &d_{m_1} (t_0 + \tau_1), d_{m_2} (t_0 + \tau_1), \dots, d_{m_p} (t_0 + \tau_1), \\ &e_{c_1} (t_0 + t), e_{c_2} (t_0 + t), \dots, e_{c_q} (t_0 + t)) \end{split}$$

Here is an example for the harmonisation functions: the demand generation value (Dgv):

$$Dgv = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \delta_i, \tag{19}$$

where c_i are the coefficients defining the role of different factors at the regional level air trips, δ_i is like a Kronecker symbol defining the activity of the given factor (it is equal to 1 once the given factor characterises the regional developments and air trips, and zero if not), $i \rightarrow$ factors as business, agriculture, industry, trade, science and technology, tourism, airports (this last equals to 1 once the region have medium or large size airport(s)).



Figure 17. The applied general methodology of passenger demand forecast for the small aircraft segment (Rohacs et al., 2018),, (Wangai, et al., 2019b)

For example the Dgv developed for Germany is

$$Dgv = 0.75 \,\delta_{\text{business}} + 0.12 \,\delta_{\text{agriculture}} + 0.24 \,\delta_{\text{industry}} + 0.54 \,\delta_{\text{trade}} + 0.42 \,\delta_{\text{science and technology}} + 0.48 \,\delta_{\text{tourism}} + 0.45 \,\delta_{\text{airports}} .$$
(20)

Using this technique, the demand generation values equal to 0.6, 1.11 and 2.52 for Trier, Rheinhesse-Paltz and Saarland respectively (Figure 13.). By taking into account these values and the population data on air passengers related to the Saarland region, the basic indicator (I_{ap_h}) might be converted to the other two regions such as:

$$I_{ap} = I_{ap_b} \frac{I_p}{I_{p_b}} \frac{Dgv}{Dgv_b} + \varepsilon$$
(21)

where I_p – is the indicator on the population of the regions, index b related to the basic indicators or values and ε is the white noise with standard deviation 10 thousands air passengers.

The dummies were estimated from the available foresight data and roadmaps developed for different regions.

Applicability

This shortly described methodology was applied in numerous large EU supported and national projects. Firstly, in the EPATS project (Epats, 2007), with a Eurocontrol contract, and with an improved version in the SAT-Rdmp project (SAT-Rdmp, 2010 - 2012) (see Figure 18). Later, the methodology was also used in the EU Pplane (Pplane, 2009 - 2012) and Esposa (Esposa, 2011 - 2014) projects.



Figure 18. Summarised results of the small aircraft demand in form of passenger kilometres.

The methodology was used to forecast the non-cooperative targets (SINBAD project (SINBAD, 2007 - 2010)) and the Hungarian UAV demand as well (Rohacs, 2008).

The developed technique (as available in 2020) was completed in the FORSAT (FORSAT2035, 2017 - 2018) (Figure 18.) FORROT (FORROT2035, 2017 - 2018) and FORJET (FORJET2035, 2017 - 2018 (Figure 19.) projects (the forecasting team was managed by author). It was adequate for the FORSAT project, as it provided results for the NUTS2 level. On the other hand, its implementation to the FORROT and FORJET projects was powerless due numerous difficulties: (i) the number of small business jets is rather

marginal, (ii) the drivers were difficult to be identified, (iii) the usual drivers like the GDP had no determining role, and (iv) the business jet specific drivers are difficult to capture (e.g. the country level registration of the small business jet mostly depends on the possible tax optimisation structures).

The developed methodology and its application was applied in the EPATS (EPATS, 2007), SAT-Rdmp (SAT-Rdmp, 2010 – 2012), (Laplace, 2011), , (Ghijs & Rohacs, 2012), (Ghijs & Rohacs, 2013), Pplane (Pplane, 2009-2012), Esposa (Esposa, 2012 - 2014) and Sindbad (SINBAD, 2007 - 2010), (Rohacs, 2008) projects. It gives the basic approach to FORSAT, FORROT, FORJET PROJECTS, (Rohacs et al., 2018) and was published in several papers, (Rohacs, 2004b, 2005a, 2005b, 2006a, 2006b, 2007a, 2007b, 2007c), (Rohacs, et al., 2005, 2006), (Törő et al., 2018), (Wangai et al., 2019b, 2019c).



Figure 19. Summarised results of the business jet demand (in passenger kilometres).

Examples

The developed methodology was also applied to several special cases. Figure 20. demonstrates how technological dummies, the introduction of electric and hybrid small aircraft in 2024/25 might radically increase the demand of small aircraft at the Hamburg NUTS-2 region.



Figure 20. Changes in small aircraft demand induced by electric and hybrid electric aircraft in the Hamburg NUTS-2 region (FORSAT2035, 2017 – 2018), (Törő, 2018)

The methodology was also applied to other transportation mean, to railway transport. The concept was validated by Japan's historical data (Figure 21.) and records published by (Chester and Horvath, 2009). The methodology was applied to forecast Kenya railway transport (Wangai *et al.*, 2020), (Wangai, 2020) for strategic planning (Figure 22.).



Figure 21. Concept validation using Japan's historical data.



Figure 22. Harmonized demand estimation for freight (upper) and passenger (lower), Kenya railways

Conclusions

After the detailed investigation of the available techniques related to long term disruptive technology forecast, a special methodology was developed, based on the proposed 5 steps summarised in the Figure 17.. This introduces the following major novelties:

- Use of indirectly linked drivers, based on e.g. social, financial, safety, security or regulatory aspects,
- Application of dummies and economic cycles (to capture variables even with high uncertainty),

- Adjustment and harmonisation of the missing or possible false input records,
- Extension of the generally used techniques with more realistic market features based on the market penetration S-curve (Gömpertz curve).

The methodology was used in numerous national and EU funded projects, lastly in the Clean Sky 2 JTI programme (see FORSAT, FIRROT, FORJET projects), and acknowledged by the stakeholders. It supports the modelling of disruptive concepts, both in the technology-push or market pull environments.

Summary

I improved the forecasting methods described in my PhD thesis and I summarised them into a new complex methodology adapted to small aircraft transportation systems.

- The methodology defines the selection of specific drivers, uses the historical and available forecasted data (related to the drivers),
- It harmonizes the input data series, estimates the technology dummies, effects of economic cycles and
- It utilizes a complete five step forecasting method combined with Gompertz curves and advanced socioeconomic constraints (like TMB)
- The proposed methodology was used in numerous research projects, and demonstrated that it could highly support the estimation of market pull factors in the modelling the future aviation development processes.

2.3. Thesis I

I improved the generally used **forecasting methods**, with advanced demand modeling techniques (applicable for disruptive solutions), based on the following major novelties: (i) using realistic market penetration S-curve, (ii) introducing advanced socioeconomic factors like accessibility, affordability and traveling money budget, (iii) integrating the high level visions available in the technology foresight and roadmaps to better capture the uncertainty linked to the future development of the industry.

- I developed a **special forecasting technique for disruptive technologies** with unavailable past records (such as small aircraft), based on the following 5 step approach (see Figure 17): (i) the selection of specific drivers, (ii) the preliminary assessment of the technological, economic or social effects, (iii) the forecast of the independent variables, (iv) the harmonization of the missing or possible false input records, and (v) the prediction based on a realistic market penetration curve.
- I coupled the forecasting technique with a **market penetration S-curve**, to more realistically capture the relationship between the technology / product adoption and time, and reflect the various market penetration phases (e.g. innovators, early adopters, early majority late majority, laggards), with different characteristics (e.g. purchase power, technology openness):

$$VO = S * \exp[-a * \exp(-b * v)]$$

where VO is the vehicle ownership (or demand) at the simulation time t, with a saturation level S, two model coefficients a and b and a major independent variable, v (in most cases that is the time).

• I created a special forecasting methodology based on an **annually adjusted transfer matrix** and a controlled Markov chain approximation technique to cope with the lack of data on the future development of the aviation sector by the technology foresights and roadmaps given in the strategic research agendas.

$$m_{I}(t_{j+1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} p_{j,i}(t_{j}, S_{i}) \mathbf{C}_{i,j,j+1}(t_{j}, \mathbf{F}(t_{j})) x_{j+1,i}, \quad j = 1, 2, ... f,$$

where m_i is the average expected value of the *I* index at t_{j+1} , j = 1, 2, ..., f (discretised) time step, $p_{j,i}$ – is the probability of staying at the investigated stochastic process of aviation future development evaluated by the I index in S_i state (S_i , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., N; $S_i \cap S_k = 0$, $i \neq k$) as subspace of I index, $C_{i,j,j+1}$ is the "i"- column vector of 3D transfer matrix at j, j+1 time step, **F** is the vector of factors affecting the future aviation development process, $x_{j+1,i}$ is the determining elements of S_i subspace at t_{j+1} time step (see Figure 5).

• The developed forecast method based on a market penetration S-curve was validated by projecting car ownership records in the past for numerous decades. Results clearly indicated that the projected ownership data followed a regular product S-curve, with marginal deviations from the past real observed data. The developed methodologies were also applied in various large-scale international projects, comprising different disruptive concepts, such as the projection of flying without a landing gear, which clearly demonstrated the applicability and the acknowledgement of the developed techniques.
Most important publications related to Thesis I:

- Wangai, A.; Macka, M.; de Graaff, Travascio L.; Solazzo, M. A.; Rohacs, D.; Vozella, A.: "Developing a general methodology for forecasting the demand in small personal aircraft". *Inderscience Publishers. International Symposium On Sustainable Aviation* (ISSA-2019). ISBN:9786058014008 pp. 84-91, 2019
- Wangai, A. W.; Dung, N. D.; Rohacs, D.: "Forecast of electric, hybrid-electric aircraft". *Proceedings of International Symposium on Electric Aviation and Autonomous Systems*, pp. 26-31, 2019
- Rohacs, D.: "Kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris hosszútávú előrejelzése: Long-term Prediction of Small Aircraft Accessibility". *Repüléstudományi Közlemények 19* Különszám pp. 1-8., 2007
- Rohács, D.: "Non-linear prediction model for the European small aircraft accessibility for 2020: Az európai kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris előrejelző modellje 2020-ra". *PhD értekezés*, BME, 2007.
- Rohacs, D.: "Non-linear probabilistic prediction of the Small Aircraft accessibility: A European model for the piston, turboprop and jet Aircraft". In: *Transport Means 2007* : Proceedings of the11th International Conference, Kaunas, Litvánia : Kauno Technologijos Universitetas, 291 p. pp. 43-46., 4 p, 2007
- Rohacs, D.: "The Effect of Income and Total Operating Cost on Small Aircraft Accessibility in Europe: a prediction for 2020". In: *Proceedings of the 5th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* : EUROCONTROL, pp. 9-13., 2006.

3. Disruptive and sustaining development and deployment

3.1. Identifying, selecting, and developing disruptive technologies and concepts

Problem

There is no adequate method for the identification, evaluation, selection and development of disruptive technologies, while the future aviation targets require radically new techniques, concepts and systems.

Basic principles - Definition and classification of technologies and solutions

Technology is a set of knowledge, human, energy, financial resources, tools, machines, organizational methods, human actions to support products or services developed for public goods (Dosi, 1982) (Montobbio, 2003).

The development of the new technologies appears in three different forms. The first type – called as sustaining technology – brings enhancements on a shorter term and by sustaining the existing solutions and concepts (Rothwell, 1994), (Dodgson, et al. 2002). Higher innovation level is reached by the second type, the so-called disruptive technologies (Christensen, 1997). These destroy the existing systems and develop new solutions, which could be disruptive form a technology (e.g. developing an entirely new technology) or from a market (e.g. focusing on a new market, or with a different business model) point of new. The proposed solutions overcome the existing technologies, initiate radical changes in the given area of economy and a step change in the technological level (Norman, 1998) (Kroo, 2004). Finally, the third type of new technologies is the subversive technologies that cause radical changes on the society level. These are often refered as radical technologies that bring distruptive solution for both the technology and the market in the same time.

Basic principles

Technology and / or solution selection could be classified in the following three major groups:

- selection of existing alternative sustaining technologies, solutions, products, services,
- selection of radically new, disruptive technologies, solutions for further product, service development or deployments in existing systems to radically improve the system performance,
- selection of major technologies, solutions that have a determining role in the future (aviation) development.

In first case, the technology selection is a relatively simple task that could be performed with for example multi-criteria decision making techniques (Hwang and Yoon, 1981). The method is based on (i) the definition of measurable criteria performance to evaluate the alternatives, (ii) the selection of the attributes as inherent characteristics of the alternatives and (iii) the description of the objectives as design space. The multi-criteria decision making could be based on various general methods such as decision matrix, Poreto frontier, direct assignment, eingenvector or entropy, or even on several new approaches as fuzzy

sets, genetic algorithm. These lasts are extensively applied in air transportation (Dožić, 2019), even in rather specialised problems as the UAV flight planning (Yang and Yoo, 2018).

The second group, the selection of radically new technologies needs a complex approach, since the performance and reaction of the market on the new solution is unclear. For such cases, the technology identification, evaluation and selection (TIES) is a central problem of the development and application of disruptive technologies and solutions. Probably, the most known and applied TIES method was developed by Kirby (Mavris & Kirby, 1999), (Kirby, 2001).



Figure 23. Developed technology identification, evaluation and selection process (Kirby, 2001)

This TIES (Figure 23.) integrates a set of different methods (such as quality function deployment, concept and design space definition, morphological matrix, design – management – integrated product teams, modelling and simulations, operation optimization system, advanced life cycle cost analysis, Monte Carlo simulation, fast probability integration, technical metrics, "k" factors, compatibility matrix, technology impact matrix, technology mappings, decision matrix, multiple attribute decision making, technology readiness level, technology frontiers, resources allocation) into one unique and generally applicable methodology. This approach combines the mathematical models, physics – based simulation, with non-mathematical methods as "k" factors and the systematic approaches. The TIES technique as presented in the Figure 23. is proposed to select disruptive or radically new technologies (see follow-up chapter).

The third group, the selection of major technologies, solutions determining the future is a new and very complex task, and which is out of the scope of this thesis.

Solution - technology identification, evaluation and selection

The existing general TIES techniques have severe difficulties, mostly linked to the fact that there is limited information on the radically new technologies, and their possible application. Therefore, the classical TIES technique was adapted to the selection of the radically new technologies and a new methodology was developed for the evaluation of the new solutions (see Figure 24.).



Figure 24. The developed methodology of identification, evaluation and selection of radically new technologies and concepts.

The methodology was based on the author's accumulated practice gained in numerous national and international research projects addressing disruptive technologies (e.g. (EPATS, 2007), (SINBAD, 2007 – 2010), (SafeFly, 2007 – 2010), (Corvus, 2008 – 2010), (PPlane, 2009 - 2012), (Gabriel, 2011 – 2014), Innovate, 2011 – 2014), (Esposa, 2011 – 2014), (Idea-E, 2017 – 2020)). The proposed framework can be shortly described such as the following:

Step 1. Introduction and study of the concept

Generation of the concept, development of the concept applicability, description of the operational concept, study of the regulatory environment, evaluation of the market, social, and financial needs.

Investigation and selection of the applicable technologies, solutions leading to the envisaged product or service (according to the operational concept).

Step 2. Definition of the basic criteria, objectives and constraints

Three types of criteria might be defined or created to evaluate the new technologies, solutions and / or products, services:

- general criteria indicators determining the future development: total life cycle cost, relative energy consumption, total life cycle emission, noise, sustainability, safety, security, market and society needs, society acceptance;
- specific criteria parameters, performance of technologies and solutions and /or products, services as technology /product life predicted, availability of the required materials, cost of building the production line, factories, service providing centers;
- comparative criteria indicators permitting the comparison of the analogical technologies, solutions or product and services being competitors on market, such as physical characteristics, performance of the technology and solution alternatives.

The objectives – usually derived from the operational concept –might be formulated in objective functions, which should be optimized.

The constraints can be estimated on the basis of physical, operational conditions, economical and social needs.

Step 3. Evaluation, estimation of the criteria - preliminary work

- Creation of the decision matrix containing the alternatives $(y_1, y_2, ..., y_j, ..., y_m)$ for each criteria $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_i, ..., x_n)$.
- Estimation of the decision matrix elements, scores

$$\mathbf{D} = \left(d_{i,j}\right)_{(n \ x \ m)} = \begin{bmatrix} d_{11} & \cdots & d_{1m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ d_{n1} & \cdots & d_{nm} \end{bmatrix}$$
(22)

• Standardization of the decision matrix.

For disruptive technologies, the most promising solutions are leading to minimized cost, fuel consumption, emissions, and maximized safety, security. If the decision matrix elements were estimated by evaluation scores (for example by using 10 classes of merit, with 10 being the best), the decision matrix can be applied without any special standardization. In this case, the following formula might be used to determine the standardized elements, d_{ii}^s ,

$$d_{ij}^{s} = d_{ij} / \max_{i}(d_{ij}), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n, \ j = 1, 2, ..., m$$
 (23)

Once the decision matrix elements are based on measurable values or changes in the given criteria (in %), the following standardization could be used:

$$d_{ij}^{s} = |\Delta d_{ij}| / \max_{i}(|\Delta d_{ij}|), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n, \ j = 1, 2, ..., m \ .$$
(24)

drohacs_112_23

Here Δd_{ij} means changes in criteria (in %). Actually, the $\max_i (|\Delta d_{ij}|)$ can be determined as the difference of the maximum expected and minimum accepted changes in the indicator – criterion (in percentage of change).

This methodology proposed to use 2% as the minimum acceptable value of changes (see definition of constraints).

• Creation of the weighting coefficients for the criteria $(w_1, w_2, ..., w, ..., w_n)$, that depend on the consideration of physical objective conditions, regulatory requirements, economic and social needs as well as (subjective) expectations.

Step 4. Selection of the most promising technology, solution for further deployment.

Once using the first type of standardization (29), the selection can be based on the following simple function maximizing the selected criteria goodness:

$$y_s = \max_j \left(\sum_{i=1}^n w_i d_{ij}^s \right) \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., m).$$
 (25)

In case of using the relative changes in indicator-criteria, the maximum average value may represent the selection in a more comprehensible form for the users:

$$y_s = \max_j \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n w_i d_{ij}^s \right) \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., m).$$
 (26)

For disruptive solutions, the comparison of the existing and the proposed new products and services and their alternatives increases the role of sound and well-defined criteria. In such cases, the criteria vectors are recommended to be divided into two vectors $(x_1, x_2, ..., x_i, ..., x_n)$ and $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_k, ..., z_q)$. The decision matrix, *D*, is and the weighting coefficient vectors are also divided into two parts. Accordingly, the introduced novel selection method could be given as:

$$y_{s} = \max_{j} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i} d_{ij}^{s} + \sum_{k=1}^{q} w_{k} d_{kj}^{s} \right) \prod_{k=1}^{q} \delta_{k}(z_{k}) \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., m), \quad (27)$$

$$y_{s} = \max_{j} \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i} d_{ij}^{s} + \frac{1}{q} \sum_{k=1}^{q} w_{k} d_{kj}^{s} \right) \prod_{k=1}^{q} \delta_{k}(z_{k}) \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., m), \quad (28)$$

where $\delta_k(x_k) \to \delta_k(z_k)$ is a symbol, working with analogy to the Kronecker symbol, and thus being one if $(z) \in \{z_{k,min} \div z_{k,max}\}$ and zero otherwise. Here $\delta_k(x_k) \to \delta_k(z_k)$ means that *z* might be a special characteristic, performance like flight risk.

Applicability

The developed methodology was applied in the EU FP7 L1 research project titled the "Integrated Ground and on-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-off and Landing study (GABRIEL)" (Gabriel, 2011 - 2014), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2013b, 2014b). The author of this thesis was the technical manager of the project. This out-of-the-box initiative investigated how magnetic levitation might be used – as a ground-based power – to support the aircraft take-off and landing processes (Truman & Graaff, 2007), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2015). The methodology introduced here on the selection, development and deployment of disruptive technologies was used in the concept generation, and also along the conceptual design, verification / validation duties (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2014b, 2016).

This project assessed the possible improvements of the aircraft take-off and landing processes (Rohacs, et al., 2012b), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2014a), (Vos, et al., 2014). Altogether 15 different possible methods were studied to reduce the energy required for the aircraft take-off and landing phase. These covered for example (i) the high altitude airport concept served by special lift or aerostatic ships, (ii) the cruiser – feeder approach, (iii) the use of individual electric engine UAV accelerators, or electric catapults, and (iv) the application of magnetic levitation technology.

It was found that the use of magnetic levitation technology is the most promising technology to radically increase the energetic efficiency, while cutting the environmental impact at the airport vicinities. Furthermore, 7 more detailed alternative maglev related concepts were created, such as (i) using conventional or adapted smaller landing gears with the maglev track, (ii) removing the landing gears and magnetically hovering the aircraft along the runway, or (iii) applying a dedicated maglev accelerated ground sledge and a cart for the ground movements. These possible solutions were tested against four major groups of criteria as greener air transport (noise, emission, aircraft weight, performance, operational cost, energy reduction), complexity (reliability, availability, maintainability, airport capacity, complexity), safety (safety, impact of cross-wing emergency landing, security) and concept requirement at the airport (transition period, integration to the airport operation, required investments) (Schmollgruber, et al., 2012). The investigations performed suggested to use a configuration based on a cart with gears and a sledge being levitated above the maglev track (Figure 25.).



Figure 25. Operational concept of the Gabriel project (achieved by the developed technology identification, evaluation and selection methodology).

Once the framework of the proposed operational concept was available, the next task was to analyse and select the most appropriate magnetic levitation technology (Schmollgruber, et al., 2012), (Rogg *et al.*, 2013) (Rogg, et al., 2013). From the existing and mature magnetic levitation systems (Lee *et al.*, 2006) and developments, the followings found to comply with the defined requirements: (i) EDS SCM: Electrodynamic Null-Flux with superconducting magnets, (ii) EDS PM: Electrodynamic Combined Flux with permanent magnets in Halbach Arrays, named "Inductrack System", (iii) EMS LSM: Electromagnetic levitation with synchronous longstator propulsion, and (iv) EMS LIM: Electromagnetic levitation with Linear Induction Motor (Rogg *et al.*, 2013), (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2016).

These maglev systems were evaluated by using a multicriteria decision analysis (Table 2) and physical simulations.

Table 2. shows that the evaluation for a mid-size aircraft (like A320), according to numerous predefined criteria, resulted in the selection of the Electrodynamic Levitation technique with Permanent Magnets in Halbach Arrays, often called as the Inductrack concept.

Criterion	Priority Factor	Result of the Preliminary Evaluation without Priority Factor				Result of the Preliminary Evaluation without Priority Factor			
		EDS SCM	EDS PM	EMS LSM	EMS LIM	EDS SCM	EDS PM	EMS LSM	EMS LIM
Levitation Capability	3	8	8	4	2	24	24	12	6
Speed / Acceleration Capability	3	7	9	8	3	21	27	24	9
Complexity of Guideway	2	4	7	6	7	8	14	12	14
Complexity of Vehicle	2	3	9	4	2	6	18	8	4
Electrical Power to be Installed	3	7	8	6	4	21	24	18	12
Energy Consumption per Launch	2	7	9	7	5	14	18	14	10
Levitation at Standstill / Take Off- and Landing Velocity	1	3	5	10	10	3	5	10	10
Magnetic Stray Fields 0,5 m Above Magnets	1	0	7	10	10	0	7	10	10
Safety Suspension System	3	10	8	10	10	30	24	30	30
State of Development / Development Risks	1	9	5	10	10	9	5	10	10
Potential of Further Development	1	6	6	3	3	6	6	3	3
Operation/Maintenance easy – difficult (assessment)	2	5	8	6	6	10	16	12	12
						152	188	163	130

Table 2. The evaluation results of the candidate maglev technologies



This was also in line with the performed physical simulations (Figure 26.).

Figure 26. Evaluation of EDS PM technology for reaching 400 km/h take-off speed.

In the selected EDS PM technology, the levitation is performed by an electro dynamic difference flux system with permanent magnets. The sledge is accelerated and decelerated by an electrical synchronous long primary motor, which is supplied by converter units with

variable voltage, current and frequency. The main components of the GABRIEL ground system are the guideway, magnetically levitated sledge/cart system, power chain, linear propulsion, controlling and supervision equipment. Figure 27. shows a cross section of the guideway and the levitation frames of the sledge. It is a rather complicated configuration, but this is necessary to meet the following GABRIEL requirements: (i) maximum speed 75 - 110 m/s, (ii) acceleration from 2 to 4 m/s² and (iii) thrust from the engines of the aircraft from 0 to 100%.



Figure 27. GABRIEL ground system, the cross section of the guideway and the sledge.

Note: The chosen magnetic levitation technology has a series of advantages and disadvantages. One of the interesting and important disadvantages is related to the source of the required material. More particularly, to construct the magnetic levitation systems, rare materials are required, such as the Neodymium. Permanent magnets, used in levitation systems, usually consist of a material, composed of Nd2Fe14Bo (Neodymium, iron, boron), which has the best performance of all permanent magnetic materials developed up to now, with its permanent field of 1,4 T; energy density of 300 kJ/m³ and coercivity of 1.000 kA/m.

There is a huge demand for neodymium, as these magnets are widely used in all branches of electric and electronic industry as well as for electric automobiles and wind energy generators. The main mining areas of neodymium are in China. It may be difficult to predict the availability and the market price on the long run. The development activities in the field of permanent magnetic materials should be observed, with the aim to replace neodymium by a less rare but equivalent material. Moreover, these magnets are not easy to handle, because of the strong magnetic forces, and thus require special skills and tools.

Examples

Other application of the developed methodology is related to (i) the conceptual design of a cargo UAV resulted in unconventional forms of structural solutions (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020), (gal, et al., 2018), (ii) the concept development of personal aircraft (PPlane project (Rohacs, et al., 2011)), (iii) the development of the Corvus Racer 540 (Corvus 2008 – 2010), and (iv) the system development of optimized energy mix generation for residential buildings (MATE, 2022), (Rohacs, 2023a).

Conclusion

As showed in various projects and research activities, the proposed methodology (i) could be used in different domains with alternative level of innovation, (ii) might be easily adapted to the domain specific requirements (e.g. assess total life cycle cost evaluation, (iii) is based on the definition of design criteria and the use of a design Matrix of alternative solutions, which (iv) could be qualitatively evaluated to find the most promising alternative.

Summary

I adapted and developed the technology identification, evaluation and selection method to the selection and development of disruptive technologies and radically new solutions (systems, products and services).

- This method is based on the development of a design matrix (of the potential solutions), its evaluation (upon the operational phases, as well as the weighted scores of operability and other selected criterions) and using the methods of multi criteria decision making modified to the selection of the radically new technologies and solutions.
- The proposed method was applied in the technology identification, evaluation and selection process related to the Gabriel project, which clearly illustrated how such complex disruptive initiatives could be supported with ease, and how much the project results are dependent on the appropriate technology selection and evaluation.
- The proposed methodology was also applied to develop a smart map showing the locally availability renewable energies and propose the optimal energy generation mix for residential, public and industrial buildings.

3.2. Using out-of-the-box approach for the development of radically new solutions – the Gabriel concept

Problem

The challenging requirements defined in the air transportation related strategic agendas and roadmaps (ACARE, 2011), (IATA, 2021), (ICAO, 2022) *require disruptive and radically new technologies*, since the sustaining developments are only leading to marginal improvements.

Basic principles

The methodology described shortly below, was created in the EU FP7 project titled "Integrated Ground and on-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-off and Landing study (GABRIEL)", and coordinated by the author of this thesis (Gabriel, 2011 - 2014), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2014b, 2016). In the development of maglev assisted aircraft take-off and landing processes, European research activities are globally outstanding (Baterin, et al., 1997), (NAVAL, 2016).

The Gabriel project investigated how magnetic levitation might be used – as a groundbased power – to support the aircraft take-off and landing processes. Such radically new disruptive technologies and solutions might be developed by out-of-the-box approaches (Truman & Graaff, 2007), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2015). The methodology introduced here on the selection, development and deployment of disruptive technologies was used in the concept generation, and also along the conceptual design, and concept verification / validation duties (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2014b).

In the development of maglev assisted aircraft take-off and landing processes, European research activities are globally outstanding (NAVAL, 2016), (Batenin, Bityurin, Ivanov, Inozemzev, & Gorozhankin, 1997).

Solution – proposed methodology

The created and proposed methodology is summarized in the Figure 28. As illustrated, is has five major steps:

- 1. Idea development and concept inspiration: according to the financial, market and regulatory expectations, based on the latest result of sciences and technologies.
- 2. Concept development: including (i) the assessment of the stakeholders' understandings on the mission and operational objectives (expectations), (ii) the problem definition (including the technical, non-technical, social, financial and regulatory aspects), (iii) the study of the available, enabling, emerging and future technologies, (iv) the estimation of effects of new technologies and solutions on the proposed solution, (v) the operational concept development, and (vi) and identification of the mission success criteria.
- 3. Theoretical investigations: comprising the conceptual design and the technology selection methodologies



Figure 28. The proposed concept development and validation methodology (where TIES stands for technology identification, evaluation, selection)

- 4. Concept verification and validation: based on various simulations or physical tests, and even on consultations with the stakeholders
- 5. Impact analysis: details assessment of the results regarding e.g. financial, environmental, safety, security, social or regulatory aspects.

Applicability

The Gabriel consortia introduced an original idea (see chapter 3.1.) and intended to show the feasibility based on existing and well-applied methods (Rohacs, et al., 2012a, 2012b), (Schmollgruber, et al., 2012), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2014b) and generally utilized the methodology described (Figure 29.). Due to the unusual solutions, numerous original and new scientific methods were elaborated and applied. Some of them are outlined by this thesis, such as the development of the disruptive technology identification, evaluation and selection (chapter 3.1.) effects of MagLev technology on aircraft geometry (Majka, et al., 2013). security risk prediction of the radically new solutions (Rohacs, et al., 2014c) and total impact analysis (Majka 2016). Other related problems, such as the physics-based modelling of the acceleration, deceleration of the sledge by magnetic levitation technology, the concept development, the selection of maglev supporting system, the conceptual design of the Gabriel concept, the study on aircraft aerodynamics and flight performance, especially the take – off and landing performance of the undercarriage-less aircraft, or the redesign of the aircraft without an undercarriage (Figure 30.) (Rogg, et al., 2013), (Schmollgruber, et al. 2013, 2015), the complex simulation of aircraft motion (Figure 5.), the study of the precision landing in simulation and in the developed small demonstration models (magnetic track and UAVs) were solved by a standard scientific approaches

drohacs_112_23



Figure 29. The optimization process of the adapted aircraft (Schmollgruber, et al., 2013)

One of the most interesting study was conducted in the development of a so-called rendezvous system, being responsible to permit landings on the maglev levitated sledge (see Figure 30.). The original target was to reach a landing accuracy of ± 1 m in any direction. Therefore, a dedicated control system was developed, which harmonized the motion of the aircraft and the sledge moving on the maglev track. The motion control was based on measuring the relative distance between the aircraft and sledge, and a special supporting system (Pool, et al., 2013), (Rohacs, et al., 2014b), (Siepenkötter, et al., 2014).



Figure 30. Simulation study on rendezvous control: landing of aircraft on the moving sledge (Pool, et al., 2013), (Rohacs, et al., 2014b)

The control system was based on optical sensing (Figure 31.). The concept was tested and validated in simulation, and seeing the critical importance of the system, also in real physical environment with a dedicated maglev track and a UAV.



Figure 31. Principle of the rendezvous control system (Pool, et al., 2014)

Another important novelty of the project is the developed pilot support system to facilitate the rendezvous operation (Figure 32.).



Figure 32. The proposed supporting information screen for the rendezvous concept (Schmollgruber, et al., 2014)

In addition to the concept development, implementation, and validation, a detailed impact analysis was also performed.

The final conclusion of the project were the followings:

- the envisioned maglev assisted TOL processes are technologically feasible (as demonstrated with the experiments), while also meeting the requirements (e.g. in accuracy),
- the deployment of the concept is safe and secure,
- the concept brings substantial benefits:
- the reduction of aircraft weight and fuel consumption is 9.3 and 18.1 % respectively (in case of mid-size passenger aircraft),

- the reduction of noise during the take-off and the landing phase is -64% and 19%, respectively,
- the emitted emissions are reduced over all phases of flight, but especially over the take-off by 38-58% (depending on the take-off scenario implemented),
- the cost-benefit ratio is positive, cost savings of up to € 1,467.26 per flight could be reached (on a typical European flight with a mid-size passenger aircraft).

Examples

The methodology was applied to the development and management of several projects including Esposa (Esposa, 2011 - 2014), SafeFly (SafeFly, 2007 - 2010), IDEA-E (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020) or the smart map development of optimized energy mix generation for residential buildings (MATE, 2022),

Conclusion

The proposed new approach for the development of radically new, disruptive solutions brings the following benefits:

- include the assessment of the stakeholders' understanding on the mission and operational objectives (expectations) in the operational concept definition (to evaluate whether / how the concept could be used and define potential problems, limitations),
- perform detailed theoretical investigation to (i) identify, evaluate, and select the potential technologies, and (ii) provide the conceptual design of the system,
- make complex impact assessment from various financial, environmental, safety, security, social or regulatory aspects, and cross-check how these are in line with the preliminary defined expectations,
- generate outstanding results, while also meeting the social, industrial, regulatory and other requirements,
- support the public acceptance of the concept and the results (due to their early involvement in the development process).

Summary

I proposed a new method for the development of out-of-the-box technologies, systems and concepts, which could highly support the development of outstanding results related to disruptive developments and the progress towards the ambitious targets defined in the air transportation related strategic agendas and roadmaps.

- The developed technique is based on a 5 step approach, covering (i) concept inspiration, (ii) concept development, (iii) theoretical investigations, (iv) validations, verifications, and (v) impact assessment
- The methodology was demonstrated in the Gabriel, and SafeFly, Esposa, and smart map projects
- The methodology enabled for the author to make a major contribution to the development of the Gabriel project (at the concept development, feasibility study,

drohacs_112_23

concept validation and impact assessment). The Gabriel concept was further developed by several other theses (Schmollgruber, 2018), (Sibilska-Mroziewicz, 2018), (Wu, 2019).

• The results showed that the techniques can generate outstanding results, with eased public acceptance and while meeting all other KPIs (such as safety, security, efficiency, sustainability), which could thus facilitate the development of out-of-the-box results.

3.3. Conceptual design of electric and hybrid aircraft

Problem

Seeing the stakeholders challenging visions and requirements in sustainability (ACARE, 2011), (IATA, 2021), (ICAO, 2022), electric / hybrid aircraft configurations are under extensive development. While this could be a promising concept towards greening, the specific energy (kWh/kg) of the available accumulator cells / battery packs are unfortunately very low. The energy available in 1 kg kerosene can only be stored in 10 - 12 kg of batteries, which in addition has other specific energy of the batteries, electric aircraft has higher take-off mass or dramatically reduced range (see point 4.2.). In addition, in a conventional propulsion system the aircraft gets lighter over the flight (since fuel is burned), unlike electric aircraft where landing and take-off weight is equal. To overcome these problems, the literature suggests to use electric propulsion systems with the so called low hybridization, thus employing the fully electric modes in a maximum of 12 % of the flight (Antcliff, et al.), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2020a). Seeing these complexities, *electric or hybrid aircraft require adapted or improved conceptual design processes*.

Solution – New conceptual design methodology

At first the identified problems / barriers of the new technologies (e.g. specific energy, weight, technology readiness level, expected lifetime) and the possible operational concepts supporting the electric and hybrid – electric propulsion systems (e.g. where and how these aircraft could fly) were analyzed to assess all primary data being required for aircraft design (Kuhn, 2012), (Thackeray, et al., 2012), (Gal, et al., 2018), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019).

Regarding the aircraft design, it is a multidisciplinary nonlinear optimization process with large series of constraints. These last represent the details of various domains, and thus could be grouped for example to legal, economic, technological, mechanical, aerodynamic, flight mechanics, dynamics, flight performance, flight dynamics, stability and control areas.

The aircraft development includes three major iteration / optimization phases (Raymer, 2012) (i) the conceptual, (ii) the preliminary and (iii) the detailed design.

The first, the conceptual design, deals with the proof of concept, multidisciplinary dynamic and fluid design that investigated a large number of alternatives to find the good aircraft configuration according to the defined requirements or other constraints. The methods of conventional conceptual aircraft design (Raymer, 2012), (Torenbeek, 2013), (Roskam, 2015, 2017), were adapted to electric and hybrid aircraft design duties, by several institutions, universities and research organizations (Pornet *et al.*, 2015), (Pornet and Isikveren, 2015), (Antcliff *et al.*, 2016), (Stückl, 2016), (Hoelzen *et al.*, 2018), (Voskuijl *et al.*, 2018), (Brelje and Martins, 2019), (Finger *et al.*, 2020). The applied methodologies include three groups of improvements: (i) the reformulation of the operational concept and mission, (ii) the correction of the weight/mass formulas and (iii) the enhancement of the aircraft performance (range) determining methods.

The conventional and the adapted conceptual design of electric, hybrid – electric aircraft are based on the mass balance (Figure 33.). Instead of equation (56), the mass balance equation is used as some of the relative masses of components (mass related to the aircraft take-off mass).

$$M_{TO} = M_a + M_{sy} + M_{ps} + M_f + M_b + M_{pl} + \dots = M_{TO} \frac{M_i}{M_{TO}} = M_{TO} \sum_i \overline{M}_i ,$$
(29)

where \overline{M}_i is the *i* – th type of the relative mass, mass fraction, and subscribes *a*, *sy*, *ps*, *f*, *b*, *pl* represent the airframe, systems (expect the propulsion system), propulsion system (expect batteries), fuel (kerosene), batteries and payload respectively.

The mass fraction calculations are the core element of traditional aircraft design efforts, based on semi-empirical formulas that uses geometrical characteristics, material properties, technological and structural solutions (see for example the, (Torenbeek, 2013), (Roskam, 2017).

The mass or weight (*W*) balance equation (29) is characterising the feasibility of the conceptually designed configuration, since the relative masses are function of the available scientific design methods, technologies, production process or culture. Accordingly, the sum of the relative masses defines the following three possibility: (i) if $\sum_i \overline{M}_i > 1$, than the aircraft with the predefined performance cannot be built in the given production environment, (ii) once $\sum_i \overline{M}_i < 1$ than even better aircraft with better performance might be built, while (iii) $\sum_i \overline{M}_i = 1$ means that the best aircraft is made.



Figure 33. The core elements influencing the weight balance calculation

In the electric or hybrid configurations, it is clear that the aircraft weight / mass increases dramatically, due to the low specific energy of batteries. This problem might be solved by a new approach to the conceptual design and the development of unconventional solutions

(e.g. lightweight structure, integrated and distributed propulsion systems) (Gal, et al., 2018), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019).

Accordingly, the required energy and power used in different flight segments was added to the conceptual design methodology, as energy unity equation defining the sum of relative energy of flight mission segments:

$$e_{efm} = e_{TA} + e_{TO} + e_C + e_{CR} + e_{DE} + e_{LO} + e_{AL} = e_{efm} \sum_i \bar{e}_i ,$$

$$1 = \sum_i \bar{e}_i .$$
(30)

where e – means energy, \bar{e}_i stands for the energy fraction while the subscribes, *efm*, *TA*, *TO*, *C*, *CR*, *DE*, *LO*, *AL* define the energy used in the (entire) flight mission for the taxi, take-off, climb, cruise, descent, loiter and approach / landing phases.

Then, a range equation and a methodology for range calculation was developed for the electric and hybrid – electric aircraft configurations, according to Breguet definition as introduced already in chapter 4.2. (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2020a) (see equation (59)). The novelties introduced were integrated into one methodology (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019), (Sziroczak *et al.*, 2020), as illustrated in the Figure 34.



Figure 34. The developed new approach – based on the total impact performance index – to the conceptual design of electric, hybrid – electric aircraft.

The assessment of the required power or energy could be based on traditional flight mechanics, flight performance analysis techniques (McCormick, 1994), (Roskam and Lan, 1997), (Eshelby, 2000), (Miele, 2016). For example, the required power could be assessed from the weight reduction depending on the flight performance. In case of cruise flight (constant level, constant speed, i.e. steady level flight),

$$T = D, \quad L = W, \quad T = D \frac{L}{L} = \frac{W}{\frac{L}{D}} = \frac{W}{k}$$
 (31)

drohacs_112_23

the change in weight (during the cruise flight) equals to

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = -TSFC T = -TSFC \frac{W}{k},$$
(32)

where T is the thrust, L- is the lift, D is the drag of the aircraft, k is the lift drag ration (defining the aerodynamic goodness of the aircraft) TSFC is the thrust specific fuel consumption.

By separating and integrating the equation

$$dt = -\frac{k}{TSFC} \frac{dW}{W}.$$
(33)

the time of cruise flight might be determined as

$$t_{CR} = -\frac{k}{TSFC} \ln \frac{W_{CR_{initial}}}{W_{CR_{final}}}.$$
(34)

The required energy for cruising equals to

$$e_{CR} = \eta_{fCR} e_{Df} TSFC T_{CR} t_{CR} = TSFC T_{CR} \frac{R_{CR}}{V_{CR}} \left(or \ e_{CR} = -\eta_{fCR} e_{Df} k T_{CR} \ln \frac{W_{CR_{initial}}}{W_{CR_{final}}} \right), \tag{35}$$

where η_{fCR} is the total efficiency coefficient for cruise flight (energy used by aircraft per energy storage by fuel used for flight), e_{Df} energy density of used fuel

Note: in case of developing the electric aircraft using these methods for calculation of the power and energy fractions is rather simple. Major different is that the mass of aircraft will not change during the flight.

Applicability

The author of this thesis participated in numerous national and international EU projects focusing on disruptive small aircraft development (e.g. (EPATS, 2007), (PPlane, 2009-2012), (SafeFly, 2007 - 2010), (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020)). The methodology introduced here was developed in the framework of the IDEA-E and applied to the conceptual design of a 4 - seater electric, hybrid aircraft and a special cargo UAV. As found in the project, the performance of the 4-seater aircraft, and more particularly the relative payload (commercial load) could be increased by 250 %, once the proposed conceptual design approach is used (see Figure 35. and Figure 42.).



Figure 35. The ration of various aircraft components based on the developed conceptual design methodology (Gál *et al.*, 2018)

(conventional aircraft like Cessna 172, electric 600 electric aircraft with accumulator capacity of 600 kWh)

In another application, the proposed methodology was used in the conceptual design of a cargo UAV, which gave a disruptive aircraft configuration that could carry 150 kg of payload to 100 km of distance over 90 minutes of flight time (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020). To

reach this, the following series of extra constraints were defined (Gál et al., 2018), (Sziroczak et al., 2020):

- the structural mass (as relative empty mass without the elements of the propulsion system) must not go over 0.2;
- the relative mass of batteries should be less than 10 %;
- the commercial load should be greater than 40 %;
- the aircraft must use fully electric mode under 500m of altitude;
- the electrification factor must be below 0.2; and
- the power of the aircraft must permit to fully recharge the batteries during the cruise phase.

The design resulted in the aircraft configuration as illustrated in the Figure 36., with the following characteristics (with 150 kg of cargo): length: 4.7 m; wingspan: 7.6 m; wing area: 9.4 m²; take-off mass: 350 kg, take-off distance: 60 m. The unconventional form results to considerably reduced empty weigh, but the parasite drag (drag at zero lift) is about 30 - 40% higher relative to a conventional aircraft with resembling weight and size.



Figure 36. Weight breakdown and layout of the developed small cargo UAV based on the proposed methodology.

Examples

The developed new approach to the conceptual design was used in various research projects, such as the national IDEA-E initiative addressing the disruptive electric and hybrid small aircraft concepts (Gál *et al.*, 2017a), (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020), and other investigations assessing the real benefits of electrified propulsion systems (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2019), (Sziroczak *et al.*, 2020).

Electrification in general, and the development of radically new, and unconventional aircraft concepts to reach the ambitious objectives of carbon neutral aviation (ACARE, 2011), (IATA, 2021) is an extensively addressed area in air transportation. Radically new configurations, propulsions systems are published by almost all major players, which clearly shows the evidence for the actuality and the importance of the proposed methodology.

Conclusions

The developed and proposed new approach to aircraft conceptual design methodology has the following major novelties:

- adaptation of the conventional conceptual design methodology to the electric /hybrid aircraft development based on the iteration of the required maximum power and energy being required for the predefined flight mission,
- introduction of four core types of inputs (related to the given electrified concept):
 - performance records derived from the developed operational concept (as number of seats, range, cruise speed) and airworthiness requirements (as take-off distance, rate of climb);
 - predefined constrains (for example legal or economic requirements with their deducted extra constraints on the mass and energy balance;
 - technical, technological characteristics of the propulsion system (like hybridization factor, propulsion system efficiency, or battery specific energy;
 - \circ aerodynamic and flight performance data (as polar curve diagrams).
- generation of original new solutions based on out of the box concepts.

Summary

I developed a new methodology – based on the total impact performance index – to the conceptual design of disruptive concepts and more particularly to electric, hybrid – electric aircraft configurations.

- The developed approach is based on the interaction of the required maximum power and energy for the predefined mission, as well as the introduction of four core types of inputs related to electrified configurations (performance records being derived from the concept, predefined constraint related to electrification, technological characteristics of the propulsion system, and the aerodynamic records)
- The use of the proposed methodology was demonstrated in numerous research activities
- The results achievable with the proposed methodology show outstanding benefits (e.g. 250% higher payload), compared to conventional conceptual design techniques

3.4. Integration of drones in the smart city transportation system

Problem

Since the last couple of years, small unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV), drones are exponentially developing. While the business and social added value of the potential services provided are evident, *it is unclear how these flights could be integrated in the urban / smart city traffic, and air transportation system*. Possible solutions to overcome the problem could cover e.g. (i) new techniques to control the classified drones and an advanced unmanned traffic management system (UTM), (ii) disruptive conflict detection and resolution methods for all dynamic (e.g. other airborne or ground-based vehicle), semistatic (e.g. crane) and static objects (e.g. buildings), (iii) new communication, navigation, surveillance systems, (iv) adapted and improved regulatory environment, and (v) various supporting elements (e.g. test and certification base, pilot training).

Basic principles

According to the forecasts (SESAR, 2016), drones by 2025 might reach 27 thousand movements a day in Hungary, which could represent a 72 billion HUF market. These numbers are more than challenging, since regulations are only provide a general framework, the drone movements and flight profiles are complex, the use of the existing systems for the commercial air transportation are powerless due to their budget, development time, human involvement, capacity, and reliance on other systems.

In the view of the problems defined above, numerous industry experts are working on the development of the segment, covering for example drone specific airspace (Figure 37.), air traffic management, highly automated conflict detection and resolutions (DLR, 2017), (Rios, 2018), (Low, 2017) areas.



Figure 37. The recommended solution for airspace design developed by the National University of Singapore (Low, 2017)

Solution

The review of the related investigations show that the integration of drones in the urban traffic environment requires at least the followings:

- development of the urban "flight route" concept and layout,
- deployment of advanced models and supporting technologies for the traffic management of drones,
- deployment of an unmanned traffic management system,
- evaluation, development and deployment of concepts integrating and connecting drones with other related transportation systems (and especially autonomous cars, facing with resembling problems in e.g. the communication, navigation and surveillance areas).

This investigation focused on the development of advanced traffic management models. For the safe motion of drones several techniques were developed in the literature. An innovative example is the drone following model, as evaluated e.g. by Eurocontrol, Airbus, and numerous other research institutions. The core idea of this is to continuously composing and decomposing group of drones flying in the same direction (by distinguishing a leader and followers) and control groups instead of individual drones to save capacity / workload, for example in the required conflict management and communication (Nguyen & Rohacs, 2019a). For this concept, a dedicated drone following model was made, based on Markov chain representation of stochastic differential equation:

$$a(t) = \dot{v}(t) = f(v, t) + \sigma(v, t)\eta(t),$$
(36)

$$a[k+1] = b_{dv}(v_{n-1}[k] - v_n[k]) + b_{dx}\{(x_{n-1}[k] - x_n[k]) - \Delta x_{pd_n}\} + \varepsilon[k], \quad (37)$$

where *a*, *v* are the acceleration, and speed of the drones, *t* is the time, *x* is the distance between the drones, f(x, t) the direction of changes of the stochastic process, η is the noise, $\sigma(x, t)$ defines the scattering of the random process (transition function of noise), *n* is the number of drone in row (n = 1, 2, ..., n, ..., m), k – is the number of calculation steps, *x* - is the distance between the drones, vb_{dv} , d_{dx} are the model parameters (constants), Δx_{pd_n} is a predefined distance for *n*-th drone, ε random value of disturbing the process.

The typical results are shown in the Figure 38.

Seeing the number of the envisaged drone movements, another investigation was focusing on the potential conflicts and their resolution. Previous investigations coordinated by the author already defined and preliminary tested an active conflict management system for small aircraft (Rohacs & Jankovics, 2010a, 2010b, 2012a), which was further developed to a complex system for drones. The proposed concept is based on on-board units and a central interface, which collects the GPS based positional information sent by the drones, to identify, resolves the conflicts, and send the new flight paths coordinates back to the UAVs. It is a fully automated system, which however has a user interface to monitor the flights and setup certain options. For the resolution, numerous alternatives are available (e.g. vertical, horizontal deviation, or speed intervention), thus the management is based on user defined preferences. The investigations defined the system requirements, made the technical specification, analysed the potential technologies, defined the operational concept, implemented the software and hardware parts of the proposed system, and demonstrated the concept at various occasions. These showed the applicability of the concept between drones, and also between air and ground vehicles (Sziroczak & Rohacs,, 2021, 2022) (Figure 39.). Results showed that the concept is technologically feasible, and meet the basic requirements, however require more mature communication technique due to potential interference with other systems. It is also clear, that the developed concept could solve the conflict arising between all the ground and air-based static, semi-static and dynamic objects, which thus could significantly support the envisaged drone related products, services in the smart city environments.



Figure 38. Simulation results of the drone following model



Figure 39. The developed conflict management system (upper left: the user interface, upper right: the onboard equipment, lower pictures: demonstrations at ZalaZone, (Sziroczak & Rohacs, 2022))

Application

Drone integration studies in Hungary dates back to 2007, with a specific traffic forecast (Rohacs, 2008), recommendations on the possible regulation framework, safety, security threats and the classification of non-cooperative targets (Balk, et al., 2007), (Rohacs, 2010a), (Rohacs, et al., 2010a).

Later, the author was involved in two projects (CDR, 2011), (LC-CDR, 2011 - 2012) dealing with the development of conflict detection and resolution systems for UAVs (Rohacs & Jankovics, 2010a, 2010b, 2012). Dedicated passive and active conflict detection techniques were developed and tested. In the Smartpolis EU funded project, drones were defined as integrated parts of the coming smart city urban environment (Rohacs, et al., 2016b, 2016c).

Since 2017, the author of this thesis booklet is coordinated numerous drone related research activities: (i) the general development and implementation of drones (SPACECOM, 2004 - 2005), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2011a), (Baburin, et al., 2013), (Rohács & Rohács, 2014 - 2015), (ATM, 2014 - 2015), (Gal, et al. 2018), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019), (Rohacs, et al., 2020), (Sziroczak, et al., 2022), (ii) the integration of drones in the urban traffic environment (Nguyen & Rohacs, 2018a, 2018b, 2019b., 2021), (Szarvas, et al. 2019), (Dobi, et al., 2019), (Rohacs, et al., 2020), (iii) the development of the complex USPACE functionalities, and more particularly the conflict detection and resolution methods (Szullo, et al., 2017), (Dobi & Rohács, 2018), (Dobi, et al., 2018), (Nguyen & Rohacs, 2018b, 2019a), (iv) the development of business models and operational concepts for various drone applications Nguyen, et al., 2020, 2021), (v) the development of advanced methods automating the drone traffic management (Nguyen, et al., 2020, 2021), (Sziroczak, & Rohacs, 2021), (vi) the definition of the DroneMotive concept, and (vii) as the president of the Hungarian Drone Coalition, the definition of the Hungarian Drone Strategy.

Until now, the developed methods introduced here were validated in simulation environments. At this stage, drones operated at the department of Aeronautics, Naval Architecture and Railway Vehicles are prepared for real physical tests (for example to assess the interaction of drone and autonomous vehicles).

Conclusion

The drone related investigations clearly showed that:

- the industry is facing with numerous problems, since just a marginal part of the entire ecosystem is present, which is mostly linked to drone design and preliminary concept definitions
- the amount an nature of the problems require a collaborative approach, beside adhoc developments without an aggregate strategy
- traffic management cannot be solved with the large commercial air transportation techniques, due to their cost, capacity, human involvement, regulatory environment
- the developed drone following model is technologically feasible, and could significantly help to solve the capacity related problems related to drone traffic management

• the proposed model could be also used in other related transportation system, and especially in autonomous ground vehicles.

Summary

I adapted and developed disruptive methods (as conflict detection and resolution tool, drone following models) to facilitate the integration of drones in the air transportation system, as well as in the smart city environment.

- The proposed drone following model is based on the idea of continuously composing and decomposing group of drones flying in the same direction (by distinguishing a leader and followers) and control groups instead of individual drones to save capacity
- The developed conflict management technique is based on a central interface, which collects the positional information sent by the drones (or other vehicles), resolves the conflicts and send the new deconflicted routes accordingly back to the vehicles
- The experimental development of the proposed conflict management system was demonstrated in numerous occasions at the ZalaZone proving ground (e.g. ZalaZone Innovation days II, III) in between various airborne and ground-based vehicles
- As demonstrated, the developed methodology permits conflict management between any equipped static (e.g. buildings), semi-static (e.g. crane), or dynamic objects (e.g. other airborne or ground-based vehicle),
- The simulation (for the drone following) and demonstration (for the conflict resolution) results showed that the proposed techniques could significantly help to support drone traffic management, and overcome the safety and capacity related problems.

Thesis II, III, IV

Thesis II.

I adapted and **developed a technology identification, evaluation and selection method** (TIES) to the selection and development of disruptive technologies as well as radically new solutions – including the development of out-of-the-box technologies, systems, concepts – which could lead to outstanding results and thus to progress towards the ambitious targets defined in the air transportation related strategic agendas, roadmaps.

- I developed a TIES method, based on (i) the definition of a design matrix (of the potential solutions), (ii) the evaluation of the potential solutions, (upon the operational phases, as well as the weighted scores of operability), (iii) the selection of sound criterions, (iv) the formation and estimation of the decision matrix, (v) the selection of the radically new technologies, solutions, using multi-criteria decision making techniques.
- I proposed a **concept development and concept validation technique** related to the radically new technologies, solutions, products or services (see Figure 28), based on a 5 step approach, covering (i) concept inspiration, (ii) concept development, (iii) theoretical investigations, (iv) validations, verifications, and (v) impact assessment that utilizes a life cycle phases approach comprised of extensive stakeholder cooperation, multi-disciplinary modelling and simulations, stakeholder and regulatory environment alignment.
- The developed method was validated in two expert workshops, by extensively assessing all alternatives and comparing the results with the proposed concept. Relative to other techniques, the proposed methods are more powerful in capturing meaningful radically new solutions, due to (i) the feedback from the complex impact assessment and constraints, (ii) the extensive multi-criteria evaluation process, and (iii) the involvement of the stakeholders and regulatory alignment in the development stage. The proposed method was demonstrated in several national and international projects, such as the EU FP7 L1 GABRIEL research project (with the author being the technical manager), *which was globally the first project* assessing, developing, and validating the concept of using maglev as a ground-based power to assist the commercial aircraft take-off and landing processes.

Most important publications related to Thesis II:

- Wangai, A.W., Rohacs, D. and Boros, A. (2020b), "Supporting the Sustainable Development of Railway Transport in Developing Countries", *Sustainability*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 12 No. 9, p. 3572, doi: 10.3390/su12093572, 2020.
- Kinzhikeyev, S.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A.: "Sustainable Disaster Response Management Related to Large Technical Systems". *Sustainability* 12 : 24 pp. 1-25. Paper: 10290, 25 p., 2020.
- Gal, I ; Jankovics, I ; Rohacs, J ; Rohacs, D.: "Diszruptív technológiák fejlesztése, azonosítása, értékelése és kiválasztása járműfejlesztési sajátosságok" In: Péter, Tamás (szerk.) IFFK 2017 : XI.

⁻ Rohacs, D.: "Technology and solution-driven trends in sustainable aviation". *Aircraft Engineering* and Aerospace Technology 95 : 3 (SI), pp. 415-430., 2023.

Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés, Budapest, Magyarország : Magyar Mérnökakadémia (MMA) pp. 109-117, 2017.

- Rohacs, D; Rohacs, J.: "Magnetic levitation assisted aircraft take-off and landing: (feasibility study GABRIEL concept)". *Progress in Aerosapce Sciences* 85, pp. 33-50, 2016.
- Rohács, D.: "The GABRIEL project". In: Rohács, D.; Kisgyörgy, L.; Horváth, Zs. Cs. *Magnetic levitation and its experimental use in rail and air transportation*. Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., pp. 75-95. 2015.
- Rohacs, J ; Rohacs, D.: "The potential application method of magnetic levitation technology as a ground-based power to assist the aircraft takeoff and landing processes". *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology* 86 : 3 pp. 188-197. , 2014.
- Rohacs, D; Voskuijl, M; Siepenkotter, N.: "Evaluation of Landing Characteristics Achieved by Simulations and Flight Tests on a Small-Scaled Model Related to Magnetically Levitated Advanced Take-Off and Landing Operations". In *Proceedings of the 29th Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS)*, Bonn, Németország : 2014.
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.; Jankovics, I.; Voskuijl, M.; Sibilski, K.: "Possible Solutions to Take-Off and Land an Aircraft". *Deliverable D2.4. Integrated Ground and On-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-Off and Landing GABRIEL, EU Project Number 284884*, 2012.

Thesis III.

I have improved the **conceptional design of new disruptive concepts and aircraft**, by adding new **energy balance condition** and **optimization for tiotal impact performance index** and applied to developing the electric, hybrid – electric aircraft configurations.

• I proposed a **new condition to the conceptual design process of electric aircraft**, which considers the required energy of the given flight segments, in order to facilitate the more meaningful comparison and assessment of various green and energy-efficient alternative propulsion technologies and concepts:

$$e_{efm} = e_{TA} + e_{TO} + e_C + e_{CR} + e_{DE} + e_{LO} + e_{AL} = e_{efm} \sum_i \bar{e}_i ,$$

 $1 = \sum_i \bar{e}_i .$

where e – means energy, \bar{e}_i stands for the energy fraction while *i* subscribes, *efm*, *TA*, *TO*, *C*, *CR*, *DE*, *LO*, *AL* define the energy used in the (entire) flight mission for the taxi, take-off, climb, cruise, descent, loiter and approach / landing phases. (Comment: accordingly, the sum of the relative energies defines the following three possibility: (i) if $\sum_i \bar{e}_i > 1$, than the aircraft with the predefined performance cannot be built in the given production environment, (ii) once $\sum_i \bar{e}_i < 1$ than even better aircraft with better performance might be built, while (iii) $\sum_i \bar{e}_i = 1$ means that the best aircraft is made.)

• I developed dedicated **new techniques to calculate the energies required** for the different flight segments, like for the cruise phase:

$$e_{CR} = \eta_{fCR} e_{Df} TSFC T_{CR} t_{CR} = TSFC T_{CR} \frac{R_{CR}}{V_{CR}} \quad \left(or \ e_{CR} = -\eta_{fCR} e_{Df} k T_{CR} \ln \frac{W_{CR_{initial}}}{W_{CR_{final}}} \right)$$

where η_{fCR} is the total efficiency coefficient for cruise flight (energy used by aircraft per energy storage by fuel used for flight), e_{Df} energy density of used fuel, *TSFC* is the thrust specific fuel consumption, T – required thrust, t is the time, R – is the range, V – is the speed of aircraft, W – weight. The η_{fCR} , e_{Df} , *TSFC*, T_{CR} , W depends on the applied design, production, operation technologies, methods, solutions, which thus – relative to other models – captures with ease the specific features of green propulsion (e.g. energy density, fuel vs battery weight).

- The proposed energy calculation method was validated with measured datasets of a physical electric propulsion system laboratory unit, with batteries being recharged by a small gas turbine.
- Results indicated that the use of the proposed methodology and the redefined new constraints related to electric and hybrid electric aircraft configurations (e.g. energy density of the batteries, available prime resources) permits to increase the commercial load by 250 %, compared to conventional conceptual design techniques (see figures 35 and 36.) (Considerable reducing the negative effects of presetly very low energy density of accumulators).

Most important publications related to Thesis III:

- Rohacs, J.; Kale, U.; Rohacs, D.: "Radically new solutions for reducing the energy use by future aircraft and their operations". *ENERGY 239* Paper: 122420, 2022.

- Kale, U.; Jankovics, I.; Nagy, A.; Rohács, D.: "Towards Sustainability in Air Traffic Management". *Sustainability* 13: 10 Paper: 5451, 2021.
- Sziroczak, D.; Jankovics, I.; Gal, I.; Rohacs, D.: "Conceptual design of small aircraft with hybridelectric propulsion systems". *ENERGY 204 p. 117937*, Paper: 117937, 2020
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.: "Energy coefficients for comparison of aircraft supported by different propulsion systems". *ENERGY 191 p. 116391* Paper: 116391, 2020
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.: "Conceptual design method adapted to electric/hybrid aircraft developments". *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation 5*, pp. 175-189., 2019

Thesis IV.

I adapted and developed **disruptive methods** (as a conflict detection and resolution tool, drone following model) **to facilitate the integration of drones** in the future transportation system, including various air-borne and ground-based autonomous vehicles.

• I proposed a **drone following model**, based on the idea of continuously composing and decomposing group of drones flying in the same direction (by distinguishing a leader and followers) and control groups instead of individual drones, in order to save capacity and human workload, based on a Markov chain representation of stochastic differential equation:

$$\begin{split} a(t) &= \dot{v}(t) = f(v,t) + \sigma(v,t)\eta(t) , \\ a[k+1] &= b_{dv}(v_{n-1}[k] - v_n[k]) + b_{dx} \big\{ (x_{n-1}[k] - x_n[k]) - \Delta x_{pd_n} \big\} + \varepsilon[k] \, , \end{split}$$

where *a*, *v* are the acceleration, and speed of the drones, *t* is the time, *x* is the distance between the drones, f(x,t) direction of changes of the stochastic process, η is the noise, $\sigma(x,t)$ defines scattering the random process (transition function of noise), *n* is the number of drone in row (n = 1, 2, ..., n, ..., m), k – is the number of calculation steps, *x* - is the distance between the drones, b_{dv} , d_{dx} are the model parameters (constants), Δx_{pd_n} is a predefined distance for *n*-th drone, ε random value of disturbing the process.

- I developed an **active conflict management technique for autonomous vehicles** based on a central interface, which (i) collects the positional information sent by the drones (or other vehicles), (ii) resolves the conflicts and (iii) send the new deconflicted routes accordingly back to the vehicles.
- The proposed drone following model was validated in matlab fast time simulation environment, which showed that relative to other drone management techniques in the literature (e.g. superhighway concept) it demands lower workload, could facilitate beyond visual line of sight operations, while not requiring new airspace definition concepts. The conflict management system was demonstrated in numerous occasions at the ZalaZone proving ground between various airborne and ground vehicles. Relative to other techniques, the proposed solution (i) provides conflict management between any equipped static (e.g. buildings), semi-static (e.g. crane), or dynamic objects (e.g. other airborne or ground-based vehicle), (ii) facilitates the connection with other autonomous ground centers due to its core central interface, and (iii) permits the use of advanced conflict assessment and even multi-objective resolution models due to the high computational power of the central interface.

Most important publications related to Thesis IV:

- Sziroczak, D.; Rohacs, D.; Rohacs, J.: "Review of using small UAV based meteorological measurements for road weather management". In: *Progress in Aerospace Sciences 134*, Paper: 100859, 20 p., 2022.
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D.: "Conflict Management Algorithms Development Using the Automated Framework for Autonomous Vehicles". In: *Proceedings of The First Conference on ZalaZONE*

Related R&I Activities of Budapest University of Technology and Economics, BME, Budapest, pp. 89-93., 2022.

- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D.: "Automated Conflict Management Framework Development for Autonomous Aerial and Ground Vehicles". *ENERGIES* 14: 24 Paper: 8344, 2021.
- Nguyen, D. D.; Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D:: "Autonomous Flight Trajectory Control System for Drones in Smart City Traffic Management". In: *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* 10 : 5 p. 338, 2021.
- Yildiz, M.; Bilgiç, B.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.: "Experimental Investigation of Communication Performance of Drones Used for Autonomous Car Track Tests". In: Sustainability 13: 10 p. 5602, 2021.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohacs, D.: "Air Traffic Management of Drones Integrated Into the Smart Cities". In: 32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, ICAS 2021, Paper: 0456, 2021.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A.: "Intelligent Total Transportation Management System for Future Smart Cities". *Applied Sciences-Basel* 10 : 24 Paper: 8933, 31 p., 2020.

4. Evaluation and supporting framework development related to disruptive technologies

4.1. Total impact analysis

Problem

The investigation of the future aviation development process require *overall complex indexes to evaluate the future development states, technologies, concepts*.

Seeing the problems of air transportation, the stakeholders defined challenging visions and targets in the strategic research agendas and white papers. It is also clear that these cannot be reached with the marginal modification of the present systems and sustaining innovation, and thus radical innovation and out-of-the-box approach are required. Once radically new concepts are designed, it is crucial to deeply investigate the various options and their impact, with a so-called total impact analysis.

Possible solution: develop concepts that take into account all effects (e.g. safety, security, greening, social acceptance) by a unique and well-applicable methodology.

Basic principles (of total impact analysis)

The policy makers need objective information about the general impact of the coming novel systems / concepts. Seeing the importance of this duty, in the last 40 - 60 years, new approaches were introduced and applied to impact analysis, which could be classified in the following three groups:

- life cycle (total life cycle) effects (emissions, cost) calculations that are used to analyse and evaluate the impact of a product (e.g. vehicle);
- externality external cost assessment of using, operating the given product, transportation mean, or type of vehicles;
- sustainability assessment that evaluates the use of the resources as long term effects limiting or reducing the possibilities of the future generation.

There are numerous high level sophisticated solutions to calculate the life cycle emissions (Chester & Horvath, 2009), (Messagie, et al., 2013), costs (Asiedu & Gu, 1998), (Hellgren, 2007), (Furch, 2018), (Jun & Kim, 2007), determine the externality (Buchanan & Stubblebine, 1962), (van Essen, et al., 2008), study the interactions of transport externality and transport economy (Santos, et al., 2010), (Anas & Lindsey, 2011) as well as interconnections of externality and environmental assessment (Norris, 2001), (Profilidis, 2014). However, *there is no solution for an aggregate assessment* – covering all the group effects listed above together – with a general or integrated performance index.

Sustainability is the ability to be maintained at a certain rate or level. The most commonly used definition of sustainability is (WCED, 1987) "... meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs...". Based on this approach, sustainability creates a balance between the economy, environment, and society (Wangai *et al.*, 2020) and can be applied for the overall evaluation of the development processes.

In the literature, sustainable transport and their development was investigated from various directions. The combustion process was studied with numerical methods Bicsák, et al., 2010). New, simple dynamic model was suggested for the dispersion of motorway traffic emissions (Csikós, et al., 2015). General estimation method was elaborated for transport mode emission evaluation (Tánczos & Török, 2006). The sustainable transport strategic development was defined (Michelberger & Nádai, 2010). The linkage between the climate

drohacs_112_23

change and Hungarian road transport was analysed (Török & Tánczos, 2007). The transport efficiency (Rohacs, 2010), intermodal change (Rigo, et al., 2007) and multi criteria decision making problems were investigated to better understand the basic processes in transportation systems.

Numerous articles deal with the definition of special indicators or indexes to evaluate sustainability (Litman, 2007), (Joumard and Gudmundsson, 2010), (Upham et al., 2003), (Janic, 2016) in general, or focused on a particular range of interest, such as fuel (Zhang et al., 2020). For example, a special sustainable transport performance index was developed (Rohács & Simongáti, 2007), (Simongáti, 2010). The role of high level, state management in environment sustainability was studied (Kinzhikeyev, et al., 2017). The developed competences were used in the evaluation of new technology impacts (Rohács, 2006a, 2013), (Schmollgruber, et al., 2014), (deGraaff, et al., 2014), (Rohacs, et al., 2013). The review of the applied techniques and especially a large number of various indicators show that there is no single and globally acknowledged index or methodology for sustainability assessment (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2020b). It is also clear that sustainability (and its evaluation) is determined by its dependence on the geographic location (distance from natural resources), global supply chain, economic culture, social convention, and even the size of the investigated systems. As a result, sustainability is evaluated by a unique set of indicators and indexes (Litman, 2021), (Bugayko and Shevchenko, 2020) that might be applied to a particular domain like airports (Koç and Durmaz, 2015) or airlines (Zieba & Johansson, 2022), but usually being weak in overall sustainability assessment such as (i) covering legal regulation, (ii) requirements definitions, (iii) aptitude tests, (iv) authorization procedures, design, planning, building, operation, recycling. Regarding the segment (e.g. design, operation, recycle) of the investigations, most of them evaluate sustainability on the life cycle basis, and perform life cycle cost or life cycle emission assessment (Calado et al., 2019), (Pohya et al., 2018). The life cycle approach is applied to the entire air transportation system (Schmitt & Gollnick, 2016), including the aeronautical industry, aircraft, airlines, air navigation service airports, passengers and cargo, and all the connected systems as global supply chain, general transportation system. It is however observed that some indexes are technology-driven and only focus on (i) the operational segment (Scholz et al., 2022), (ii) one single technology or (iii) class of technologies (Timmis et al., 2015), (Ther Air, 2021).

These works together with several fascinating uses of the life cycle impact estimation methodologies (Chester & Horvath, 2009), (van Essen, et al., 2008), (Mailbach, et al., 2008), with the available input data (EUROSTAT, 2016), (OECD, 2018), the additional information on the impact of the infrastructure or specific system elements (Horvath & Matthews, 2005), life cycle assessment of pavements (Santero, et al., 2010) or – as a special example - toxic effects of brake wear particles (gassr, et al., 2009) enabled to make a further step in the generalization of the impact evaluation, and the total impact calculation as *total impact life cycle cost* (TILCC).

Solution - Index for total impact evaluation

The total impact assessment could be given by two alternative techniques, discussed in the followings.

In the first, the total impact is classified in five large groups:

- safety and security inducing direct and short time impact as accidents;
- environmental impact (chemical emission and noise) generating direct and indirect medium and long term impact on people, nature, living world;
- system characteristics system management, management of the operation processes, that for example cause congestions;
- system support infrastructure, supply chains, upstream and downstream processes that have considerable effects on the environment, society,
- use of resources defined as loosing effects, such as the use of land, minerals resources.

This paper recommends to use a simplified and unique index to evaluate the total impact, in form of total costs covering all life cycle effects of the transportation system related to the unit of transport work (pkm, or tkm):

$$TPI = \frac{TLCC}{TLCW} = \frac{TOLCC}{TLCW} + \frac{TILCC}{TLCW} = TOPI + TIPI \quad , \tag{38}$$

where *TPI* is the total performance index, *TOPI* is the total operation performance index, *TIPI* total impact performance index, *TLCC/TOLCC/TILCC* are the total / total operational / total impact *LCC* (life cycle cost) and the *TLCW* is the total life cycle work.

The *TOPI* as the operational cost of the given vehicle, given transportation mode is well known and applied by the owners, operators, service providers. It plays a determining role in the users' selection of the vehicle, transportation mode and transportation chain. On the other hand, *TIPI* deals with the externality. This is the index that might be used in impact assessment.

The TIPI summarizes all the impacts:

$$TIPI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} TIPI_i = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} TILCC_i}{TLCW} , \qquad (39)$$

where i = 1, 2, ..., n define the different group of impacts. According to the transportation systems, i = safety and security; environmental impact; system peculiarities; system support; use of resources.

The *TIPI* for group of impacts can be determined as the following sum of the different effects:

$$TIPI_{i} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{l} \sum_{q=1}^{r} N_{j,k,q} p_{j,k,q} I_{j,k,q} \sum_{\nu=1}^{u} o_{j,k,q,\nu} c_{j,k,q,\nu}}{TLCW_{i}} \qquad \forall i ,$$

$$TLCW_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{l} \sum_{q=1}^{r} N_{j,k,q} W_{j,k,q} \qquad (40)$$

where j = 1, 2, ..., m depicts the subgroup of impacts, while k = 1, 2, ..., l defines the transport means, q = 1, 2, ..., r represents the types or groups of the given transport system, v = 1, 2, ..., u identifies the different forms of consequences, N is the number of sub-sub-group elements contributors to the impact, like number of vehicles defined by q, p is the parameter of the given types or group of system elements causes the investigated effects, I is the impact indicator of the given system element, o the outcomes / consequences of impact defined by I or caused by the events, situations associated with the I indicator, c is the conversation coefficient for calculating the (external) cost and W is the work done during the investigated period defined by p. it means, if the p is the parameter of function given in form of average annual unit, then the W should related to the year, too. For example, if the N defines the number of vehicle and p is the annual average utilisation of the vehicles, then the W equals to p.

Another more general form might be applied to define the total sustainable performance index (*TSPI*) (see Figure 40.).


Figure 40. The concept and structure of the developed Total Sustainable Performance Index – TSPI

The available various techniques can be synthetized into a new total sustainable performance index (TSPI) – estimated on the system level (like transportation system, smart city, production plant, food service), as the total life cycle cost (TLCC) defined with user goals – to evaluate the chosen item, product, service related to the chosen total life cycle governing parameter (TLCGP), such as working hour, calendar hour (year), running distance in km (100 km):

$$TSPI = \frac{TLCC}{TLCGP}.$$
(41)

The total life cycle cost includes all directly or indirectly linked cost categories, according to the followings:

$$TLCC = C_D + C_P + C_{OI} + C_{OII} + C_R + C_E + C_S + C_H + C_{EN} + C_{PE}$$
(42)

where the cost indexes refer to the following cost categories:

- D development: all actions starting from the concept generation until the detailed design that includes the technology development, their testing in general form (at academia and technology transfer institutions), conceptual and preliminary design including the simulation studies, laboratory tests, and real environment tests;
- P production: all basic element production (as vehicles for transportation system, cooking in restaurant), construction of required infrastructure, service environment (as road system, building for production plants, shops) and monitoring, management subsystem (like centre for transport management, traffic management system including the info technology sub-systems, as Internet of Things);

- *OI* operation I. usage: all costs related to the use / application of the given item, product or service (as car, mass transportation vehicle usage, production machine operation);
- OII operation II: technical / technological operation: cost of maintenance, repair, modernization (including for example the repair of the car, renewal of the infrastructure, modernization of the infocommunication system as shifting from 4G to 5G, application of the parts, items, materials in repair, or even the procurement of the new instruments);
- R recycling: all costs generated at the end of the operation of the system including the recycle of the infrastructure or the application of circular economy;
- E economy: all costs caused by the changes in the economy that might be classified into five groups: a.) changes in the economy and its development (as inflation, renting conditions, bank interest, wages),
 b.) costs of "losses", disadvantages (users' value of time, delay in logistic supports, use of land) c.) advantages, profit, d.) effect of natural disasters and e.) security or generally the un-lawful events;
- S society: costs linked to the changes in the social habits, expectation (as demand related to the given item, product, service, personal income, mobility);
- H health including the safety and partly the security: costs caused by the direct, indirect and external effects of using / operating the system on human health / life (accidents, injure, fatality, long term effects of emissions);
- *EN* environment: short and long term effects of using / operating the given system on the environment (e.g. greenhouse emission, climate change);
- *PE* penalty: is a new cost element taking into account the interest of the next / future generation (for example extensive use of oil, lithium mining), partly subsidiaries or priority list of development supporting this category.

The first five cost elements are generated directly by the usage of the given product, item or service, including the preparation, operation and recycle. The other five cost elements are secondary (indirect) effects, or impacts caused by the use of the investigated product, item or service. The impacts can be classified into benefits (composed by a positive impact on the economy and society, like enhanced mobility, access to higher education), and negative effects / impact (as costs caused by accidents, impact on the environment). The costs related to benefits and extra costs appeared at third parties (not directly using the product, item or service) are called as externalities. The estimation of the externalities are highly addressed in the literature (Buchanan, 2001), (Essen *et al.*, 2008, 2019). On the other hand, penalty as an externality is a new element, which is a virtual cost considering the interests of the future generation.

Regarding the equation (39), all costs of the life-cycle should be covered, including the (i) use of the given item, product, service, in (ii) the required and supporting infrastructure, (iii) under the applied monitoring / management system and (iv) under the given regulatory / policy environment. This translates to four separable parts, (j = 1, 2, 3, 4). In addition, all cost elements are determined by the "k" system that contains "l" sub-systems and "p" items or elements. The cost related to the "p – th" item can be estimated by the "r" indicators (D), being multiplied with the coefficient (C) that transfers the driver value into the caused cost and by rate of changes in price, interest and discounts (d_v). Altogether, the total life cycle cost can be determined by the following:

$$TLCC = \sum_{i}^{10} \sum_{j}^{4} \sum_{k}^{l_{i,j}} \sum_{n}^{m_{i,j,k,n}} \sum_{p}^{s_{i,j,k,n,p}} \sum_{r}^{v} \sum_{t}^{v} C_{i,j,k,n,p,r} D_{i,j,k,n,p,r} d_{i,j,k,n,p,r,t}, \qquad (43)$$

where t = 1, 2, ..., v – timeframe in years; $C_{i,j,k,n,p,r}$ - cost transfer coefficient, $D_{i,j,k,n,p,r}$ - driver, indicator, parameter, $d_{i,j,k,n,p,r,t}$ - rate of changes in price, rate of interest, discount

Applicability - testing the proposed indexes

The author of this thesis addressed the implementation of new and pioneering systems, concepts along his entire professional, scientific career, and more particularly in his (i) MSc (Rohacs, 2004a) and early papers (Rohacs, 2004b, 2006a, 2007c), (Rohacs, et al., 2005), focusing on small aircraft, (ii) PhD (Rohács, 2007a) and following EU project publications (Laplace , et al., 2011), (Ghijs & Rohacs, 2012, 2013) on demand, accessibility and affordability of personal aircraft transportation systems, and (iii) habilitation thesis (Rohacs, 2020) investigating TPI index and defining TSPI.

The developed total impact performance index and its determining methodology was applied in numerous projects, e.g. in the conceptual design of a 4-seater small aircraft and in a small cargo UAV (Gal, et al., 2018), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019). For the 4-seater aircraft, the methodology was used to compare the total life-cycle impact of a conventional, electric, and hybrid configuration. The performed investigations are part of the Hungarian National EFOP-3.6.1-16-2016-00014 project titled "Investigation and development of disruptive technologies for e-mobility and their integration into the engineering education" (IDEA-E, 2017 - 2020), which is being coordinated by the author of this thesis. The problem was generated by the fact that due to the rapid development of the new technologies, solutions – especially in the electric / hybrid – electric propulsion area – the conceptual aircraft design methodologies (Raymer, 1992), (Roskam, 2017), (Torenbeek, 2013), (Gundlach, 2014) were found to be powerless and a new approach to aircraft design considering the total performance index was required.

Examples

The result of the developed new approach to the conceptual design of a small aircraft based on the total performance index is given in the Figure 41. below:





(conventional – like Cessna 172, hybrid 15 and 45 – hybrid electric aircraft with possible use of full electric flight mode for 15 or 45 minutes, electric 200, 400 – full electric aircraft with battery capacity 200 and 3400 kWh) (Wangai, et al., 2017)

The index and the developed methodology was published in several papers (Rohacs, 2011, 2013), (Voskuijl, 2013), (Rohacs, et al., 2013), Wangai, et al., 2017), (Gal, et al., 2017,

2018), (Venczel, et al., 2017), (Wangai, 2019 a), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2019, 2020a, 2020b, 2020c).

The total sustainable performance index (TSPI) was investigated in several fields of application. For example, Figure 42. demonstrates the applicability of the concept for the analysis of different aircraft propulsion systems.





Full electric (with battery capacity 200, 400, and 600 kWh), hybrid (with 15 or 45 minutes of electric mode) solutions and conventional well-applicable aircraft (analogic to Cessna 172) with hybrid or fully electric propulsion systems. (IDEA-E, 2017 – 2020), (Sziroczak *et al.*, 2020), (Rohacs, 2022a)

Alternatively, Figure 43. shows the collection of records permitting further performance calculations related to the lithium electric batteries.



Figure 43. Price and specific energy of lithium-ion batteries (Rohacs, 2022a) (based on (Vereecken, 2020), (*The Economist*, 2021), (Ziegler and Trancik, 2021))

Finally, another field of application is the study of greener aircraft fuelling. Unfortunately, even the most promising method – the use of greener or alternative fuels, energy support – has severe problems that delay the targeted deadline for the introduction of zero-emission or net-zero carbon emission configurations. Some of the most important difficulties are the followings:

• Technologies of new and alternative fuel production and practical application are in development, or early "grows" states (e.g. the specific energy requirement of electric propulsion might only be available in 15 – 20 years later (IATA, 2019)), while numerous efforts addressing new fuels or advanced propulsion systems, including the traditional fossil kerosene, biofuel, e-kerosene, liquid (green) hydrogen, electric hybrid aircraft, fuel cell (hydrogen + electric motors), and electric energy (de Jong et al., 2017), (Doliente et al., 2020), (Shahabuddin et al., 2020), (Bauen et al., 2020), (Zhou et al.,

2022), (Yusaf et al., 2022), (Hoelzen et al., 2018), (Baroutaji et al., 2019), (Wheeler, 2016), (Schäfer et al., 2019),

- Aviation also emits the so-called non-CO₂ emissions, which contains oxides of nitrogen (NO_x), soot particles, oxidized sulfur species, and water vapour (Lee *et al.*, 2021). The impact of non-CO₂ impact can be taken into account as CO₂ equivalent (CO_{2e}) or can be measured by the radiation forcing index (RFI) (Jungbluth and Meili, 2019).
- Aircraft fuel or energy consumption in a simplified approximation is directly proportional to the aircraft weight, which is increasing with the liquid hydrogen reservoirs' insulations, fuel/hydrogen cells, electric batteries, and inversely proportional to aircraft lift drag ratio and total efficiency of the propulsion system (namely advanced aerodynamics and complete solution of the propulsion system from energy storage to propellers/trust generation) (National, 2016), (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2020a).

The comparison of the some key aspects of the various greener and alternative fuels is summarized in the Figure 44. For the assessment, 110 g/pkm CO₂ emissions of the fossil jet medium-haul turbofan aircraft is considered as a basis (100%). The fuel price is given in %, as of spring of 2022, since then the kerosene price changes chaotically (in 2019 it was about 50 % less than nowadays, which reduced to another 25 % in 2020, before returning to 50 % in 2021). As one might observe, CO₂ emissions of full electric configurations on a total life-cycle basis are even higher than the fossil fuel based reference, which clearly shows the evidence of life-cycle cost and emission assessments. In addition, the costs associated to the sustainable concepts are in same cases several times higher than the reference (Barke et al., 2022).



Figure 44. Comparison of the key indicators of different fuels and propulsion systems of midsize aircraft (in % relative to fossil jet configurations)

One might consider that the electricity price must be defined by the amount that 1 kg batteries might store. In case of batteries with excellent available specific power (400 - 500 kWh/kg), the electricity price is about 60 - 75 Eur /kg plus another 550 Eur per kg of battery. Naturally, the price of electricity is very different from the market price of other fuels because of the subsidy of renewable energy generation and the absence of taxation. An additional problem is caused by the fact that electric batteries' weight does not change during the flight; batteries must be held on the board during the entire duration of the flight. The full-electric aircraft have a considerable reduction in CO2 (determined for the life cycle) depending on the energy mix of the supplying energy. However, this result can be reached with a severe decline in range. In another case, the increased aircraft weight (in order to have the extended range) results in more significant emissions and even impossible solutions using the available and emerging technologies). Finally, some critical aspects of the most promising fuel, the hydrogen reservoirs need rigid insulations, the price is high (where for example only the transportation of the liquid hydrogen equals to 2 - 3 USD / kg (McKinsey, 2021)). Nevertheless, it has an excellent specific power, which might be comparable with carbon based fossil fuels.

Conclusions

Due to the powerless of the generally used techniques linked to sustainability evaluations, two general indexes were developed: Total Performance Index (TPI) and Total Sustainable Performance Index (TPI), based on total life cycle assessment. The calculation methodologies were described for both indexes, which might be seen relatively simple, but their calculation require extensive amount of preliminary studies to identify, evaluate and select the required inputs.

The defined indexes and methodologies were tested in several EU and national research projects, in the development of improved conceptual design methodologies (in aircraft development).

The performed investigations suggest to employ the introduced indexes and their calculation methodology in the evaluation of the radically new technologies, concepts, such as small and electric / hybrid aircraft.

Summary

I defined, developed and applied new total impact assessment factors as Total Performance Index and Total Sustainable Performance Index, given as total life cycle costs related to the governing parameters.

- The costs induced by all life cycle effects of transportation system are related to the unit of transport work (pkm, or tkm) or flight time (flight hours).
- It could be applied for various areas (e.g. safety, efficiency, greening), and different systems or to life cycle phases of aircraft.
- The application of the proposed approach was demonstrated approach in the conceptual design of numerous innovative aircraft concepts, for example for a 4-seater aircraft with electric and hybrid electric propulsion systems. Here, I defined the applicable methodology, introduced a new method to determine the required range prediction equations and demonstrated the applicability of the developed methodology. The concept of index formulations was applied to the investigation of several new concepts, sub-solutions of aircraft, as well as the examination of new fueling possibilities.
- The proposed indexes with a more mature comparison than the generally used techniques highly support the development of future aviation, especially in the pioneering and disruptive domains.

4.2. Energetic evaluation of the new aircraft developments

Problem

The possible development and operation of fully electric aircraft configurations in the near future is often considered to be rather optimistic, since numerous SRAs not fully considering the conceptual limitations (e.g. prime material availability) and not assessing the evaluation criteria for the entire life-cycle, including the indirectly linked elements. In addition, methods evaluating the energetic effects (e.g. energy consumption and energy reduction) of such new technologies and solutions are not clearly defined. As a result, there is a *clear need to define and develop the energy coefficients to compare various future aircraft developments*.

There are needs in definition and developing the energy coefficients for comparison of future aircraft developments.

Basic principles

Electric and hybrid-electric propulsions systems (Pornet *et al.*, 2015), (Antcliff *et al.*, 2016), (Jansen *et al.*, 2017), (Schäfer *et al.*, 2019), (Sziroczak *et al.*, 2020), (Xie *et al.*, 2021) might be the most promising emerging technologies and solutions to support the ambitious goals of policy makers, and more particularly in the reduction of the aviation related environmental impact. According to ACARE, these are generally translated to a 65% reduction in the noise and chemical emissions, a 75% decrease in the CO₂ and a 90% decline in the NOx emissions (while also reducing the risk of accidents by 90%) (ACARE, 2011). These targets are considered with top priority, which leads to the development of rigorous standards and more complex regulatory environment. For example, because climate change is affected considerably by the CO₂ emissions at high altitude, the ICAO Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection (CAEP) developed a special CO₂ standard, and introduced it in the aircraft certification process in 2020 (ICAO, 2017b).

One of the core element of electric propulsion systems is the battery package. Unfortunately, it has several identified challenges and barriers, such as the low specific energy or the thermal instability (Hepperle, 2012), (Kvasha *et al.*, 2018), (Gál *et al.*, 2018). Due to the low specific energy of the available battery technologies, fully electric aircraft configurations have unacceptably high take-off weight and / or dramatically reduced range. Another interesting problematic fact is that with full electric propulsion systems the aircraft weight does not change over the flight, unlike to conventional configurations, where fossil fuel is burned and thus the weight is continuously decreasing.

The use of energy factors, like energy intensity (energy efficiency defined as energy related to passenger travel distance, kWh/pkm, or fuel consumption per pkm) and energy use (fuel energy consumption per seat km) has a long history (Schäfer *et al.*, 2019), (Baharozu *et al.*, 2017), (Skowron *et al.*, 2021). The energy factors can be adapted to electric and hybridelectric aircraft configurations at three levels: (i) energy intensity of the cruise mode, (ii) energy use for the total flight (flight mission) and (iii) total energy use including all the energy consumption associated to the transportation of goods or people. The energy factors can be defined as the energy related to a unit passenger km or, perhaps a better choice, a unit payload km. The energetic coefficients can be developed by the methods determining flight performance, flight mechanics (Anderson, 1998), (Sadraey, 2017).

Solutions

The energy efficient of the aircraft is often characterized by the range (R) introduced by Breguet (Raymer, 2012) based on the aircraft weight loss due to fuel consumption:

$$R = \int_{W_{final}}^{W_{start}} \frac{V}{g \cdot TSFC} \frac{C_L}{C_D} \frac{1}{W} dW \quad \text{or} \quad R = \int_{W_{final}}^{W_{start}} \frac{1}{g \cdot PSFC} \frac{C_L}{C_D} \frac{1}{W} dW , \quad (44)$$

where: W – is the weight of aircraft (*start, final* – specify the start and final condition of investigated flight), V – speed, g – gravitational acceleration, TSFC – Thrust Specific Fuel Consumption (kg fuel required to generate the unit of thrust during the unit of time, i.e. kg/N/s), PSFC – Power Specific Fuel Consumption, and C_L , C_D are the aerodynamic lift and drag coefficients.

For a propeller aircraft, instead of thrust, power (P) should be taken into account, being equal to $P_p = \eta_p P_e$, where indexes p and e depict the propeller and engine, η_p is the propeller efficiency coefficient. Since power equals to thrust (T) multiplied by velocity, P = TV, the equation (44) have two forms for jet and propeller driven aircraft.

The real range depends on the flight mission, or flight strategies (e.g. gradual steady climb, applied cruise condition, descent strategy, fuelling strategy). Since it is based on the weight reduction (fuel burn), it cannot be directly applied to the electric and hybrid-electric aircraft configurations, which fully or partly store their energy in batteries with constant weight over the entire flight. This problem could be solved with a new range formula developed by the author, introduced in a research paper (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2020a), as shortly discussed below.

Accordingly, range might be determined by the time depending velocity (V) of the aircraft, from the start (t_{start}) to the final (t_{final}) time of the flight

$$R = \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{final}} V dt .$$
(45)

Knowing that the energy reduction during an elementary time frame can be specified from the total energy (E) reduction:

$$\frac{dE}{dt} = -\frac{dE_{fuel}}{dt} - \frac{dE_{bat}}{dt}$$
(46)

$$R = \int_{E_{final}}^{E_{start}} \frac{V}{\frac{dE_{fuel}}{dt} + \frac{dE_{bat}}{dt}} dE$$
(47)

where indexes fuel and bat define the source of energy as from fuel or batteries.

Let us introduce the hybridization factor (Voskuijl *et al.*, 2018) (energy degree of hybridisation), ψ , as the ratio of the energy (*E*) stored in the batteries and the total energy stored in fuel and batteries:

$$HF = \psi = \frac{E_{bat}}{E_{total}} = \frac{E_{bat}}{E_{fuel} + E_{bat}}$$
(48)

and also power split, PS (power degree of hybridisation), that is defined at all the different flight phases,

$$PS = \frac{P_{em}}{P_{total}} = \frac{P_{em}}{P_{em} + P_{ce}}$$
(49)

and the supply power ratio as the ratio of powers integrated over the full block flight mission,

$$SPR = \frac{\int_0^{t_{bt}} P_{em}(t)dt}{\int_0^{t_{bt}} P_{total}(t)dt}$$
(50)

where P is the power and indexes *em*, *ce*, *total* stand for electric motor, conventional engines and total respectively (as the whole system including electric motor and conventional engine) that generate the propulsive power. Finally, the index *bt* defines the block time, ie time from t=0 as propulsive system (engine) start-up to shut down after taxiing.

By using the power split factor and the determined required power, the components of energy reduction (equation (47)) can be defined as

$$\frac{dE_{fuel}}{dt} = -\frac{PSFC}{\eta_{pst_{ce}}} \frac{H_{fuel}}{g} (1 - PS)P_r$$
(51)

$$\frac{dE_{bat}}{dt} = -\frac{PS P_r}{\eta_{pst_e}} \tag{52}$$

where *H* is the specific energy, the specific heat of consumable fuels, H_{fuel} is the specific energy stored in batteries, H_{bat} . $\eta_{pst_{ce}}$, η_{pst_e} are the total efficiency coefficients of the conventional and electric propulsion sub-systems, while subscript *r* defines the required value (here required power).

Using the *PSFC*, H_{fuel} g, and $\eta_{pst_{ce}}$ (specific power fuel consumption, specific heat of fuel, gravity acceleration and total efficiency coefficient of conventional engine) may cause some problems if there is a mistake in the harmonisation of their dimensions and values.

Firstly, the *PSFC* can be defined as mass per unit of power per second or weight per unit of power per second. Usually technical documents provide reference values in weight per power per time forms, therefore the *SPFC* must be divided by g. (Such approach is used by most books and papers dealing with aircraft flight performance.) Usually the specific heat, according to its definitions is given in J/kg =m²/s².

Secondly, $\eta_{pst_{ce}}$ can be defined as total system efficiency including the engine, transmission and the propeller efficiencies. This means that this efficiency coefficient equals to the ratio of energy propelling the aircraft related to the energy of fuel burned. This coefficient ranging between 20 - 26 % might be increased to even 36 %, in case of highly effective systems. Unfortunately, the operational manuals of most engines provide fuel consumption as fuel used to generate the unit of break horse power (BHP). This power is measured at the shaft of the engine, before the losses in power caused for example by the gearbox, auxiliary components, and the driving the propellers. Therefore, in such case $\eta_{pst_{ce}}$ must be calculated or measured accordingly. Sometimes, this coefficient is referred to as propeller efficiency coefficient and it is equal to about 76 - 82%.

The required power can be determined by assuming flights in quasi-steady, quasi-rectilinear modes, like in cruise flight when thrust must be equal to weight over the k ratio of lift and drag coefficient:

$$P_r = TV = \frac{W}{k}V \tag{53}$$

With the substitution of (51), (52) and (54) in (47)

$$R = \int_{E_{final}}^{E_{start}} \frac{\eta_{pst_{ce}} \eta_{pst_{e}}}{\left(PSFC \frac{H_{fuel}}{g} (1 - PS) \eta_{pst_{e}} + PS \eta_{pst_{ce}}\right)} k \frac{1}{W} dE$$
(54)

and assuming that the power split, aerodynamic lift to drag ratio ($k = C_L/C_D$; defining the aerodynamic goodness of the aircraft), the propulsion efficient coefficients and the engine *PSFC* are all constant in cruise flight, the following equation can be achieved:

$$R = \frac{\eta_{pst_{ce}}\eta_{pst_{e}}}{\left(PSFC\frac{H_{fuel}}{g}(1-PS)\eta_{pst_{e}} + PS\eta_{pst_{ce}}\right)} k \int_{E_{final}}^{E_{start}} \frac{dE}{W}$$
(55)

The *PSFC* is highly dependent on the cruise speed, effectively the position of the throttle, or rotation speed of the engine. Specifically, combustion engines may have very different *PSFC* depending on the operational mode. As usual, in case of lower rotational speeds, a lean fuelling mode might be applied and fuel consumption can be considerably reduced. However, engine operational modes could be harmonised with different aircraft cruise speeds at nearly the same fuel consumption.

For direct propulsive gas turbines, such as turbojets or turbofans, the required power must be determined as required thrust (equal to the actual drag) multiplied by the flight velocity. In case of considerably reduced velocity, the lift coefficient, and with it the angle of attack and finally the drag coefficient must be increased. So, as the final results, the fuel consumption near the optimal conditions must be nearly the same.

To solve the integral, the simplified mass (weight) breakdown, the weight balance equation could be used as follows:

$$W = W_e + W_{pl} + W_f + W_b + \Delta W_e \tag{56}$$

Here the W, W_e , W_{pl} , W_f , and W_b are the take-off (or total), empty, payload, fuel and battery weights. In this approach, the empty weight is the sum of weights of the airframe and systems, including e.g. the engines, transmissions, ΔW_e defines the changes in empty weight from a baseline configuration caused by the changes in propulsion system elements including the batteries. In a simplified case, this might be determined as $\Delta W_e = C_e W_b$. Of course, the C_e coefficient depends on e.g. the type of the propulsion systems; hybridisation and power split factors, battery energy density (weight of batteries), or structural solutions of the airframe. As a first approximation C_e can be defined as a constant.

The weight components, most often related to the maximum take-off weight, are called weight fractions $\overline{W_l} = \frac{W_i}{W_{TO}}$ (i = e, pl, f, b). They can be usually determined using semi-empirical formulas defined by well-known industry standard aircraft design books and methods. In practice, these weight fraction formulas cannot be applied to the investigation and preliminary design of aircraft with hybrid-electric propulsion systems. This is because, the relative aircraft weight components are changing significantly in case of using electric or hybrid-electric propulsion systems. In addition, there are no universally accepted and available new theoretical or semi-empirical formulas to determine the weight fractions for the electric and hybrid-electric aircraft components.

As first order simplified calculations, the weight of fuel and batteries can be defined as a function of the energy stored:

$$W_b + W_f = \left(\frac{E_{bat}}{H_{bat}} + \frac{E_{fuel}}{H_{fuel}}\right)g = \frac{E_{bat}H_{fuel} + E_{fuel}H_{bat}}{H_{bat}H_{fuel}}g.$$
(57)

Introducing the predefined total energy, E_{total} required for the realisation of the planned cruise flight and using the hybridisation factor, ψ , the weight of fuel, battery packs and changes in empty weight can be determined as

$$W_{bat} + W_{fuel} + \Delta W_e = (1 + C_e)W_{bat} + W_{fuel} = \frac{(1 + C_e)\psi_{H_{fuel}} + (1 - \psi)H_{bat}}{H_{bat}H_{fuel}}gE_{total}.$$
(58)

Combining this equation with equation (54), the range of aircraft using hybrid propulsion systems (after solving the integration) can be predicted as:

$$R_{hybrid} = \frac{\eta_{pst_{ce}}\eta_{pst_{e}}}{\left(PSFC\frac{H_{fuel}}{g}(1-PS)\eta_{pst_{e}} + PS\eta_{pst_{ce}}\right)} k \frac{H_{bat}H_{fuel}}{g\left((1+C_{e})\psi H_{fuel} + (1-\psi)H_{bat}\right)} \ln\left(\frac{\frac{(1+C_{e})\psi H_{fuel} + (1-\psi)H_{bat}}{H_{bat}H_{fuel}}}{W_{e}+W_{pl}}\right).$$
(59)

This equation (59) can be used for hybrid aircraft the same way as the Breguet range equation can be applied to conventionally powered configurations. It is a more advanced calculation technique, compared to the published available references, which takes into account the changes in empty weight of the aircraft.

If ψ equals to zero, Equation (59) reduces to the initial Breguet range equations defining the range of conventional aircraft burning fossil fuel equation (44).

Figure 45. demonstrates the applicability of the range equation (59) investigating hybridelectric aircraft. These curves describe examples of changes in aircraft range (of the cruise part) depending on the hybridisation factor, ψ , battery energy density, H_{bat} , lift to drag ratio, k and coefficient of changes in aircraft empty weight, C_e . The calculation (IDEA-E, 2017), (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2020b) is performed for a small 4-seater aircraft. The power split (*PS*) is changing with the hybridisation factor $PS = \psi$. Other variables are assumed to be constants. It is clear that in reality most of the variables are changing considerably depending on for example on the chosen cruise speed, engine characteristics, flight operational modes. The total range of aircraft is calculated by the horizontal, climb and descent phases, while the maximum achievable range can include the additional flight distance achieved by the reserve fuel.



Figure 45. Range depending on the hybridization factor and cruise speed.

The important novelties of the equation (59) is that it (i) includes the usage of the available energy (stored in fuel and batteries), (ii) considers the energy available for the flight, and (iii) covers the changes in the weight fractions (comprising the changes in the empty and payload weights).

Due to the more complex weight assessments over the flight and the low specific energy of the available batteries, the role of energetic analysis is essential for the electric and hybrid configurations. Energetic problems could be solved either by (i) new energetic coefficients, or by (ii) developing new conceptual design methodologies (see point 4.1.).

For the first approach – the development of new coefficients for the evaluation of electric or hybrid aircraft energetic efficiency – the following simple energetic factors are recommended (see Figure 46. and subsequent paragraphs).



Figure 46. Introduced new energy coefficients for advanced energetic efficiency evaluation (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2020a),

Energy intensity, E_{cr}

It defines the energy used for a unit of transportation work in the cruise (*cr*) stage of a given flight:

$$E_{cr} = \frac{E_{cr}}{w_T} = \frac{E_{cr}}{sM_{payload}} = \frac{E_{cr}}{sM_{payload}} \frac{\Delta t}{\Delta t} = \frac{P_{cr}}{v_{cr}M_{payload}} \rightarrow \frac{P_{r_{cr}}}{v_{cr}W_{payload}}.$$
(60)

This energy factor, as others, can be defined as energy per unit of work. Here work is not a physical, rather a transportation work, being equal to moving a mass, $M_{payload}$ for a given distance, s.

This factor can be interpreted as a general definition of energy use for a unit of distance by an aircraft in cruise flight mode (kJ/km). This is the inverse of the specific air range (*SAR*) given in km/kJ instead of km/kg. While the specific air range is used when the efficiency is in focus, the energy intensity is rather powerful for the development and selection of alternative or mixed energy sources, propulsion systems.

Energy used, E_u

This energy factor calculates the total energy used (energy consumption) over the planned flight mission (from start, through taxi until engine stop, even comprising the reserve energy) of a given aircraft related to the unit of transportation work:

$$E_{u_1} = \frac{\int_{t_{start}}^{t_{stop}} P_e(t)dt}{W_{payload}R} \qquad E_{u_2} = \frac{\int_{t_{start}}^{t_{stop}} P_e(t)dt + E_{reserve}}{W_{payload}R}$$
(61)

where P_e is the engine power depending on the flight altitude and the engine rotation speed (or throttle position).

This energy efficiency factor seems similar to the block fuel per range (BF/R - kg/km), which is determined for the block time (from start of engine, taxi out until stopping the engines or from closing until opening the aircraft doors). The block fuel is used by the operators to evaluate the effective service of given destinations by a given aircraft or to select the appropriate aircraft for the destinations.

The energy used factor is an essential indicator, as it characterises the entire energy, being required to transport a unit mass to a unit distance, which could be translated to the efficiency of the entire propulsion system including the batteries, and other electric/hybrid aircraft features or design characteristics.

Total energy used, E_{tu}

In addition, a third energetic factor can be also used to define the total life cycle (TLC) use of the energy (total life cycle energy consumption) that is related to the entire life cycle of an electric / hybrid aircraft:

$$E_{tu} = \frac{E_{TLC}}{Work_{TLC}}$$
(62)

In this case, the energy used is determined upon the entire life cycle of the aircraft, comprising thus the design, development, production, operation, recycle phases, and even including the energy of other related systems, such as the production and operation of special supporting infrastructures, or the production of the electric engines, batteries. This last is also significant, seeing that the battery life is limited and they must be replaced several times during the lifecycle of the aircraft.

Applicability

The use of the recommended energy factors are crucial for sound comparisons, however their calculation is a complex duty. For example, the energy used factor is highly dependent on the exact implementation of the flight mission. To cope with this problem, supporting software like Piano 5 and Piano X (Marco *et al.*, 2020) could be used, which covers more than 250 aircraft datasets for various flight missions and flight simulations.

During the investigation of the applicability of the proposed energy factors, numerous other calculation techniques were also discovered and assessed.

For example, the energy used (E_u) factor could be derived from the instantaneous required power, upon the following formula:

$$P_r = T_r V / \eta_{pst} . ag{63}$$

The change in the total energy of the aircraft (as sum of the potential and kinetic energies) might be defined with the first following approximation:

$$(T - D)V = W\frac{d}{dt}\left(h + \frac{v^2}{2g}\right)$$
(64)

where h is the flight altitude. Using equation (63) in (64) leads to:

$$P(t) = \frac{T(t)V(t)}{\eta_{pst}(t)} = \frac{1}{\eta_{pst}(t)} \left(D(t)V(t) + W(t)\frac{d}{dt} \left(h(t) + \frac{v^2(t)}{2g} \right) \right)$$
(65)

where the total propulsion system efficiency depends on the power split PS:

$$\eta_{pst}(t) = PS(t)\eta_{e,pst}(t) + (1 - PS(t))\eta_{ce,pst}(t)$$
(66)

where superscripts *e,pst* and *ce,pst* represent the total efficiencies of the electric and the conventional engine propulsion systems.

The drag could be approximated with the following:

$$D(t) = C_D(t)q(t)S = \left(C_{D_0}(t) + K_1C_L(t) + K_2C_L^2(t) + \Delta C_D(t)\right)q(t)S$$

$$D(t) = C_Dq(t)S = \left(C_{D_0}(t) + K_1\frac{n(t)W(t)}{q(t)S} + K_2\left(\frac{n(t)W(t)}{q(t)S}\right)^2 + \Delta C_D(t)\right)q(t)S$$
(67)

where C_{D_0} is the drag coefficient at zero lift, K_1 and K_2 are the approximation coefficients, ΔC_D is the extra drag generated by elements and devices of the aircraft, q is the dynamic pressure, S is the aircraft wing surface and n is the instantaneous load coefficient.

Seeing that it is rather problematic to calculate the time dependent functions of the required aerodynamic coefficients, aircraft and engine characteristics, instead of integrating the energy usage as a function of time, the flight mission can be divided into smaller, well defined i = 1, 2, ... m segments (such as taxiing, take-off, climb) and the used energy for each segment can be determined with the averaged characteristics such as the followings:

$$P_{ref_{i}} = \alpha_{i} P_{0} \frac{1}{(PS)_{i} \eta_{e,pst_{i}} + [1 - (PS)_{i}] \eta_{ce,pst_{i}}} \left\{ \left[C_{D_{0}} + K_{1} \left(\frac{n_{i} \beta_{i}}{q_{i}} \frac{W_{TO}}{S} \right) + K_{1} \left(\frac{n_{i} \beta_{i}}{q_{i}} \frac{W_{TO}}{S} \right)^{2} + \Delta C_{D_{0}} \right] q_{i} S V_{i} + \beta_{i} W_{TO} \left(\Delta h_{i} + \frac{V_{iend}^{2} - V_{ibegin}^{2}}{2g} \right) \right\}.$$
(68)

where α_i and β_i are the power lapse ratio and weight ratio coefficients. α is the ratio of power, relative to the take-off reference power in the given flight condition, and β is the ratio of the weight at the given flight segment to the take-off weight.

Altogether, the energy used factor can be estimated with the following equations:

$$E_{u_1} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} P_{ref_i} t_i}{W_{payload} R}, \qquad E_{u_2} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} P_{ref_i} t_i + E_{reserve}}{W_{payload} R}$$
(69)

where t_i is the flight time in the i-th flight mode or the i-th flight mission segment.

The performed investigations also showed how much the mission related details, or the covered elements of the assessment could modify the energy factors. This is clearly illustrated by the thought-provoking results (see Figures 47, 48) of one of the authors' related electric aircraft focused project, titled IDEA-E (IDEA-E, 2017). This initiative showed that the energy intensity of the cruise flight mode, E_{cr} (Figure 47.) for an electric aircraft (using batteries with 400 Wh/kg specific energy) may require less total energy (stored either in fuel or batteries) during the cruise phase than a conventional aircraft. However, once the cruise speeds of the various configurations are equal (electric 800 Vcr), or the ratio of the energy stored in the batteries is higher, then the energy efficiency of electric aircraft is lost.



Figure 47. Energy intensity comparison over cruise phase of a conventional 4-seater aircraft (similar to Cessna 172), its electrified versions with 200, 400, 600 and 800 kWh energy storage at reduced and normal (Electric 800 Vcr) cruising speed.

Here energy is determined as the total energy that must be stored in either the batteries or in the fuel. If the applied and not the stored energy is in focus, then the energy intensity should be multiplied by the efficiency coefficient of the total propulsion systems; around 0.28 for conventional aircraft and 0.8 in case of full electric aircraft.

Another example from the project illustrates the ratio of aircraft operation and total energy use. As illustrated in the Figure 48, the total energy is approximately 15–20% higher than the operation alone, which suggests that sound energy comparisons of disruptive solutions should consider all directly and indirectly linked energy related components (e.g. manufacturing of batteries). Figures 47. and 48 are thus demonstrate the applicability of the adapted energy factors, and a more mature evaluation of novel aircraft configurations with different propulsion systems.



Figure 48. Total energy used factors of various passenger aircraft.

It should be noted however, that the future sustainable air transport depends on various other factors. For example, while the price of Li/kWh has steadily decreased (from 800 EUR/kWh in 2010 to just over 200 EUR/kWh in 2018) (Kavanagh *et al.*, 2018), the battery industry used 35 % of the global lithium production (in 2016), 65 % of which was applied by electric vehicles. If the number of electric vehicles increases in the same accelerated form as for observed in the last decades, then the known global lithium reserves will be used within the 100 years (seeing that the present recycling rate of the lithium is less than 1 %.

Examples

The proposed approach and the introduced energy coefficient were also applied in the new conceptual design framework for electric and hybrid electric aircraft configurations (Gál *et al.*, 2017b), (Rohacs and Rohacs, 2019), (Sziroczak *et al.*, 2020), and in the conceptual development of a smart map showing the locally available energy sources (Rohacs, 2022b, 2023a).

Conclusions

The overall objective of the stakeholders in the development of future aviation is to have a more effective, cleaner, safer and secure transportation. Seeing that energy consumption is a key element of these aviation KPIs, energy related adequate evaluations are of top priority. The proposed coefficients or indicators are to help this duty, and permitting even complex comparison studies of the various concurrent alternative solutions and concepts, and facilitation the most promising technology identifications accordingly.

Energy intensity, E_{cr} . It defines the energy used per a unit of transportation work over the cruise (hence subscript cr) phase of a given flight. Seeing that the cruise phase accounts for about 70-90% of the total flight time, the energy intensity evaluates the aircraft's aerodynamic goodness. This factor illustrates that small full electric aircraft may have 10 - 60 % lower (here it means better) energy intensity (thus it requires about 10 - 60 % less energy than the aircraft with burning fossil fuel). However, this great advantage is also considered as major disadvantage, seeing that such full electric small aircraft will have 50 - 80 % less range and / or 40 - 230 % greater take-off mass.

Energy used, E_u . This energy factor calculates the total energy used (energy consumption) to perform the planned mission (from start to final stop). It evaluates the energy used for a given flight destination (flight distance). As such, it combines the aircraft usage with the air transport operation (e.g. airline, airport operation and the air traffic management). This energy factor shows that a full electric small 4-seater aircraft might use less energy for a flight up to 750 km of range. In cases of a larger aircraft and a larger flight distance, hybrid-electric propulsion systems are more reasonable, which could help to reduce the environmental impact at the airport vicinities.

Total energy used, E_{tu} . The third energetic factor evaluates all the energy required (contributed directly and indirectly to the transport of a given good or people). From a sustainability point of view, this is the most useful energy factor for the comparison of the different types of aircraft and their operations. This factor can be determined by using a rather complex approach based on total life cycle assessments. The estimation of this energy factor showed that the total energy used per unit of work done is 15 - 20 % higher than the total used energy during the aircraft operation.

All these factors can be used to determine the required performance related to new propulsion systems, and thus could support the successful development of disruptive and sustainable air transport systems.

Summary

I developed complex energy related indicators to perform complex comparison studies of the various concurrent alternative solutions / concepts, which could support the successful development of disruptive and sustainable air transportation system.

- The proposed indicators permit to assess the energy intensity, the energy used, and the total energy related to the new technologies, or concepts.
- It was found that for the comparison of various competing alternatives from a sustainability point of view, the use of the total energy used indicator that comprises all directly and indirectly related energy components is the most complex, but adequate indicator.
- The use of the indicators was demonstrated in numerous projects, which clearly indicated that the findings of the author could highly support the successful development of sustainable air transportation.

4.3. Developing safety and security philosophies for personal aircraft transportation systems

Problem

The available technologies already permit to develop small personal aircraft, which could be operated by less-skilled pilots (owners or plane renters) at small airport (built close to the city centres), together with the existing civil air transportation. However, *seeing the experience of the targeted pilots, the operation of such aircraft must be supported by dedicated new safety and security philosophies*.

The possible solution must cover the reconsideration of the safety philosophy related to larger civilian aircraft, the development of the requirements to design / operate small personal aircraft configurations, and the creation of a security philosophy.

Basic principles (related to the development of personal aircraft)

Small and personal air transportation is in focus of various (i) large national projects (NASA Advanced General Aviation Transport Experiments (AGATE), General Aviation Propulsion (GAP), Small Aircraft Transportation Systems (SATS), Personal Air Vehicles (PAV)), (ii) international European projects (European Personal Air transportation System (EPATS) (EPATS, 2007), Small aircraft Transport Roadmap (SAT-Rdmp) (SAT-Rdmp, 2010 - 2012), Personal Plane Transportation System (PPLANE) (Pplane, 2009 - 2012), Efficient Systems and Propulsion for Small Aircraft (Esposa, 2011 - 2014), Enabling Technologies for Personal Aerial Transportation Systems (mycopter, 2011 - 2015) and (iii) Hungarian national projects, as the development of 4-seater composite aircraft (SafeFly, 2007 - 2010), the development of the Corvus Racer 540 acrobatic aircraft (Corvus, 2008 - 2010). The author of this theses was involved in each of the above listed initiatives, beside the NASA and mycopter projects.

The NASA SATS project developed an extremely good vision on the future development of small aircraft and introduced numerous new and original solutions (Holmes, 2004), (Moore, 2018). However, the personal air transportation system requires a new special safety philosophy as it might be based on new design philosophy using new advanced materials, piloted by less-skilled pilots, and operated at small airports close to the city centers, or even in the urban areas.

Solution - Development of safety & security philosophies

The author of this thesis was firstly investigating personal aircraft transportation in his MSc thesis (Rohacs, 2004a). This came with the radically new idea of connecting various control channels to facilitate the pilotage of the aircraft. Its applicability was demonstrated by a simple linearized time variant state space representation of the connected models of the engine and elevator control channels (Figure 49. and 50.).

Before the definition of the aircraft safety philosophy, the small aircraft related accident statistics were analysed, covering 48 safety aspects (related to the aircraft, airport, airspace, ATM, safety features), and summarised in a large scientific report "Deliverable 2.2 report on aircraft system improvement" of the Esposa project (Rohacs, et al., 2011).



Figure 49. Connecting the engine control and the elevator to facilitate the control of a small aircraft (Rohacs, 2004a), (Rohacs, et al., 2010b).



Figure 50. Automation to handle the engine and longitudinal control

(C. A/C: conventional aircraft control, IC: integrated control)

Motivated by the first promising results, the author continued to develop the new safety and security philosophies and the supporting systems. The new operational quality – as safety – factor was defined as the probability of deviation in the operational quality, $\delta \mathbf{Q}_r$ the flight safety threshold, δ_{fs} :

$$P(|\delta \boldsymbol{Q}_r(t)| \ge \delta_{fs}) , \qquad (70)$$

where $\delta \boldsymbol{Q}_r(t) = \boldsymbol{Q}_r(t) - \boldsymbol{Q}_r^n(t)$, i.e. difference in the real quality merit and the designed (nominal) quality. This merit might be determined for each flight situations.

This merit can be also applied as an overall merit, since the deviations in the operational quality might be caused by numerous different reasons, as error in the design, or faults in flight operations.

While flight situations could be modelled in simulations, in flight simulators, or even in real flight tests, the security aspect of the radically new solutions can only be partially evaluated. The physical or even cyber-attacks might be assessed in physics based simulations, but the "interest" of actors using unlawful actions cannot be realistically or meaningfully simulated. Therefore, a special method was developed (Rohacs, et al., 2014c) and applied that is based on the following approach:

$$R(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} R_i \prod_{j=1}^{m} R_{i,j}(t)$$
(71)

where R – is the overall security risk, namely R_i is the risk of the identified i = 1, 2, ..., n security aspects (as event per 1 million flight hours), as initial risk of given event and $R_{i,j}$ is the ratio of the *i*-th risk respectively to the *j*-th major aspect of security risks. The last one takes into account the assets, vulnerability, outcomes, threat, violence, "success".

Less-skilled pilot support

In the personal aircraft vision, a safety critical problem occurred related to the lack of flight experience of the less-skilled pilots. According to the personal aircraft concepts, these pilots will have their license, however the pilot training will be significantly easier, to overcome the constraining cost and time factors related to the actual practice. Therefore, such pilots will have less skills (Pplane, 2009 - 2012), (Rohacs, et al., 2011) and thus should be supported with enhanced on-board automation and control. Investigation of the work conditions, situation awareness - evaluation - decision - action process of the less-skilled pilots led to deeply study the pilot decision making methods and load management (Kasyanov, 2007), (Rohacs, et al., 2016b, 2019). Operators' load might be classified as task, work, information and mental loads. Their measurements might support the operators' load management, to increase the operational quality and safety. Seeing this, a complex research on the operators' decision support and load management was initiated by the author. The existing operator models required to be updated or adapted to the new requirements (for example on safety, cost-efficiency) and the system framework as defined by personal aircraft vision and strategic research agendas. According to human factors, several areas called for further attention and investigation, such as (i) the situation awareness, (ii) the workload (iii) the vigilance and monotony, (iv) the motivation and stress, or (v) the trust, complacency, and over-reliance (SESAR, 2015), (Metzger & Parasuraman, 2001), (Langan-Fox, et al., 2009), (Merwe, et al., 2010). The major results of this research are the followings:

- identify the role of operators in the future aviation context (shifting the role from active control to passive monitoring),
- adapt and improve the existing (well-known and applied model of Endsley (Endsley, 1995)) to model the situation awareness decision process in the future air transportation environment (Figure 51.) (Rohacs, et al., 2016b),
- describe the situation awareness evaluation decision action process,
- model the decision making procedures of the human mind by known chaotic attractor (Kasyanov, 2007), (Rohacs, et al., 2016b), (Kale, 2020),
- use the methods of subjective analysis to model the decision making processes,
- apply the models in various situations (like decision on go-around before landing, or decision on deconflicting methods in air traffic) Rohacs, et al., 2011),



Figure 51. Model of situation awareness in the future air transportation environment (as the basis of subjective decision model)

- develop a new operator model as complex system including the task, work, informatics and mental (physico psychological) loads,
- develop new methods to measure and evaluate the information overload and mental condition of the operators,
- develop a series of small MEMS (micro-electro-mechanical systems) based sensors and actuators to measure the operators' load conditions (Rohacs, et al., 2016b),
- design the possible integration of the sensors in the working environment (cockpit),
- develop methods to evaluation of the mental condition measurement evaluating the mental condition (Kale, 2020),
- define and develop the load management concept (Kale, et al., 2018a, 2018b), (Kling, et al., 2018),
- develop the supporting screens to adequately present the operator loads (Figure 52.),



Figure 52. Display of the developed pilot support system (Rohacs, et al., 2019)

 develop the system for operator decision support (including ground and on-board parts and cooperative system with agents – other aircraft).

The investigation of less-skilled pilot situation awareness also comprised numerous research activities in the *subjective decision making processes* (Rohacs *et al.*, 2019), (Jankovics & Kale, 2018), (Kale, 2018, 2019, 2020), (Kale & Tekbas, 2017), (Kale, et al., 2017, 2018a, 2018b, 2020, 2021a, 2022). Along the decision making process, the pilot as subject (Σ) must firstly identify and understand the problem or the situation (S_i), then the set of accessible or possible devices, methods and factors (S_p) should be selected from the disposable resources (R^{disp}), to finally decide and apply the required resources (R^{req}). For this task, the pilot applies its active and passive resources. The active resources will define how the passive resources are used:

$$R_{\rm a}^{\rm req} = f\left(R_{\rm p}^{\rm req}\right). \tag{72}$$

Instead of the function between the resources of the equation (74), the literature often uses the velocity of transferring the passive resources into the actives:

$$v_{\rm a}^{\rm req} = f_{\rm v} \left(v_{\rm p}^{\rm req} \right), \tag{73}$$

where

$$v_{\rm a}^{\rm req} = \frac{dR_{\rm a}^{\rm req}}{dt}, \qquad v_{\rm p}^{\rm req} = \frac{dR_{\rm p}^{\rm req}}{dt},$$
(74)

and in simple cases

$$f_{\nu} = \frac{\partial R_{\rm a}^{\rm req}}{\partial R_{\rm p}^{\rm req}} \,. \tag{75}$$

Alternatively, the pilot decision process could be also model by subjective analysis. For example, during final approach, the pilot must decide to land or to go around. This decision require time, which is the sum of (i) the time to understand and evaluate the given situation, σ_k , (ii) the time for decision making and (iii) the time to react (covering also the reaction time of the aircraft for the applied decision). This could be mathematically given as

$$t^{req} = t_{ue}^{req}(\sigma_k) + t_{dec}^{req}(S_a) + t_{react}^{req}(\sigma_k, S_a) .$$
⁽⁷⁶⁾

where σ_k defines all possible situations (e.g. σ_1 might be the situation of landing at first approach without any problems, σ_2 could be related to the situation when the under carriage system could not be opened, σ_3 might stand for a landing on the fuselage, σ_4 for go-around, or σ_5 for a successful landing after second approach).

While other techniques might be also available for the subjective decision making analysis, investigations clearly showed the evidence for the importance of the domain for the disruptive concepts as personal air transportation with less-skilled pilots, and generally applicable to all less-skilled operators (Tekbas & kale, 2017).

Ride control

With the developed new safety and security philosophies, the author investigated other supporting systems and tools that facilitate the development of personal aircraft transportation. Seeing the level of flight automation and the fact that small aircraft are expected to fly at low altitude, which is the most turbulence intensive region, the research focus turned to ride control to enhance passenger comfort. Generally, ride control can be assessed upon the aircraft motion, its reaction on air turbulence and the value added parameters (VAP) or value factors (VF) defining the comfort of passengers (Roskam, 1999). In addition, a special ride discomfort index (J_{RD}) was introduced for small aircraft controlled by less-skilled pilots (Rohacs, et al., 2011), (Rohacs & Rohacs, 2012b).

$$J_{RD} = a_0 + a_1 \bar{a}_{z_a} + a_2 \bar{a}_{z_c} + a_3 \dot{q} + b_1 (VF - b_2) + b_3 (VAP - b_4)$$
(77)

where the first part deals with the physical disturbance (dividing the vertical acceleration into the elements initiated by the gusts (\bar{a}_{z_g}) , air turbulence (\bar{a}_{z_c}) and by pilot controlling the aircraft motion $(\dot{q} - \text{pitch rate}))$ and the second part takes into account the human sensitivity to the comfort. $a_1, a_2, \dots, b_1, b_2, \dots$ are respective system coefficients.

Applicability - contribution to small aircraft development

The developed methods, evaluation index and safety, security risk calculation models, as well as the other results related to the less-skilled pilot support or total impact analysis were used in several international and national projects like Pplane (Rohacs, et al., 2011), Gabriel (Vozella, et al., 2012), (Rohacs, et al., 2014), SafeFly (SafeFly, 2007 - 2010), and the Corvus racer development (Corvus, 2008 - 2010), (Wu, 2019), (Wu, et al., 2015).

One example showing the applicability of the risk evaluation can be demonstrated by the determination of the theft probability of small personal aircraft from a small airport during parking. Based on the equations (73), the risk (abstraction) could be defined such as summarized in the Table 3.

No.	Sub-system	Risk	initial risk	ratio of the risk model elements						risk
			(event per billion flight hours)	assets	vulner- ability	out- comes, conse- quences	threat	violenc e	success	(event per flight hours)
1.	Aircraft (staying/ parking at airport)	Theft	1	0.36	0.08	0,64	0.22	0.37	0.04	6 * 10 ⁻¹⁴

Table 3. An example of using the security calculation method to small personal aircraft theft

where

• initial risk: up to now (while small aircraft are used by marginal amount of people with a complex licensing process), the initial theft risk might reach the level of $1 * 10^{-9}$ and about 95 - 98 % from these events belong to simple criminal acts and not terror actions; in the near future with the increasing number of aircraft being used by less-skilled pilots, this risk might increase by 10 - 100 times;

- assets: the value of the aircraft compared to the conventional aircraft might be decreased by 40 70 %,
- vulnerability: according to the terror actions, the vulnerability of a possible theft of small aircraft is small and will be reduced by the development of defence systems against small UAVs;
- outcomes: in normal criminal act, the outcomes might be high, while the risk of using small aircraft in terror action is reduced and their outcomes might be cut by 40 80 % compared to the existing aircraft,
- threat: because the vulnerability it should decrease by 40 70 %,
- violence: should be reduced as the threat by 40 70 %,
- success: the success of such actions according to the conventional aircraft on the conventional airport must drop by 90 – 95 %, at least due to introduced new security laws.

Another example of security risk analysis relates to the Gabriel project, as shown in the table 4.

No.	Sub- system	Risk	initial risk	ratio of the risk model element					risk	
			(event per billion flight hours)	assets	vulner- ability	out- comes (conse- quences)	threat	violence	success	(event per billion flight hours)
1.	Aircraft (parking at the airport)	Theft	1	0.97	0.08	1.07	0.44	0.48	0.07	0.0012
2.		Armed attack	3	0.97	0.96	1.12	1	1	1	3.1288
3.		Sabotage	0.5	0.97	0.96	1.1	1	1.1	1	0.5634
4.		Attack by UAVs. UGVs	5	0.97	0.96	1.14	0.96	1.1	0.97	5.4369
5.	Aircraft (in flight)	Hijacking	12	0.98	0.95	1.2	0.96	1.32	0.96	16.3090
6.		Bomb on the board	1	0.97	0.94	1.14	1	1.1	0.97	1.1091
7.		Armed attack	4	0.97	0.96	1.12	1	1.1	0.95	4.3595

Table 4. Using the developed security calculation method to evaluate the risk of the Gabriel

 Concept (part of the original table from (Rohacs, et al., 2014c))

The subjective decision making was used in the investigation of the personal / small 4seater aircraft development projects Pplane (Rohacs, et al., 2011), SafeFly (SafeFly, 2007 - 2010), and investigated by a PhD thesis (Kale, 2020). Results were published by several papers as (Rohacs *et al.*, 2019), (Kale *et al.*, 2020, 2022). The concept was applied to the analysis of the landing processes of small aircraft, driven by pilots with different skills and experience. Figure 53. shows a simplified decision making situation at an approach about the go-around (Kasyanov, 2007). At $t_0, x_0, S_a: (\sigma_1, \sigma_2)$ indicates the set of alternative situations with the distribution of preferences $p(\sigma_1)$ and $p(\sigma_2)$ (where σ_1 indicates the landing and σ_2 defines the go-around).



Figure 53. Final phase of aircraft approach

The preferences are oscillating, because of the exogenous fluctuation (while decision altitude is getting closer) and the endogenous processes (depending on the uncertainties in the situation awareness and operators (pilots) incapacity to make decisions. Professor Kasyanov introduced a special chaotic model (Kasyanov, 2007) based on the modified Lorenz attractor (Stogatz, 1994) for modeling the endogenous dynamics of the described process.

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = aY - bZ - hX^{2} + f(t);$$

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = -Y - XZ + cX - mY^{2};$$

$$\frac{dZ}{dt} = XY - dZ - nZ^{2}.$$
(78)

where *a*, *b*, *c*, *d*, *h*, *m*, *n* are the constants while *f* takes into account the disturbance. (In case of h=m=n=0 and f(t)=0 the model turns into the classic form of Lorenz attractor.) In this model, the coordinates of the attractors can be defined as X - is an inner endogenous parameter, $Y = \beta$ and $Z = \alpha$.

After assessing the subjective probabilities to perform a landing or a go-around ($p(\sigma_1)$ and $p(\sigma_2)$) in a flight simulation environment, a simulation model was created in Matlab environment. Figure 54 shows the results achieved (Kale, 2020). As one might observe, student pilots are thinking "slowly" and they might make a decision after 6 – 10 sec. On the other hand, less-skilled pilots are thinking faster, and change their mind between the possible decisions with higher frequency, but require almost the same time for a final decision. Experienced and well experienced pilots reach the fastest, and generally need 3-to 4 sec for decision making.



Figure 54. Results of simulation of way of pilots situation awareness, evaluation – reaction

(X, Y, Z are the internal variables of the introduced chaotic attractor of the equation (85))

The investigations performed help to have a more complex overview of the pilot decision making processes, which could be used to better define, design, develop various pilot support systems.

Examples

The developed safety and security philosophies are also applicable in other fields of interest, and could highly support the definition of a supportive environment for disruptive technologies. Findings were used for example (i) in the enhancement of operators' workload monitoring and management system (Kale, et al., 2020, 2021a, 2022), (ii) in the development of pilots' working environment and air traffic controllers' workstation at HungaroControl (Rohacs, *et al.*, 2016a, 2016b), (Bos, et al., 2016), (Kale *et al.*, 2021a), but also (iii) in the evaluation of pilot training. The investigations were usually perform in national and international research projects, (PPLANE, 2009 – 2012), (GABRIEL, 2011 – 2014), (IDEA-E, 2017 – 2020), (SAFEMODE, 2019 – 2022)

Conclusions

The development of the safety and security philosophies created the following most important scientific solutions:

- Development of complex situation awareness decision making processes
- Definition of less-skilled pilot support systems (such as ride comfort)
- Introduction of the philosophy on the integrated control, by cross connecting various control channels (between the engine and elevator control and coordinating the control of the ailerons and the rudder),
- introduce a new operational quality merit,
- Development of a new model for advanced safety risk assessment,
- Development of a new security prediction and assessment techniques for radically new technologies and concepts,

Summary

I (i) defined an advanced situation awareness – decision making process, (ii) investigated and created several new methods, models for safety and security risk evaluation (e.g. subjective decision model), and (iii) developed a series of supporting systems (e.g. cross-control, ride control, operators' new working environment).

- It was found that the advanced situation awareness decision making process, and other supportive systems (e.g. mental condition monitoring) could permit the operation of pilots with less experience in the novel personal aircraft operations,
- The modelled subjective decision making process provided significantly deeper adequate information on the human factors related to less-skilled pilots, which could highly support the selection or definition of supportive technologies (e.g. cross-control, synthetic vision)
- The use of the proposed new subjective decision making process, supporting systems and the advanced safety and security philosophies were demonstrated in numerous research projects.

4.4. Thesis V

I developed new **total impact assessment indexes** and **supporting frameworks** to perform sound comparison studies of the various concurrent alternative solutions / concepts and provide a supportive environment for the deployment of disruptive air transportation concepts.

• I defined a **total impact assessment index** in terms of all costs generated by the system related to the unit of work performed (like pkm), along the entire life cycle, and comprising the core externalities (such as economy or social benefits, health and environmental impacts, or the interest of the future generation).

$$TPI = \frac{TLCC}{TLCW} = \frac{TOLCC}{TLCW} + \frac{TILCC}{TLCW} = TOPI + TIPI$$

where *TPI* is the total performance index, *TOPI* is the total operation performance index, *TIPI* total impact performance index, *TLCC/TOLCC/TILCC* are the total / total operational / total impact *LCC* (life cycle cost) and the *TLCW* is the total life cycle work. The *TOPI* as the operational cost of the given vehicle, given transportation mode is well known and applied by the owners, operators, service providers. It plays a determining role in the users' selection of the vehicle, transportation mode and transportation chain. On the other hand, *TIPI* deals with the externality.

By covering numerous externalities, the proposed indexes provides significantly more precise results relative to simple life-cycle cost assessment, and thus a more realistic evaluation of various alternatives. The proposed technique was used in numerous national and international projects, for example for (i) the comparison analysis of various 4 seater small aircraft and radically new maglev aircraft configurations, and (ii) the possible optimization of small energetic systems.

- I improved the **small aircraft safety philosophy** and safety by created several **supporting systems** (e.g. ride control, advanced cockpit instruments) for small aircraft pilots, aiming to reduce workload, and rise safety.
- I (i) adapted the known Endsley **situation awareness model** to the future aircraft and air transport environment by including the operators' skill, performance and knowledge into the model, and (ii) defined the operators' situation awareness – evaluation – decision process by the required time (to understand, evaluate, decide, react to the given duty / situation upon subjective decisions based on their knowledge / practice). Relative to the generally used situation awareness models, this approach provides significantly deeper and adequate information on the human factors related to less-skilled pilots, which could highly support the definition of advanced pilot supportive technologies and concepts. The model was tested in flight simulator, and results were validated with airline pilots with alternative competence and experience.
- I have introduced a special formula for **complex security risk assessment** related to radically new technologies:

$$R(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} R_i \prod_{j=1}^{m} R_{i,j}(t)$$

where R – is the overall security risk, namely R_i is the risk of the identified i = 1, 2, ..., n security aspects (as event per 1 million flight hours), as initial risk of the given event and $R_{i,j}$ is the ratio of the *i*-th risk respectively to the *j*-th major aspect of security risks. The last one takes into account the assets, vulnerability, outcomes, threat, violence, "success".

Most important publications related to Thesis V:

- Rohacs, D.: "Analysis and optimization of potential energy sources for residential building application". *ENERGY 275* Paper: 127508, 2023.
- Kale, U., Alharasees, O., Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D.: "Aviation operators (pilots, ATCOs) decisionmaking process", *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 95 No. 3, pp. 442–451, doi: 10.1108/AEAT-02-2022-0053, 2023.
- Alharasees, O.; Jazzar, A.; Kale, U.; Rohacs, D.: "Aviation communication: the effect of critical factors on the rate of misunderstandings". *Aircraft engineering and Aerospace Technology* 1748-8842 1758-4213 95 (3) pp. 379-388, 2023
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Hikmet, K.T.: "Environmental damage cost and exergoenvironmental evaluations of piston prop aviation engines for the landing and take-off flight phases". *ENERGY 261* : Part B Paper: 125356, 2022.
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Karakoc, T. H.: "Exergoenvironmental, environmental impact and damage cost analyses of a micro turbojet engine (m-TJE)". *Energy Report* 8 pp. 9828-9845., 18 p., 2022.
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.: "Total Impact Evaluation of Transportation Systems". In: *Transport* (*Vilnius*) 35 : 2 pp. 193-202., 2020.
- Kale, U., Rohács, J. and Rohács, D. (2020), "Operators' Load Monitoring and Management", *Sensors*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 20 No. 17, p. 4665, 2020.
- Rohacs, J., Jankovics, I. and Rohacs, D.: "Less-skilled pilot decision support", *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 91 No. 5, pp. 790–802, 2019.
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.; Jankovics, I.: "Conceptual development of an advanced air traffic controller workstation based on objective workload monitoring and augmented reality". In: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Part G-Journal of Aerospace Engineering 230 : 9 pp. 1747-1761., 2016.

5. Conclusions

As introduced, the *research problem* was that the aviation related strategic research agendas and visions defined challenging targets, which might only be met with the development and implementation of radically new, so-called disruptive technologies. Seeing the nature and complexity of such initiatives, more mature techniques are required for the entire development process, starting from the demand assessment to supporting framework development. As a consequence, the *overall objective* of this thesis was to develop advanced modelling techniques, supporting practices and philosophies for disruptive and sustainable technologies, systems, concepts, covering the following core development segments:

- the modelling of disruptive technology: to assess at first the preliminary demand,
- the technology development and deployment: to identify, select, preliminary evaluate, and develop the targeted technology,
- the evaluation and supporting framework definition: to assess in detail the impact of the developed technology and propose a supporting framework to facilitate the market and public acceptance (e.g. with energetic evaluation, or advanced safety and security philosophies).

The *overall result* of the author is the contribution to the creation, investigation, test and implementation of future disruptive technologies and solutions helping to reach the ambitious targets of the aviation industry. The developed techniques and models were *validated and demonstrated* in numerous national and international research projects (e.g. the use of maglev in commercial air transportation), which clearly showed that the proposed techniques provide an outstanding support for the development of disruptive technologies, systems and concepts.

The findings of the investigations are summarized in the following 5 thesis (see last point of each chapter).

References

ACARE. (2001), European Aeronautics: A Vision for 2020, European Commission, Luxemburg. P. 26

- ACARE. (2011). *Flightpath 2050, Europe's Vision for Aviation*. Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, Directorate General for Mobility and Transport, European Comission. P28
- ACARE. (2017), Strategic Research and Innovation Agenda 2017 Update, Vol. 1., p. 98
- Alharasees, O.; Jazzar, A.; Kale, U.; Rohacs, D. (2023): "Aviation communication: the effect of critical factors on the rate of misunderstandings". *Aircraft engineering and Aerospace Technology* 1748-8842 1758-4213 95 (3) pp. 379-388, 2023
- Anas, A., & Lindsey, R. (2011). Reducing Urban Road Transportation Externalities: Road Pricing in Theory and in Practice. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy, Vol.* 5. (No. 1.), pp. 66 - 88.
- Anderson, J. (1998), Aircraft Performance & Design, 1st edition., McGraw-Hill Education, Boston. ISBN-13 978-0070019713, p. 600
- Antcliff, K. R., Guynn, M. D., Marien, T., Wells, D. P., Schneider, S. J., & Tong, M. J. (n.d.). Mission Analysis and Aircraft Sizing of a Hybrid-Electric Regional Aircraft54th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting, AIAA SciTech Forum, (AIAA 2016-1028. 54th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting, (AIAA 2016-1028. AIAA SciTech Forum. doi:https://doi.org/10.2514/6.2016-1028
- Asiedu, Y., & Gu, P. (1998). Product life-cycle cost analysis: state of the art review. *International Journal of Production Research, Vol. 36.*(No. 4.), pp. 883 - 908.
- ATM. (2014 2015). Légiforgaalom menedzsment szimulációs laboratórium megoldások fejlesztése, (Tv. Rohács, D. megbízó Hungarocontrol). BME, Vasúti Járművek, Repülőgépek és Hajók Tanszék.
- Baburin, R., Gy., Bicsak, Jankovics, I., & Rohacs, D. (2013). Using UAVs in Education to Support the Development of Engineering Skills., Preoceedings of the 1st International Scientific Workshop "Extremal and Record-Breaking flights of the UAVs and the Aircraft with electrical power plant (pp. 91 - 103). Moscow - Ramenskoe.
- Baharozu, E., Soykan, G. and Ozerdem, M.B. (2017), "Future aircraft concept in terms of energy efficiency and environmental factors", *Energy*, Vol. 140, pp. 1368–1377, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2017.09.007.
- Bala, P. (2021), "Predictive Modelling for Future Technology Development", Handbook of Research on Future Opportunities for Technology Management Education, chapter, IGI Global, doi: 10.4018/978-1-7998-8327-2.ch027.
- Baldwin, R. (2017), Developing the Future Aviation System, Routledge, ISBN 978-1-351-94483-0, p. 244
- Balk, A. D., Wever, R., Gati, B., Gausz, Z., Gausz, T., Ludányi, L., . . . Rohacs, J. (2007). *Threat identification and scenarios*. Deliverable D2.1. of the EU FP6 supported SINBAD project, Amsterdam, Budapest.
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Hikmet, K.T. (2022): "Environmental damage cost and exergoenvironmental evaluations of piston prop aviation engines for the landing and take-off flight phases". *ENERGY 261*: Part B Paper: 125356, 2022.
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Karakoc, T. H. (2022): "Exergoenvironmental, environmental impact and damage cost analyses of a micro turbojet engine (m-TJE)". *Energy Report* 8 pp. 9828-9845. , 18 p., 2022.
- Barke, A., Bley, T., Thies, C., Weckenborg, C. and Spengler, T.S. (2022), "Are Sustainable Aviation Fuels a Viable Option for Decarbonizing Air Transport in Europe? An Environmental and Economic Sustainability Assessment", *Applied Sciences*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 12 No. 2, p. 597, doi: 10.3390/app12020597.
- Baroutaji, A., Wilberforce, T., Ramadan, M. and Olabi, A.G. (2019), "Comprehensive investigation on hydrogen and fuel cell technology in the aviation and aerospace sectors", *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 106, pp. 31–40, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.022.
- Batenin, V. M., Bityurin, V. A., Ivanov, G. S., Inozemzev, N. N., & Gorozhankin, P. A. (1997). Electromagnetic complex concept for the horizontal start and landing of reusable airspace aircrafta. *48thInternationalAstrounaticalCongress*, (old.: pp. 6 - 10). Turin.

- Bauen, A., Bitossi, N., German, L., Harris, A. and Leow, K. (2020), "Sustainable Aviation Fuels: Status, challenges and prospects of drop-in liquid fuels, hydrogen and electrification in aviation", *Johnson Matthey Technology Review*, Vol. 64 No. 3, pp. 263–278, doi: 10.1595/205651320X15816756012040.
- Berry, F.S. and Berry, W.D. (2018), "Innovation and Diffusion Models in Policy Research", *Theories of the Policy Process*, 4th ed., Routledge.
- Bicsák, G., Hornyák, A., & Veress, Á. (2010). Numerical Simulation of Combustion Processes in a Gas Turbine. ICNPAA 2012 World Congress: 9th International Conference on Mathematical Problems in Engineering, Aerospace and Sciences (old.: pp. 89 - 97). AIP (American Institute of Physics) Conference Proceedings.
- Boros Anita, Müller Anett, Szántó Edina Anna, Rohács józsef, Rohács dániel, Megújuló energiák lakossági célú alkalmazását támogató okos térkép fejlesztéséhez teszthelyszínek kiválasztása, Economica ISNN 25602322, 2023 No. 1 2, (Megjelenés alatt)
- Bos, T., Zon, R., Furedi, E., Dudas, D., & Rohacs, D. (2017). A Pilot Study into Bio-Behavioural Measurements on Air Traffic Controllers in Remote Tower Operations In: Yvonne, Desmond (szerk.) H-Workload 2017: The first international symposium on human mental. *H-Workload 2017: The first international symposium on human mental workload* (old.: p. 8.). Dublin: Dublin Institute of technology.
- Brelje, B.J. and Martins, J.R.R.A. (2019), "Electric, hybrid, and turboelectric fixed-wing aircraft: A review of concepts, models, and design approaches", *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, Vol. 104, pp. 1–19, doi: 10.1016/j.paerosci.2018.06.004.
- Buchanan, J. M., & Stubblebine, W. C. (1962). Externality. *Economica, New series* 29(No. 116), pp. 371 384. doi:10.2307/2551386.
- Buchanan, J.M. (2001), *Externalities and Public Expenditure Theory*, Volume 15 ed. edition., Liberty Fund, Indianapolis., ISBN978-0-86597-242-1, p. 520.
- Budd, L. and Ison, S. (2020), Air Transport Management: An International Perspective, Routledge. ISBN 978-0-86597-242-1, p. 415
- Bugayko, D. and Shevchenko, O. (2020), "Indicators of air transport sustainable development", Intellectualization of logistics and supply chains management, Vol. 1 No. 4, pp. 6–18.
- Calado, E.A., Leite, M. and Silva, A. (2019), "Integrating life cycle assessment (LCA) and life cycle costing (LCC) in the early phases of aircraft structural design: an elevator case study", *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, Vol. 24 No. 12, pp. 2091–2110, doi: 10.1007/s11367-019-01632-8.
- CDR, U. . (2011). UAV conflict detection and resolution system development preliminary increstigation (partner, Cofano Venture Partners AG, témavezető: M. Oppelt, magyar témavezető: Rohács D.) Rea-Tech Kft. Budapest, 2011. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Chester, M.V. and Horvath, A. (2009), "Environmental assessment of passenger transportation should include infrastructure and supply chains", *Environmental Research Letters*, IOP Publishing, Vol. 4 No. 2 (024008), p. 9, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/4/2/024008.
- Christensen, C. M. (1997). *The innovator's dilemma: when new technologies cause great firms to fail*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press, ISVN 978-1-63369-178-0, p. 288.
- Christensen, C.M., Anthony, S.D. and Roth, E.A. (2004), Seeing What's Next: Using the Theories of Innovation to Predict Industry Change, Harvard Business Press, ISBN 978-1-59139-185-2, p. 360.
- Chu, L., Li, Q., Gu, F., Du, X., He, Y. and Deng, Y. (2022), "Design, modeling, and control of morphing aircraft: A review", *Chinese Journal of Aeronautics*, Vol. 35 No. 5, pp. 220–246, doi: 10.1016/j.cja.2021.09.013.
- Corvus. (2008 2010). Racer 540 akrobatikus repülőgép fejlesztése. *Megbízó Red Bull (World Air Race)*. Corvus Aircraft Kft., Ballószög.
- Csikós, A., Varga, I., & Hangos K, M. (2015). Modelling of the dispersion of motorway traffic emission for control purposes. *Transportation Research, Part C Emerging Technologies, Vol.* 58, pp. 598 616.
- de Graaff, A., Schmollgruber, P., Kocsis, A., Rohacs, D., Rohacs, J., Voskuijl, M., & Rogg, D. (2014). Cost benefit analysis of the GABRIEL concept. Amsterdam: Ad Acuante.
- de Jong, S., Antonissen, K., Hoefnagels, R., Lonza, L., Wang, M., Faaij, A. and Junginger, M. (2017), "Lifecycle analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from renewable jet fuel production", *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, Vol. 10 No. 1, p. 64, doi: 10.1186/s13068-017-0739-7.

- DLR. (2017). Deutsches Zentrum für Luft- und Raumfahrt (DLR), DLR Blueprint, Concept for Urban Airspace Integration. Berlin: DLR. P. 26.
- Dobi, S., & Rohács, D. (2018). HungaroControl nemzetközi szerepvállalás az UTM környezetben: A USIS projekt. XII. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés. Paper 42. Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Dobi, S., Fekete, R., & Rohács, D. (2018). Az európai UTM helyzete és jövője. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXIX*(No. 2), pp. 189 204.
- Dobi, S., Horváth, K., & Rohács, D. (2019). Drónok piacához köthető üzleti felhasználási lehetőségek áttekintése a szegmens aktualitásainak tükrében. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXXI*. (No. 1.), pp. 33 – 52. doi:DOI 10.32560/rk.2019.1.4
- Dodgson, M., Gann, D. M., & Salter, A. J. (2002). The intensification of Innovation. *International Journal* of Innovation Management, pp. 55 83. doi:https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919602000495
- Doliente, S.S., Narayan, A., Tapia, J.F.D., Samsatli, N.J., Zhao, Y. and Samsatli, S. (2020), "Bio-aviation Fuel: A Comprehensive Review and Analysis of the Supply Chain Components", *Frontiers in Energy Research*, Vol. 8. article 110, p. 38
- Dosi, G. (1982). Technological paradigms and technological trajectories: A suggested interpretation of the determinants and directions of technical change. *Research Policy*, Vol. 11.(Issue. 3.), pp. 147 - 162. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-7333(82)90016-6
- Dou, X. (2020), "Big data and smart aviation information management system", edited by Tan, A.W.K.Cogent Business & Management, Cogent OA, Vol. 7 No. 1, p. 1766736, doi: 10.1080/23311975.2020.1766736.
- Dožić, S. (2019), "Multi-criteria decision making methods: Application in the aviation industry", *Journal of Air Transport Management*, Vol. 79, p. 101683, doi: 10.1016/j.jairtraman.2019.101683.
- EPATS. (2007). European Personal Air transportation System. Forrás: (Consortiua Leader: Institute of Aviation): http://www.epats.eu/
- Endsley, M. R. (1995). Toward a Theory of Situation Awareness in Dynamic Systems. *Human Factors*, 37(1), 32–64. https://doi.org/10.1518/001872095779049543
- Eshelby, M. (2000), *Aircraft Performance: Theory and Practice*, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Inc., Washington, DC, ISBN 978-1-56347-398-2, doi: 10.2514/4.473982.
- Esposa. (2011 2014). *Efficient Systems and Propulsion for Small Aircraft*. Forrás: Consortia leader: Czech Aerospace Research Centre VZLU): https://www.vzlu.cz/en/new-website-of-international-project-esposa-c329.html
- Essen, van H., Scroten, A., Otten, M., Sutter, D., Schreyer, C., Zandonella, R., Maibach, M., Doll, C. (2008). External costs of transport in Europe. Delft. p. 161
- Essen, H. van, Wijngaarden, L. van, Arno Schroten, Sutter, D., Bieler, C., Maffii, S., Brambilla, M., et al. (2019), Handbook on the External Costs of Transport: Version 2019 – 1.1., Publications Office, CE Delft, LU. ISBN 978-92-76-18184-2, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2832/51388
- European Parliament. (2021), "Regulations regulation (EU) 2021/1119 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 June 2021 establishing the framework for achieving climate neutrality and amending Regulations (EC) No 401/2009 and (EU) 2018/1999 ('European Climate Law')", Official Journal of the European Union, 9 July.
- EUROSTAT. (2016). Statistical pocketbook 2016, EU transport in figure. European Commission.
- EUROSTAT. (2018). Your Key to European Statistics. Forrás: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database
- FAA. (2004), "Next Generation Air Transport System Integrated Plan", US Department of Transport FAA Federal Aviation Authorithy.
- FAA. (2016). The Future of the NAS,. Washington: FAA.
- FAA. (2022), "FAA NextGen Implementation Plan, Infrastructure roadmap v16.0", Washington DC. (Slides 146)
- Fageda, X., Suárez-Alemán, A., Serebrisky, T. and Fioravanti, R. (2018), "Air connectivity in remote regions: A comprehensive review of existing transport policies worldwide", *Journal of Air Transport Management*, Vol. 66, pp. 65–75, doi: 10.1016/j.jairtraman.2017.10.008.
- Farokhi, S. (2020), *Future Propulsion Systems and Energy Sources in Sustainable Aviation*, John Wiley & Sons, ISBN 978-1-119-41499-5, p. 444.

- Finger, D.F., Vries, R. de, Vos, R., Braun, C. and Bil, C. (2020), "A Comparison of Hybrid-Electric Aircraft Sizing Methods", AIAA Scitech 2020 Forum, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, doi: 10.2514/6.2020-1006.
- FORJET2035 ATS level Business Jet Forecast, Cleansky2 JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-03, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 - 2018
- FORROT2035 ATS level Rotorcraft Forecast, Cleansky2 JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-04, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 2018
- FORSAT2035 ATS level Small Aircraft transportation Forecast, Clean Sky 2, JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-05, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 - 2018
- Furch, J. (2018). A model for predicting motor vehicles life-cycle cost and its verification. *Transaction of Famena XL-1*, pp. 15 26.
- Gabriel. (2011 2014). Integrated Ground and on-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-off and Landing. Letöltés dátuma: 2020. january 14, forrás: cordid.europe.eu: https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/284884/reporting/de
- Gal, I ; Jankovics, I ; Rohacs, J ; Rohacs, D. (2017a): "Diszruptív technológiák fejlesztése, azonosítása, értékelése és kiválasztása – járműfejlesztési sajátosságok" In: Péter, Tamás (szerk.) IFFK 2017 : XI. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés, Budapest, Magyarország : Magyar Mérnökakadémia (MMA) pp. 109-117, 2017.
- Gal, I., Jankovics, I., Bicsak, G., Veress, A., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2017b). Conceptual design of a small 4-seater aircraft with hybrid propulsion system. *In Peter, T. (ed.) Proceedings of the Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport* (pp. 143 - 150). Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Gál, I., Rohács, D. and Rohács, J. (2018), "Developing the Unmanned Unconventional Cargo Airplanes with Hybrid Propulsion System", 31st Congress of International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, presented at the Developing the unmanned unconventional cargo airplanes with hybrid propulsion system, ICAS, Belo Horizonte, p. 10.
- Galotti, V.P. (2019), The Future Air Navigation System (FANS): Communications, Navigation, Surveillance – Air Traffic Management (CNS/ATM), Routledge, ISBN 978-1-351-88927-8, p. 258
- Gasser, M., Riediker, M., Mueller, L., Perrenoud, A., Blank, F., Gehr, P., & Rothen-Rutishauser, B. (n.d.). 2009. Toxic effects of brake wear particles on epithelial lung cells in vitro. Part. Fibre Toxicol. 6 (30). *FibToxicology, Vol. 30*(No. 6).
- Ghijs, S., & Rohacs, D. (2012). Business case subscriptions with operational characteristics. (STA-Rdmp Project, Delft: Tu Delft.
- Ghijs, S. S., & Rohacs, D. (2013). Analysis of the Impact of each Business Case on the Technology Roadmap. SAT-Rdmp project, Delft: TU Delft.
- Graham, A. (2023), *Managing Airports: An International Perspective*, Taylor & Francis, 978-1-00-083623-3, p.530
- Great. (2020 2023). Greener Air Traffic Operations. H2020 LC-MG-1-6-2019.
- Gundlach, J. (2014). Designing Unmanned Aircraft Systems: A Comprehensive Approach. AIAA Education Series, ISBN978-1624102615, p. 848.
- Hanlon, M. (2017), "Airbus' Urban Air Mobility Roadmap leads to an electric future", New Atlas, 21 June, available at: https://newatlas.com/airbus-urban-air-mobility-roadmap-electric-aircraft/50113/ (accessed 26 April 2023).
- Hellgren, J. (2007). Life-cycle cost analysis of a car, a city bus and an intercity bus powertrain for year 2005 and 2020. *Energy Policy, Vol. 35.* (Issue. 1.), pp. 39 49.
- Hepperle, M. (2012), "Electric Flight Potential and Limitations", presented at the Energy Efficient Technologies and Concepts of Operation, Lisbon, Portugal. P. 30, https://elib.dlr.de/78726/1/MP-AVT-209-09.pdf
- HM. (2019). Katonai stzimuláció. HM contract, HungaroControl, Budapest
- Hoelzen, J., Liu, Y., Bensmann, B., Winnefeld, C., Elham, A., Friedrichs, J. and Hanke-Rauschenbach, R. (2018), "Conceptual Design of Operation Strategies for Hybrid Electric Aircraft", *Energies*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 11 No. 1, p. 217, doi: 10.3390/en11010217.
- Holmes, B. J., Durhan, M. H., & Tarry, S. E. (2004). Small Aircraft Transportation System Concept and Technologies. *Journal of Aircraft, Vol 41.* (No. 1.), pp. 26 35. doi:https://doi.org/10.2514/1.3257

- Horvath, A., & Matthews, S. (2005). Sustainability of transportation and other infrastructure systems. *Journal* of Infrastructure Systems, Vol. 11, Issue 1., 10.1061/(ASCE)1076-0342(2005)11:1(1)
- Hwang, C.-L. and Yoon, K. (1981), *Multiple Attribute Decision Making*, Vol. 186, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-48318-9.
- IATA. (2013), Technology Roadmap, IATA International Air Transport Association, Geneva. P. 86
- IATA. (2019), Aircraft Technology Roadmap to 2050, IATA International Air Transport Association, Geneva, p. 51
- IATA. (2021), Net-Zero Carbon Emissions by 2050, https://www.iata.org/en/pressroom/pressroomarchive/2021-releases/2021-10-04-03/
- ICAO. (2017a), Aviation Benefits, ICAO International Civil Aviationn Organisation. P. 58
- ICAO. (2017b), Annex 16 Environmental Protection Volume III Aeroplane CO2 Emissions (Amendment 1 Dated 20/07/20).
- ICAO. (2022), Innovation for Green Transition, 2022 Environmental Report, ICAO Interational Civil Aviation Organisation, Montreal, p. 414.
- ICAO. (2023), "Effects of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) on Civil Aviation: Economic Impact Analysis", Montreal.
- IDEA-E. (2017 2020). Investigation and development of the disruptive technologies for e-mobility and their integration into the engineering education, Hungarian national project. upported by the Human Resource Development Operative Programme (EFOP), Contract number. EFOP-3.6.1-16-2016-00014,. Budapest, Kecskemét, Szeged: BME.
- INNOVATE INNOvation through Validation for Air Transportation in Europe, Proposal for lot 5 -Modelling Support to Validation, SESAR (Single European Sky ATM Research) Project, deep Blue, 2011 - 2014.
- Janic, M. (2016), The Sustainability of Air Transportation: A Quantitative Analysis and Assessment, Routledge, London, doi: 10.4324/9781315236889.
- Jankovics, I. and Kale, U. (2018), "Developing the pilots' load measuring system", Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 91 No. 2, pp. 281–288, doi: 10.1108/AEAT-01-2018-0080.
- Jankovics, I. R., Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2012). Motion Simulation Model of a Special Acrobatic Aircraft. 12th Mini Conference on Vehicle System Dynamics, Identification and Anomalies (VSDIA) (old.: pp. 393 - 402). Budapest: BME.
- Jansen, R., Bowman, C., Jankovsky, A., Dyson, R. and Felder, J. (2017), "Overview of NASA Electrified Aircraft Propulsion (EAP) Research for Large Subsonic Transports", 53rd AIAA/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, doi: 10.2514/6.2017-4701.
- Joumard, R. and Gudmundsson, H. (2010), *Indicators of Environmental Sustainability in Transport: An Interdisciplinary Approch to Methods*, INRETS COST, Bron Bruxelles.
- Jun, H. K., & Kim, J. H. (2007). Life-cycle cost modelling for railway vehicle. *Proceedings of International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems*, (old.: pp. 588 593).
- Jungbluth, N. and Meili, C. (2019), "Recommendations for calculation of the global warming potential of aviation including the radiative forcing index", *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, Vol. 24 No. 3, pp. 404–411, doi: 10.1007/s11367-018-1556-3.
- Kale, U. (2018). Developing Operator (Pilots and ATCOs) Competency in Aviation EnvironmentInternational Symposium on Aircraft Technology, MRO & Operations, 2018. International Symposium on Aircraft Technology, MRO & Operations, 2018.
- Kale, U. (2019). Role of Operators in Future Highly Automated Aviation 2019, pp. 20–24. *Proceedings of International Symposium on Sustainable Aviation 2019 (ISSA-2019)*, (old.: pp. 20 24). Budapest.
- Kale, U. (2020), *Operastors (Pilots ATCOs) Load Monitoring and Management*, PhD thesis, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Budapest.
- Kale, U.; Alharasees, O.; Kling, F.; Rohacs, D. (2021a): "Objective Measurement of Human Factors for Supporting the Operator's Load Management". In: *International Council of Aeronautical Sciences* (*ICAS*), 32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, paper: 0638, 15p., 2021.

- Kale, U., Alharasees, O., Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D. (2022), "Aviation operators (pilots, ATCOs) decisionmaking process", *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 95 No. 3, pp. 442–451, doi: 10.1108/AEAT-02-2022-0053.
- Kale, U., Jankovics, I., Gandotra, A., Bizonics, R., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2018a). Operators' (Pilots and ATCOs) Load Monitoring and Management in Highly Automated Systems. *Proceedings of 22nd International Scientific Conference. Transport Means 2018 Part II.*, (pp. pp. 729 - 736). Kaunas.
- Kale, U.; Jankovics, I.; Nagy, A.; Rohács, D. (2021b): "Towards Sustainability in Air Traffic Management". Sustainability 13: 10 Paper: 5451, 2021.
- Kale, U., Jankovics, I., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2018b). Load monitoring for operators' load management . 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (old.: p. 10). Belo Horizonte: ICAS.
- Kale, U., Rohács, J. and Rohács, D. (2020), "Operators' Load Monitoring and Management", *Sensors*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 20 No. 17, p. 4665, doi: 10.3390/s20174665.
- Kale, U., & Tekbas, M. B. (2017). Operator's Subjective Decisions-Improving the operator's (Pilot and Air Traffic Control) decision making vol. 3, no. 1, pp. Sci. Coop. Int. J. Mech. Aerosp. Eng., Vol. 3. (No. 1.), pp. 43 - 51.
- Kale, U., Tekbas, M. B., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2017). System supporting the operators supervising with vehicle and transport control," in IFFK 2017, 2017, pp. 101–108. *Innováció és Fenntartható Felszíni* Közlekedés (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport) (old.: pp. 101 - 108). Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Kasyanov, V. A. (2007). Subjective analysis. (in Russian), National Aviation University, Kiev, 2007. 512. p. Kiev: National Aviation University, Kiev.
- Kavanagh, L., Keohane, J., Garcia Cabellos, G., Lloyd, A. and Cleary, J. (2018), "Global Lithium Sources— Industrial Use and Future in the Electric Vehicle Industry: A Review", *Resources*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 7 No. 3, p. 57, doi: 10.3390/resources7030057.
- Kim, M., Jeong, Se-yeon and Park, S. (2019), *Innovation and Growth Policy and Strategy of the Aviation Industry*, The Koprean Transport Institute, p. 14.
- Kinzhikeyev, S., Wangai, A. W., & Kale, U. (2017). Influence of state management on environment sustainability. *Materials of International practical science conference "Ualikhanov Readings - 21"* (old.: pp. 189 - 197). Kokshetau, Kazakhstan: Sh. Ualikhanov Kokshetau State University.
- Kinzhikeyev, S.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A. (2020): "Sustainable Disaster Response Management Related to Large Technical Systems". *Sustainability* 12 : 24 pp. 1-25. Paper: 10290, 25 p., 2020.
- Kirby, M. R. (2001). A methodology for technology identification, evaluation and selection in conceptual and preliminary aircraft design. *PhD thesis*, p. 254. Georgia Institute of technology.
- Kling, F., Pethő, E., Papp, G., & Rohács, D. (2018). Az emberi tényezők objektív mérési lehetőségei biztonságkritikus környezetekbenIn Péter, Tamás (szerk.) IFFK 2018: XII. Innováció és. In Péter, Tamás (ed.) IFFK 2018: XII. Innováció és XII. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport, Budapest, Magyarország : Magyar Mérnökakadémia (MMA), (2018) Paper: 41. Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Kling, F., Somosi, V., Pokorádi, L., & Rohács, D. (2017). Budapest Liszt Ferenc Nemzetközi Repülőtér légijármű forgalmának elemzése Markov-folyamatokkkal. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények*, pp. 115 126.
- Koç, S. and Durmaz, V. (2015), "Airport Corporate Sustainability: An Analysis of Indicators Reported in the Sustainability Practices", *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 181, pp. 158–170, doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.04.877.
- Kousoulidou, M. and Lonza, L. (2016), "Biofuels in aviation: Fuel demand and CO2 emissions evolution in Europe toward 2030", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 46, pp. 166–181, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2016.03.018.
- Kroo, I. (2004). Innovations in Aeronautics. (old.: Paper number AIAA 2004-0001). AIAA.
- Kuhn, H. S. (2012). Fundamental Prerequisites of Electric Flying. Proceedings of the German Aerospace Congress (DLRK), Berlin, Germany, submitted (2012. *Proceedings of the German Aerospace Congress (DLRK*, (old.: p. 8.). Berlin. Forrás: http://www.dglr.de/publikationen/2012/281440.pdf, (accessed at 24.05.2018)
- Kvasha, A., Gutiérrez, C., Osa, U., de Meatza, I., Blazquez, J.A., Macicior, H. and Urdampilleta, I. (2018),
 "A comparative study of thermal runaway of commercial lithium ion cells", *Energy*, Vol. 159, pp. 547–557, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2018.06.173.
- Langan-Fox, J., Canty, J., & Sankey, M. (2009). . Human Factors Issues in Air Traffic Control under Free Flight. Proceedings of the 45th Annual Human Factors and Ergonomics Society of Australia Conference 2009 (old.: pp. 37 - 44). Melbourne, Australia: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society of Australia Inc. (HFESA),.
- Laplace, I., Ghijs, S., & Rohacs, D. (2011). Small air transport aircraft demand,. Institute of Aviation (Warsaw).
- LC-CDR, U. (2011 2012). Low cost conflict detection and resolution system for the small aircraft. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Lee, D.S., Fahey, D.W., Skowron, A., Allen, M.R., Burkhardt, U., Chen, Q., Doherty, S.J., et al. (2021), "The contribution of global aviation to anthropogenic climate forcing for 2000 to 2018", Atmospheric Environment, Vol. 244, p. 117834, doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2020.117834.
- Lee, H.-W., Kim, K.-C. and Lee, J. (2006), "Review of maglev train technologies", *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, presented at the IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, Vol. 42 No. 7, pp. 1917–1925, doi: 10.1109/TMAG.2006.875842.
- Litman, T. (2007), "Developing Indicators for Comprehensive and Sustainable Transport Planning", *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2017 No. 1, pp. 10–15, doi: 10.3141/2017-02.
- Litman, T. (2021), *Developing Indicators for Sustainable and Livable Transport Planning*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute, Victoria, Canada, p. 117.
- Liu, X., Furrer, D., Kosters, J. and Holmes, J. (2018), Vision 2040: A Roadmap for Integrated, Multiscale Modeling and Simulation of Materials and Systems, No. E-19477.
- Low, K. H. (2017). Framework for urban Traffic Management of Unmanned Aircraft System (uTM-UAS), Drone Enable. *ICAO Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UAS) Industry Symposium (UAS2017)* (old.: p. 26). Montreal: ICAO HQ. Forrás: https://www.icao.int/Meetings/UAS2017/Documents/Kim%20Huat%20Lo_Singapore_UTM_%20D ay%201.pdf
- Mailbach, M., Schreyer, C., Sutter, D., van Essen, H. P., Boon, B. H., Smokers, R., & Schroten, A. (2008). *Handbook on estimation of external costs in the transport sector*. Produced within the study Internalization Measures and Policies, for All external Cost of Transport (IMPACT), Delft.
- Majka, A. R. (2016). The green trajectory of an aircraft aided during take-off by ground-based system using magnetic levitation technology. *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology: An International Journal, Vol.* 88.(No. 3.), pp. 432 - 440.
- Majka, A., Klepacki, Z., Orkisz, M., Pawluczy-Majka, J., Wygonik, P., Sibilski, K., Rohacs, J. (2013). Effect of maglev on aircraft characteristics (geometrics, weight, aerodynamics, flight performance). Rzeszow: Rzeszow University of Technology.
- Marco, A.D., Trifari, V., Nicolosi, F. and Ruocco, M. (2020), "A Simulation-Based Performance Analysis Tool for Aircraft Design Workflows", *Aerospace*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 7 No. 11, p. 155, doi: 10.3390/aerospace7110155.
- MATE. (2023). Project 'Smart Energy Utilisation Map' (Research and Development ÉZFF/212/2022-TIM-Smart Map; I. Appendix I. Paper Review on Small Resinsential Energy Systems, p. 38). Centre for Circular Economy Analysis and Knowledge at Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences (MATE).
- Mavris, D. N., & Kirby, M. R. (1999). Technology identification, evaluation and selection for commercial transport aircraft., SAWE Paper No. 2456. San Jose. Forrás: http://hdl.handle.net/1853/6392
- McCormick, B.W. (1994), Aerodynamics, Aeronautics, and Flight Mechanics, John Wiley & Sons.
- McKinsey. (2021), Hydrogen Insights, A Perspective on Hydrogen Investment, Market Development and Cost Competitiveness, MCKinsey Company, Hydrogen Council.
- Merwe, G. K., van de, O. E., Erikson, D. J., & van der Plaat, A. H. (2010). *The influence of automation support on performance, workload and situation awareness of Air Traffic Controllers*. Amsterdam: National Aerospace Laboratory.

- Messagie, M., Lebeau, K., Coosemans, T., Macharis, C., & van Mierlo, J. (2013). Environmental and Financial Evaluation of Passenger Vehicle Technologies in Belgium 2013, 5, pp. 5020 - 5033, doi:10.3390/su5125020. Sustainability, pp. 5020 - 5033. doi:doi:10.3390/su5125020
- Metzger, U., & Parasuraman, R. (2001). The Role of the Air Traffic Controller in Future Air Traffic Management: An Empirical Study of Active Control versus Passive Monitoring. *Human Factor, Vol* 43., pp. 519 - 528. doi:https://doi.org/10.1518/001872001775870421
- Michelberger, P., & Nádai, L. (2010). Development strategy for sustainable transportation: towards intelligent systems. *Periodica Polytechnica, Transportation Engineering, Vol. 38.* (No. 2.), pp. 99 104.
- Miele, A. (2016), *Flight Mechanics: Theory of Flight Paths*, Courier Dover Publications, ISBN 978-0-486-80146-9, p. 436
- Montobbio, F. (2003). Sectoral patterns of technological activity and export market share dynamics. *Cambridge Journal of Economics, Vol.* 27.(No. 4.), pp. 523 - 545.
- Moore, M. D. (2018). NASA Personal Air Transportation Technologies. Letöltés dátuma: 2018. May 22, forrás: http://cafefoundation.org/v2/pdf tech/NASA.Aeronautics/NasaPavTech.pdf
- Murman, E., Allen, T., Bozdogan, K., Cutcher-Gershenfeld, J., McManus, H., Nightingale, D., Rebentisch, E., et al. (2016), Lean Enterprise Value: Insights from MIT's Lean Aerospace Initiative, Springer.
- mycopter. (2011 2015). Enabling Technologies for Personal Aerial Transportation Systems. (Consortia leader: Max Planck Institute for Biological Cybernetics). Forrás: http://www.mycopter.eu/
- NASA (2002). NASA Aeronautics Blueprint: Towards a Bold New Era in Aviation. Washington D. C.: NASA. p. 39
- NASA. (2017), NASA Systems Engineering Handbook, 12th Media Service. p. 300
- National, A. (2016), Commercial Aircraft Propulsion and Energy Systems Research: Reducing Global Carbon Emissions, National Academies Press, The National Academy of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, Washington, 978-0-309-44099-8, p. 123
- NAVAL. (2016). Aviation Vision 2014 2025. NAVAL AviationEnterprise. NAE Publication. Letöltés dátuma: 2016. Februar 15, forrás: http://www.navy.mil/strategic/Naval_Aviation_, p. 88.
- Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, D. (2019a). Integrating air traffic management with a total transport-managing system. *Int. Workshop on ATM/CNS (EIWAC 2019). EN-A-65*, old.: p. 5. Tokyo: ANRI.
- Nguyen, D.D. ; Rohacs, D. (2021): "Air Traffic Management of Drones Integrated Into the Smart Cities". In: 32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, ICAS 2021, Paper: 0456, 2021.
- Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, J. (2018a). Smart city total transport-managing system: (a vision including the cooperating, contract-based and priority), Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, LNICST, (I. Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, LNICST, Vol 257, pp. 74 85.
- Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, J. (2018b). The drone-following models in smart cities. 2018 IEEE 59th International Scientific Conference on Power and Electrical Engineering of Riga Technical University (RTUCON), (old.: pp. 74 85). RIGA.
- Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, J. (2019b). Robust planning the landing process of unmanned aerial vehicles. *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation, Vol.* 5. (No. 1.), pp. 1 - 18. doi:DOI: 10.1504/IJSA.2019.099915
- Nguyen, D. D.; Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D: (2021): "Autonomous Flight Trajectory Control System for Drones in Smart City Traffic Management". In: *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* 10 : 5 p. 338, 2021.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A. (2020): "Intelligent Total Transportation Management System for Future Smart Cities". *Applied Sciences-Basel* 10 : 24 Paper: 8933, 31 p., 2020.
- Norman, D. A. (1998). The invisible computer, why good products can fail, the personal computer is so complex, and information appliances are the solution. Boston: MIT Press.
- Norris, G. A. (2001). Integrating Life-cycle Cost Analysis and LCA . International Journal of Life-cycle Assessment,, pp. 118 120.
- OECD. (2018). OECD environmental data and indicators. Forrás: http://www.oecd.org/env/indicators-modelling-outlooks/data-and-indicators.htm

- Osiander, R., Allen, J.J., George, T., Darrin, M.A.G., Champion, J.L., Firebaugh, S.L., Buchner, S.P., et al. (Eds.). (2017), MEMS and Microstructures in Aerospace Applications, CRC Press, Boca Raton, doi: 10.1201/9781420027747.
- Owen, B., Lee, D.S. and Lim, L. (2010), "Flying into the Future: Aviation Emissions Scenarios to 2050", *Environmental Science & Technology*, American Chemical Society, Vol. 44 No. 7, pp. 2255–2260, doi: 10.1021/es902530z.
- Pohya, A.A., Wicke, K. and Hartmann, J. (2018), "Comparison of Direct Operating Cost and Life Cycle Cost-Benefit Methods in Aircraft Technology Assessment", 2018 AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Lossommee, Florida US, p. 20, doi: 10.2514/6.2018-0282.
- Pool, D., Rofalski, S., Siepenkötter, N., & Voskuijl, M. (2014). Control Development of a Simplified Aircraft Model to Study the GABRIEL Concept. Delft: TU DEelft.
- Pool, D., Voskuijl, M., Falkena, W., Siepenkötter, N., Majka, A., Falkowski, K., Wróbleski, W., Sibilski, K. (2013). *Simulation technology and Simulation of the GABRIEL Concept.* Delft: TU Delft.
- Pornet, C. and Isikveren, A.T. (2015), "Conceptual design of hybrid-electric transport aircraft", *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, Vol. 79, pp. 114–135, doi: 10.1016/j.paerosci.2015.09.002.
- Pornet, C., Gologan, C., Vratny, P.C., Seitz, A., Schmitz, O., Isikveren, A.T. and Hornung, M. (2015), "Methodology for Sizing and Performance Assessment of Hybrid Energy Aircraft", *Journal of Aircraft*, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Vol. 52 No. 1, pp. 341–352, doi: 10.2514/1.C032716.
- Pplane. (2009 2012). *The personal Plane Project*. Forrás: (Consortium Leader: ONERA): http://www.pplane-project.org/
- Profillidis, V. A., Botzoris, G. N., & Galanis, A. T. (2014). Environmental Effects and Externalities from the Transport Sector and Sustainable Transportation Planning – A Review. *International Journal of Energy Economics and Policy, Vol. 4., 2014, No. 4., pp. 647, Vol. 4.* (No. 4.), pp. 647 - 661.
- Rao, S., Klimont, Z., Smith, S.J., Van Dingenen, R., Dentener, F., Bouwman, L., Riahi, K., *et al.* (2017), "Future air pollution in the Shared Socio-economic Pathways", *Global Environmental Change*, Vol. 42, pp. 346–358, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.05.012.
- Raymer, P. D. (1992). Aircraft Design: A Conceptual Approach. Washington: AIAA Education Series
- Raymer, D. (2012), Aircraft Design: A Conceptual Approach, Fifth Edition, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Inc., Washington, DC, doi: 10.2514/4.869112.
- Renner, P., Rohács, D., Papp, G. and Kling, F. (2018), "The Effects of the Introduction of Free Route (HUFRA, Hungarian Free Route Airspace) in the Hungarian Airspace", *Eighth SESAR Innovation Days*, presented at the Eighth SESAR Innovation Days, SESAR, p. 8.
- Ricci, S., Aliabadi, F.M.H., Botez, R. and Semperlotti, F. (2017), *Morphing Wing Technologies: Large Commercial Aircraft and Civil Helicopters*, Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Rigo, N., H. R., N. A., Hargitai, L. C., Hadházi, D., & Simongáti, G. (2007). Performance assessment of intermodal chains. *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research: Quarterly* (No. 4.), pp. 283 - 300.
- Rios, J. (2018). Strategic Deconfliction: System Requirements, 31 July 2018. Final Report, UAS Traffic Management (UTM) Project. Forrás: https://utm.arc.nasa.gov/docs/2018-UTM-Strategic-Deconfliction-Final-Report.pdf
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (Fifth edition. kiad.). Nerw York: Free Press.
- Rogg, D., Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M. Maritato, L.and Sibilski, K. (2013), Conceptual Design of the Ground-Based System Realted to the GABRIEL Concept, Technical Report, Deliverable 3.5, GABRIEL Project, Grant Agreement n. 284884, 2013., No. D 3.5. Gabriel Project, DRogg, p. 94.
- Rohacs, D. (2004a), *Nouveau systeme de controle automatique pour de petits avions*, MSc. thesis, INSA de Lyon & BME, Toluoluse, Budapest.
- Rohacs, D. (2004b). Analysis the Impact of a Future Small Aircraft on ATM in Europe. Brétigny sur Orge, France,: EUROCONTROL Experimental Centre. Forrás: https://www.eurocontrol.int/eec/gallery/content/public/document/eec/conference/paper/2005/008_Im pact_of_small_aircraft_on%20ATM_Europe.pdf

- Rohacs, D. (2005a). Preliminary Analysis of Small Aircraft Traffic Characteristics and its Impact on European ATM Parameters. Brétigny sur Orge, France,: Eurocontrol Experimental Centre. Forrás: file:///C:/rd%20irod/dani%20irod/INO_Activity_Report_2005.pdf
- Rohacs, D. (2005b). Preliminary Analysis of Small Aircraft Traffic Characteristics and its Interaction on ATM for European Market Attributes. *Proceedings of the 4th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* (old.: pp. 143 - 149). Brétigny sur Orge, France: Eurocontrol. Forrás: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/c41f/15c62b3c30e7585f8d7674175938450cc043.pdf
- Rohacs, D. (2006a): "The Effect of Income and Total Operating Cost on Small Aircraft Accessibility in Europe: a prediction for 2020". In: *Proceedings of the 5th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* : EUROCONTROL, pp. 9-13., 2006.
- Rohacs, D. (2006b). Potential European Small Aircraft Prediction and Demand Models. 6th International Conference on Nonlinear Problems in Aviation and Aerospace (ICNPAA), (old.: pp. 605 - 616). Budapest.
- Rohacs, D. (2006c). An Initial European Small Aircraft Prediction Model for 2020. 2nd International Conference on Research in Air Transportation (ICRAT), (pp. pp. 431 439). Belgrade.
- Rohács, D. (2007a): "Non-linear prediction model for the European small aircraft accessibility for 2020: Az európai kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris előrejelző modellje 2020-ra". *PhD értekezés*, BME, 2007.
- Rohacs, D. (2007b): "Kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris hosszútávú előrejelzése: Long-term Prediction of Small Aircraft Accessibility". *Repüléstudományi Közlemények 19* Különszám pp. 1-8., 2007
- Rohacs, D. (2007c): "Non-linear probabilistic prediction of the Small Aircraft accessibility: A European model for the piston, turboprop and jet Aircraft". In: *Transport Means 2007* : Proceedings of the11th International Conference, Kaunas, Litvánia : Kauno Technologijos Universitetas, 291 p. pp. 43-46., 4 p, 2007
- Rohacs, D. (2008). Prediction of the Non-Cooperative Air Targets at the European Airport Vicinities. Deliveable Sinbad Project, Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, D. (2011). An Emission Model to Assess the Environmental Load of Different Personal Aircraft Configurations. Air Transport and Operations Symposium (ATOS), (old.: pp. 292 - 298). Delft. doi:10.3233/978-1-60750-812-0-292
- Rohacs, D. (2013). A Preliminary Emission Model to Analyze the Impact of Various Personal Aircraft Configurations on the Environment. *Journal of Airspace Operations, Vol.* 2.(No. 3.), pp. 135 - 144. doi:DOI, 10.3233/AOP-140040
- Rohacs, D. (2015). Maglev applications in air transportation. In L. R. Ed. by Kisgyörgy, *Magnetic levitation an overview* (old.: pp. 60 69). Győr: Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft.
- Rohacs, D. (2015). The current state and vision of the national transport safety: Air transportation. In *Actual questions of transport safety in the new millennium* (old.: pp. 64 88). Győr: Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft.
- Rohacs, D. (2015). The GABRIEL project . In D. ed. by Rohacs, L. Kisgyörgy, & Z. C. Horvath, Magnetic levitation and its experimental use in rail and air transportation, (old.: pp. 75 - 95). Győr: Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft.
- Rohács, D. (2015): "The GABRIEL project". In: Rohács, D.; Kisgyörgy, L.; Horváth, Zs. Cs. Magnetic levitation and its experimental use in rail and air transportation. Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., pp. 75-95. 2015.
- Rohacs, D. (2020), *Development of Disruptive Technologies and Solutions for Future Aviation*, Dr. -Habilitation thesis, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Budapest, available at: repozitorium.omikk.bme.hu/.
- Rohacs, D. (2022a), "Technology and solution-driven trends in sustainable aviation", *Aircraft Engineering* and Aerospace Technology, 95: 3 (SI), pp 415-430, 2023 doi: 10.1108/AEAT-07-2022-0185.
- Rohacs, D. (2022b), "Comparative analysis of the energy sopurces for supplying the house", *Proceedings of the 14th International Green Energy Conference IGEC 2022*, presented at the 14th International Green Energy Conference IGEC 2022, Virtual, p. 8.

- Rohács, D. (2023a), "Analysis and optimization of potential energy sources for residential building application", *Energy*, Vol. 275, p. 127508, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2023.127508.
- Rohacs, D. (2023b): "Technology and solution-driven trends in sustainable aviation". Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology 95 : 3 (SI), pp. 415-430., 2023.
- Rohacs, D., Brochard, M. L., & Gausz, T. (2005). Analysis of the Impact of a Future Small Aircraft on ATM in Europe. *Proceedings of the 9th Air Transport Research Society World Conference (ATRS)*, (p. paper n. 45). Rio de Janerio. Retrieved from https://www.worldcat.org/title/ix-air-transpo
- Rohacs, D., Gausz, T., & Dalichampt, M. (2006). *Probabilistic Prediction of the European Small Aircraft* Accessibility for 2020. Brétigny sur Orge, France: Eurocontrol, Experoimental Cnetre.
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010a). Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation. 12th International Conference on Vehicle system Dynamics, Identification and Anomalis (old.: 385 -392). Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010b). Development of an Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation. XIV Conference on Mechanics in Aviation. (Mechanika w lotnictwie, ML-XIV 2010), Tom I. (redaktorzy J. Maryniak, K. Sibilski) (old.: pp. 61 - 70). Warsaw: Polskie Towarzystwo Mechaniki Teoretycznej i Stosowanej.
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2012). Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation12th International Conference on Vehicle system Dynamics, Identification and Anomalis (VSDIA), BME Budapest, 2012 ISBN 978 963 313 058 2, pp. 385 392. 12th International Conference on Vehicle system Dynamics, Identification and Anomalis (VSDIA) (old.: pp. 385 392). Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, D., Jankovics, I. and Rohacs, J. (2016a), "Development of an advanced ATCO workstation", 30th ICAS (International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences) Congress, Daejon, 25-30 September, Paper ICAS 2016_0662, p. 10.
- Rohács, D., & Rohács, J. (2014 2015). Lajstromjel nélküli repülőgépek elterjedési valószínűsége: a pilóta nélküli és a robotrepülőgépek szabályozási igényei. Diósd: Rea-Tech.
- Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2015). Impact of Out-of-the-Box Approach on the Future Air Transpor-tation System. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXVII. évf.* (No. 3.), pp. 189 - 206.
- Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2016). Magnetic levitation assisted aircraft take-off and landing (feasibility study
 GABRIEL concept) . *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 85, pp. 33 50. doi:doi: 10.1016/j.paerosci.2016.06.001
- Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M., Rohacs, J., & Schoustra, R.-J. (2013). Preliminary evaluation of the environmental impact related to aircraft take-off and landings supported with ground based (MAGLEV) power. *Journal of Aerospace Operation, Vol. 1* (No. 3., 4), pp. 161 - 180.
- Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M., & Siepenkotter, N. (2014). Evaluation of Landing Characteristics Achieved by Simulations and Flight Tests on a Small-Scaled Model Related to Magnetically Levitated Advanced Take -Off and Landing Operations. 29th Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS) (old.: Rohacs_et al. p. 9). Bonn: ICAS.
- Rohacs, J. (2010). Evaluation of the air transport efficiency definitions and their impact on the European personal air transportation system development. *Transactions of the Institute of Aviation, Scientific Quarterly, 205*(No. 3.), pp. 14 - 32.
- Rohacs, J. ; Kale, U. ; Rohacs, D. (2022): "Radically new solutions for reducing the energy use by future aircraft and their operations". *ENERGY 239* Paper: 122420, 2022.
- Rohacs, J., Jankovics, I. and Rohacs, D. (2019), "Less-skilled pilot decision support", Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 91 No. 5, pp. 790–802, doi: 10.1108/AEAT-12-2017-0269.
- Rohacs, J., Palme, R., & Siket, Z. (2010a). Non-Cooperative Target Classification to Improve Safety on Airport Approach and Departure Domain. *Proceedings of the International Symposium on Safety Science and Technology (2010ISSST)*, (old.: pp. 1931 - 1944). Hangzou.
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2011a). Possible deployment of the UAV in commercial air transport Frankfurt/Main, Germany, November 6 -8, 2012, Conference Proceedings, AIRTEC international Ae. International Aerospace Supply Fair, 6th International UAV World Conference (old.: p. 8.). Frankfurt/Main: AIRTEC International Aerospace Supply Fair.

- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2012b). Ride Control for the Personal Plane. Proceedings of the 28th International Congress of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS (old.: p. 11). Edinburg: ICAS (International Counciel of Aeronautical Sciences), Optimge Ltd.
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2013). Use of Maglev Technology to Assist the Aircraft Take-Off and Landing. Preoceedings of the 1st International Scientific Workshop "Extremal and Record-Breaking flights of the UAVs and the Aircraft with electrical power plant, (old.: 206 - 220). Moscow - Ramenskoe.
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2014). The potential application method of magnetic levitation technology as a ground-based power – to assist the aircraft take-off and landing processes. *ournal of Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, Vol 86.* (Issue 3.), pp. 188 - 197. doi:doi/10.1108/AEAT-01-2013-0017
- Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D. (2019), "Conceptual design method adapted to electric/hybrid aircraft developments", *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation*, Inderscience Publishers, Vol. 5 No. 3, pp. 175–189, doi: 10.1504/IJSA.2019.103498.
- Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D. (2020a), "Energy coefficients for comparison of aircraft supported by different propulsion systems", *Energy*, Vol. 191, p. 116391, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2019.116391.
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D. (2020b): "Total Impact Evaluation of Transportation Systems". In: *Transport* (*Vilnius*) 35: 2 pp. 193-202., 2020.
- Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D. (2020c), "Optimisation concept for sustainable developments", *Total Transport Management in Smart Cities (ED. Rohács, J., Kale, U.)*, Department of Aeronautics, Naval Architecture and railway vehicles at Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Budapest, pp. 205–232.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Bakonyi, K., Kalman, K., & Vilmos, A. (2016). Business model for establishing and successful development of a regional Eastern European centre of excellence for smart cities. Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Graaff, A. d., Kocsis, A., & Guraly, R. (2014). *Final conclusions of the GABRIEL* project. Diósd: Rea-Tech. Ltd.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010b). Safety Aspects and System Improvements for Personal Air Transportation System. *Research and Education in Aircraft Design (READ) 2010 international Conference*, (old.: p. 22). Warsaw.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2014). Security problems of the GABRIEL concept. Diósd: Rea-Tech. Ltd.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D. and Jankovics, I. (2016b), "Conceptual development of an advanced air traffic controller workstation based on objective workload monitoring and augmented reality", *Proceedings* of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, IMECHE, Vol. 230 No. 9, pp. 1747–1761, doi: 10.1177/0954410016636154.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Jankovics, I., Rozental, S., Stroli, D., Hlinka, J., Katrnak, T.; Trefilova, Mastrapostolis, T., Michaelidis, P., Fasssois, S. (2011). *Report on aircraft systems improvement*. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Schmollgruber, P., & Voskuijl, M. (2012a). *GABRIEL operational concept*. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.; Jankovics, I.; Voskuijl, M.; Sibilski, K. (2012b): "Possible Solutions to Take-Off and Land an Aircraft". *Deliverable D2.4. Integrated Ground and On-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-Off and Landing – GABRIEL, EU Project Number 284884*, 2012.
- Rohács, J., & Simongáti, G. (2007). The role of inland waterway navigation in a sustainable transport system, "Transport Research" Journal of Vilnius Geodiminas Technical University and Lithuanian Academy of Sciences, Vol. XXII. No. 3, 2007, pp 148 – 153. p. *Transport, Vol. XXII*. (No. 3.), pp. 148 - 153.
- Rohacs, J., Sziroczak, D., Gál, I., Jankovics, I., & Rohács, D. (2020). Mesterséges intelligencia adatbázis és modell felépítése drón repülési konfliktus előrejelzési és elkerülési kutatások végzéséhez. Budapest: BME, Vasúti Járművek, repülőgépek és Hajók Tanszék.
- Rohacs, J., Törő, O., Wangai, A., Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, D. (2018a). *Report on Methodology Definition and Demand Estimation*. Diosd: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Roskam, J. (1999). Presentation for NASA, Small Aircraft Transportation Systrem (SATS) Planning Conference. *Hampton, Virginia*.

- Roskam, J. (2015), *Airplane Design Part I: Preliminary Sizing of Airplanes*, Design, Analysis and Research Corporation, Lawrence, Kan., p. 222.
- Roskam, J. (2017), Airplane Design, Part II: Preliminary Configuration Design and Integration of the Propulsion System, DARcorporation, Lawrence, Kan. p. 324.
- Roskam, J. and Lan, C.-T.E. (1997), Airplane Aerodynamics and Performance, DARcorporation. p. 748.
- Rothwell, R. (1994). Towards the Fifth-Generation Innovation Process. *International Marketing Review, Vol.* 11.(No. 1.), pp. 7 30.
- Sadraey, M.H. (2017), *Aircraft Performance: An Engineering Approach*, CRC Press. ISBN 9781498776554, p. 570.
- SafeFly. (2007 2010). Közlekedés-biztonsági innovációk előkészítése és megvalósítása egy új négyszemélyes kompozit repülőgép prototípusának előállításában. *nemzeti Projekt: TECH_8_D4-2008-0033 (Projektvezető Corcus Aircraft)*.
- SAFEMODE. (2019 2022). Strengthening synergies between Aviation and maritime in the area of human Factors towards achieving more Efficient and resilient MODE of transportation Project. *H2020 MG-2-1-2018*.
- Sales, M. (2016), Aviation Logistics: The Dynamic Partnership of Air Freight and Supply Chain, Kogan Page Publishers, ISBN 978-0-7494-7271-9, p. 208
- Santero, N., M. E., & Horvath, A. (2010). Life-cycle Assessment of Pavements: A Critical Review of Existing Literature and Research, eScholarship, University of California, 2010, p. 89. eScholarship, University of California.
- Santos, G., Behrendt, H., Maconi, L., Shirvani, T., & Teytelboym, A. (2010). Part I: Externalities and economic policies in road transport. *Research in Transport Economics, Vol.* 28(Issue 1), pp. 2 45.
- SAT-Rdmp. (2010 2012). *Small Aircraft Transport Roadmap*. Forrás: (Consortiua Leader: Institute of Aviation): http://www.epats.eu/SATRdmp/
- Schäfer, A.W., Barrett, S.R.H., Doyme, K., Dray, L.M., Gnadt, A.R., Self, R., O'Sullivan, A., et al. (2019), "Technological, economic and environmental prospects of all-electric aircraft", *Nature Energy*, Nature Publishing Group, Vol. 4 No. 2, pp. 160–166, doi: 10.1038/s41560-018-0294-x.
- Schmitt, D. and Gollnick, V. (2016), "The Air Transport System", in Schmitt, D. and Gollnick, V. (Eds.), Air Transport System, Springer, Vienna, pp. 1–17, doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-1880-1_1.
- Schmollgruber, P. (2018). Enhancement of the aircraft design process through certification constraints management and full mission simulations. *PhD Thesis*, p. 223. Toulouse: Université de Toulouse Institut Supérieur de l'Aéronautique et de l'Espace.
- Schmollgruber, P., Graaff, A. d., Vozella, A., Amato, M., Rogg, D., Schaik, F. van, Rohacs, D., Kocsis, A., Pais, A. R. V., Voskujil, M. (2012). *Preliminary definition of the GABRIEL concept*. Toulous: The French Aerospace lab - ONERA.
- Schmollggruber, P., Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M., & Andreutti, G. (2013). Conceptual design of the aircraft and aircraft systems using the GABRIEL concept. Toulouse: ONERA.
- Schmollgruber, P., Kocsis, A., Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M., Rogg, D., & Graaff, A. d. (2014). *Required Investment and Operational cost Using the GABRIEL Concept.* Toulouse: ONERA.
- Schmollgruber, P., Bedouet, J., Bartoli, B., & Gourina, Y. (2015). Development of a Certification Module tailored to Aircraft Multidisciplinary Design Optimization. *Challenges in European Aerospace, 5th CEAS Air and Space Conference, Paper No. 50.*, old.: p. 15.
- Scholz, A.E., Trifonov, D. and Hornung, M. (2022), "Environmental life cycle assessment and operating cost analysis of a conceptual battery hybrid-electric transport aircraft", *CEAS Aeronautical Journal*, Vol. 13 No. 1, pp. 215–235, doi: 10.1007/s13272-021-00556-0.
- SESAR. (2015). The Roadmap for Delivering High Performing Aviation for Europe, European ATM masterplan.Brussels:EuropeanComission.Forrás:https://ec.europa.eu/transport/sites/transport/files/modes/air/sesar/doc/eu-atm-master-plan-2015.pdf
- SESAR. (2016). European Drones Outlook Study Unlocking the value for Europe. Brussels: SESAR.
- SESAR. (2022), European ATM Master Plan 2020, 2020 edition, Executive view., Vols. 1-176.

- Shahabuddin, M., Alam, M.T., Krishna, B.B., Bhaskar, T. and Perkins, G. (2020), "A review on the production of renewable aviation fuels from the gasification of biomass and residual wastes", *Bioresource Technology*, Vol. 312, p. 123596, doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123596.
- Shetty, K. I., & Hansman, R. J. (2012). Current and historical trends in general aviation in the United States. Cambridge: MIT (Massachusetts Institute of technology), International Centre for Air Transportation (ICAT),.
- Shyam, V., Eggermont, M. and Hepp, A.F. (2022), *Biomimicry for Aerospace: Technologies and Applications*, Elsevier.
- Sibilska-Mroziewicz, A. (2018). Development of a dynamics model of an unmanned aircraft launcher, using the Meissner effect. *PhD Thesis (in Polish)*, p. 218. Warsaw, warsaw University of Technology.
- Siepenkötter, N., Rohacs, D., Falkowski, K., Sibilski, K., Pool, D., & Voskuijl, M. (2014). *Evaluation of the Simulation Results of the GABRIEL Concept*. Aachen: RWTH Aachen.
- Simongáti, G. (2010). Multi-criteria decision making support tool for freight integrators for selecting the most sustainable alternative, Transport, 25:(1) pp. 89-97. (2010). *Transport, Vol.* 25.(No. 1.), pp. 89 -97.
- SINBAD. (2007 2010). Safety Improved with a New concept by Better Awareness on airport approach Domain. Forrás: (Consortia Leader: Thales Group, France): http://simbad-fp7.eu/
- Skowron, A., Lee, D.S., De León, R.R., Lim, L.L. and Owen, B. (2021), "Greater fuel efficiency is potentially preferable to reducing NOx emissions for aviation's climate impacts", *Nature Communications*, Nature Publishing Group, Vol. 12 No. 1, p. 564, doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20771-3.
- SPACECOM. (2004 2005). Új informatikai rendszer (SPACECOM) fejlesztése (Development of the new Informatic system (SpaceCom)). (D. Projektmenedszer: Rohacs, Szerk.) Budapest: eR-Group, RDS-X Fejlesztései és Tanácsadó Kft.
- Strategic. (2011). *Research and innovation Agenda (SRIA)*. ACARE. Letöltés dátuma: 2018. May 20, forrás: https://www.acare4europe.org/sites/acare4europe.org/files/attachment/acare-strategic-research-innovation-volume-1-v2.7-interactive-fin_0.pdf
- Strogatz, Steven (1994). Nonlinear dynamics and chaos : with applications to physics, biology, chemistry, and engineering. Perseus Books, Massachusetts, US, 1994.
- Stückl, S. (2016), Methods for the Design and Evaluation of Future Aircraft Concepts Utilizing Electric Propulsion Systems, Technische Universität München.
- Szarvas, I., Rohács, D., & Tichy, R. (2019). Mesterséges intelligencia alkalmazása az aviatikában XXXI., 2019 no. 1., 183 – 204 o.,. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények,, XXXI*.(No. 1.), pp. 183 - 3204. doi:DOI 10.32560/rk.2019.1.15
- Sziroczak, D., Jankovics, I., Gal, I. and Rohacs, D. (2020), "Conceptual design of small aircraft with hybridelectric propulsion systems", *Energy*, Vol. 204, p. 117937, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2020.117937.
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D. (2021): "Automated Conflict Management Framework Development for Autonomous Aerial and Ground Vehicles". *ENERGIES* 14 : 24 Paper: 8344, 2021.
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D. (2022): "Conflict Management Algorithms Development Using the Automated Framework for Autonomous Vehicles". In: Proceedings of The First Conference on ZalaZONE Related R&I Activities of Budapest University of Technology and Economics, BME, Budapest, pp. 89-93., 2022.
- Sziroczak, D.; Rohacs, D.; Rohacs, J. (2022): "Review of using small UAV based meteorological measurements for road weather management". In: *Progress in Aerospace Sciences 134*, Paper: 100859, 20 p., 2022.
- Szullo, A., Seller, R., Rohacs, D., & Renner, P. (2017). Multilateration based UAV detection and localization. *In: Hermann, Rohling (ed.) 18th International Radar Symposium (IRS. Paper: 8008235*, old.: p. 10. New York: IEEE.
- Tánczos, K., & Török, Á. (2006). Estimation method for emission of road transport. *Periodica Polytechnica, Transportation Engineering, 34:(1-2) pp. 93- 100. (2006), Vol. 34*(No. 1, 2.), pp. 93 100.
- TE. (2022), *TE-Aviation-Decarbonisation-Roadmap-FINAL.Pdf*, TE Transport and environment, European Federation for Transport and Environment AISBL.
- Tekbas, M. B., & Kale, U. (2017). Subjective decision of car drivers pp. 997 1005. Proceedings of 21st International Scientific Conference/Transport Means, 2017., (old.: pp. 997 1005). Kaunas.

- Terrenoire, E., Hauglustaine, D.A., Gasser, T. and Penanhoat, O. (2019), "The contribution of carbon dioxide emissions from the aviation sector to future climate change", *Environmental Research Letters*, IOP Publishing, Vol. 14 No. 8, p. 084019, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/ab3086.
- Thackeray, M. M., Wolverton, C., & Isaacs, E. D. (2012). Electrical energy storage for transportation approaching the limits of, and going beyond, lithium-ion batteries. *Energy and Environmental Science*, pp. 7854 - 7863. doi:DOI: 10.1039/c2ee21892e
- The Economist. (2021), "Lithium battery costs have fallen by 98% in three decades".
- Ther Air Current. (2021), "Electric is the future of regional aviation, just not yet", *The Air Current*, 14 September, available at: https://theaircurrent.com/analysis/electric-future-of-regional-aviation-not-yet/ (accessed 15 May 2022).
- Timmis, A.J., Hodzic, A., Koh, L., Bonner, M., Soutis, C., Schäfer, A.W. and Dray, L. (2015), "Environmental impact assessment of aviation emission reduction through the implementation of composite materials", *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, Vol. 20 No. 2, pp. 233– 243, doi: 10.1007/s11367-014-0824-0.
- Torenbeek, E. (2013). Advanced Aircraft Design: Conceptual Design, Analysis and optimization of Subsonic Civil Airplanes, Wiley, 2013, p. 410, ISBN: 978-1-118-56811-8. Wiley.
- Török, Á., & Tánczos, K. (2007). The linkage between climate change and energy consumption of Hungary in the road transportation sector. *Transport*, pp. 134 - 138. doi:DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/16484142.2007.963 8112
- Törő, O., Nguyen, D.D., Wangai, A., Rohacs, D. (2018) Influences of the Electric / Hybrid Aircraft Developments on Forecasting the Demand in Small Aircraft, XII. IFFK 2018 (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport) conference, Budapest p. 7.
- Truman, T., & Graaff, A. d. (2007). *Out of the box, Ideas about the future of air transport*. Brussels: EC Directorate-general for research, ACARE, .
- UN. (2015), "Paris Agreements", United nation.
- Upham, P., Maughan, J., Raper, D. and Thomas, C. (Eds.). (2003), *Towards Sustainable Aviation*, Routledge, London, doi: 10.4324/9781849773409.
- US DoD. (2005), Unmanned Aircraft Systems Roadmap 2005-2030, United States, department of Defense.
- USIS. (2017 2019). U-Space Initial Services. H2020-SESAR-2016-2 (783261) project.
- Venczel, M., Bicsak, Gy., Rohacs, D. & Rohács, J. (2017). Hidrogéncella alkalmazási lehetőségeinek vizsgálata hibrid hajtású kisrepülőgépekhez. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXIX*(No. 3.), pp. 253 - 272.
- Vereecken, P. (2020), "Solid-State Battery Tech for Electric Cars: Key to Greater Autonomy | Electronic Design", *Electronic Design*, available at: https://www.electronicdesign.com/powermanagement/whitepaper/21130936/imec-solidstate-battery-tech-for-electric-cars-key-to-greaterautonomy (accessed 20 May 2022).
- Vos, R., Eeckels, C., Schoustra, R. J., & Voskuijl, M. (2014). Analysis of a ground-based magnetic propulsion system. *Journal of Aircraft*, Vol. 51.(No.3), pp. 1013 - 1022.
- Voskuijl, M., Rohacs, D., J., R., & Schoustra, R. (2013). Preliminary Evaluation of the Environmental Impact related to Aircraft Take-off and Landings supported with Ground Based (MAGLEV) Power. *Proceedings of the 4th Annual International Air Transport and Operations Symposium (ATOS)*. Toulouse.
- Voskuijl, M., van Bogaert, J. and Rao, A.G. (2018), "Analysis and design of hybrid electric regional turboprop aircraft", *CEAS Aeronautical Journal*, Vol. 9 No. 1, pp. 15–25, doi: 10.1007/s13272-017-0272-1.
- Vozella, A., Amato, M., Rogg., & Rohacs, D. (2012). Preliminary Study of the Safety Aspects of the gabriel Concept. Capua: CIRA - Italian Aerospace Research Center.
- Wangai, A.W. (2020), Models developing to support the rail transport strategic management, Ph D Thesis, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Budapest.
- Wangai, A., Kinzhikeyev, S., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2017). Comparison of total lifecycle emission of aircraft with different propulsion system. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, Vol. XXIX*(No. 3.), pp. 337 - 348.

- Wangai, A., Kinzhikeyev, S., Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2019a). Total impact estimation to support sustainability of small hybrid aircraft. *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation*, 2019, Vol.5 No. 4. pp., Vol. 5. (No. 4.), pp. 263 - 276. doi:DOI: 10.1504/IJSA.2019.105232
- Wangai, A.; Macka, M.; de Graaff, Travascio L.; Solazzo, M. A.; Rohacs, D.; Vozella, A. (2019b): "Developing a general methodology for forecasting the demand in small personal aircraft". *Inderscience Publishers. International Symposium On Sustainable Aviation* (ISSA-2019). ISBN:9786058014008 pp. 84-91, 2019
- Wangai, A. W. ; Nguyen, D. D. ; Rohacs, D. (2019c): "Forecast of electric, hybrid-electric aircraft". Proceedings of International Symposium on Electric Aviation and Autonomous Systems, pp. 26-31, 2019
- Wangai, A.W., Rohacs, D. and Boros, A. (2020), "Supporting the Sustainable Development of Railway Transport in Developing Countries", *Sustainability*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 12 No. 9, p. 3572, doi: 10.3390/su12093572.
- WCED. (1987), *Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development Our Common Future*, UN WCED - World Commission on Environment and Development, p. 247.
- Wensveen, D.J.G. (2015), Air Transportation: A Management Perspective, Ashgate Publishing, Ltd.
- Wheeler, P. (2016), "Technology for the more and all electric aircraft of the future", 2016 IEEE International Conference on Automatica (ICA-ACCA), presented at the 2016 IEEE International Conference on Automatica (ICA-ACCA), pp. 1–5, doi: 10.1109/ICA-ACCA.2016.7778519.
- Wu, P. A. (2019). Physics-based Approach to Assess Critical Load Cases for Landing Gears within Aircraft Conceptual Design. *PhD Thesis*, p. 176. Delft: TU Delft. Forrás: https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:193f6664-0f19-488f-af6a-21b17ba75be0
- Wu, P., Voskuijl, M., van Tooren, M., & Veldhuis, L. (2015). Take-Off and Landing Using Ground-Based Power-Simulation of Critical Landing Load Cases Using Multibody Dynamics, JOURNAL OF AEROSPACE ENGINEERING 29 : 3 Paper: 1943-5525.0000520, 15 p. Journal of Aerospace Engineering, Vol. 29(No.3), p. 15.
- Xie, Y., Savvarisal, A., Tsourdos, A., Zhang, D. and Gu, J. (2021), "Review of hybrid electric powered aircraft, its conceptual design and energy management methodologies", *Chinese Journal of Aeronautics*, Vol. 34 No. 4, pp. 432–450, doi: 10.1016/j.cja.2020.07.017.
- Yang, Q. and Yoo, S.-J. (2018), "Optimal UAV Path Planning: Sensing Data Acquisition Over IoT Sensor Networks Using Multi-Objective Bio-Inspired Algorithms", *IEEE Access*, presented at the IEEE Access, Vol. 6, pp. 13671–13684, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2812896.
- Yildiz, M.; Bilgiç, B.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D. (2021): "Experimental Investigation of Communication Performance of Drones Used for Autonomous Car Track Tests". In: Sustainability 13: 10 p. 5602, 2021.
- Yusaf, T., Fernandes, L., Abu Talib, A.R., Altarazi, Y.S.M., Alrefae, W., Kadirgama, K., Ramasamy, D., et al. (2022), "Sustainable Aviation—Hydrogen Is the Future", Sustainability, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 14 No. 1, p. 548, doi: 10.3390/su14010548.
- Zahavi, Y., Beckmann, M.J. and Golob, T.F. (1981), "The UMOT/ urban interactions", https://trid.trb.org/view/206233
- Zhang, L., Butler, T.L. and Yang*, B. (2020), "Recent Trends, Opportunities and Challenges of Sustainable Aviation Fuel", *Green Energy to Sustainability*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 85–110, doi: 10.1002/9781119152057.ch5.
- Zhou, Y., Searle, S. and Pavlenko, N. (2022), *Current and Future Cost of E-Kerosene in the United States* and Europe, Working paper, The International Council on Clean Transportation, p. 15.
- Zieba, M. and Johansson, E. (2022), "Sustainability reporting in the airline industry: Current literature and future research avenues", *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 102, p. 103133, doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2021.103133.
- Ziegler, M.S. and Trancik, J.E. (2021), "Re-examining rates of lithium-ion battery technology improvement and cost decline", *Energy & Environmental Science*, The Royal Society of Chemistry, Vol. 14 No. 4, pp. 1635–1651, doi: 10.1039/D0EE02681F.

References to own major publications related to the thesis

Chapters in books

- Rohács, Dániel, (2015a) Biztontonságtudományi alapok, In: Horváth, Zsolt Csaba; Kisgyörgy, Lajos; Rohács, Dániel; Ágoston, György A közlekedésbiztonság aktuális kérdései az ezredforduló után, Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., (2015) pp. 11-41., 31 p. ISBN 978-615-5298-15-8
- Rohács, Dániel, The current state and vision of the national transport safety: Air transportation, In: Horváth, Zsolt Csaba; Kisgyörgy, Lajos; Ágoston, György; Rohács, Dániel Actual questions oftransport safety in the new millennium, Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft.(2015)184 p.pp. 64-88. , 25 p. ISBN 978-615-5298-16-5
- Rohács, Dániel, Maglev applications in air transportation, In: Kisgyörgy, Lajos; Rohács, Dániel; Horváth, Zsolt Csaba - Magnetic levitation - an overview, Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., (2015)pp. 60-69., 10 p. ISBN 978-615-5298-28-8
- Rohács, Dániel, Technical aspects, In: Rohács, Dániel; Kisgyörgy, Lajos; Horváth, Zsolt Csaba Magnetic levitation and itsexperimental use in rail and air transportation, Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., (2015)pp. 33-58., 26 p. ISBN 978-615-5298-29-5
- Rohács, Dániel The GABRIEL project, In: Rohács, Dániel; Kisgyörgy, Lajos; Horváth, Zsolt Csaba -Magnetic levitation and itsexperimental use in rail and air transportation, Győr, Magyarország : Universitas-Győr Nonprofit Kft., (2015)pp. 75-95., 21p. ISBN 978-615-5298-29-5
- Rohács, Dániel; Rohács, József, Smart city Smart Transport, In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities, Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 15-40. Paper: chapter 1, 24 p. ISBN 978-963-306-805-2
- Nguyen, Dinh; Rohács, Józef; Rohács, Dániel Sensing monitoring supporting the total transport management In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 75-124. Paper: chapter 3 , 49 p. ISBN 978-963-306-805-2
- Agnes, Wanjiku Wangai; Dinh, Dung Nguyen; József, Rohács; Dániel, Rohács Studies into the future, In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities, Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 127-181. Paper: Chapter 4, 54 p. ISBN 978-963-306-805-2
- Wanjiku Wangai, Agnes; Kale, Utku; Kinzhikeyev, Sergey; Rohács, Dániel Total impact evaluation In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities, Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 183-209. Paper: chapter 5, 26 p. SBN 978-963-306-805-2
- Rohács, József; Rohács, Dániel (2020c) Optimisation concept for sustainable developments, In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 211 - 230. Paper: chapter 6, p. 19. SBN 978-963-306-805-2
- Nguyen, Dinh; Utku, Kale; Rohács, Dániel Introduction of urban air transport into the total mobility system In: Rohács, József (szerk.) Total transport management in smart cities, Budapest, Magyarország : BME (2020) pp. 233-261. Paper: chapter 7, 28 p. SBN 978-963-306-805-2

High level papers in journals with impact factor

- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2014). The potential application method of magnetic levitation technology as a ground-based power – to assist the aircraft take-off and landing processes. *ournal of Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, Vol 86.* (Issue 3.), pp. 188 - 197. doi:doi/10.1108/AEAT-01-2013-0017
- Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2016). Magnetic levitation assisted aircraft take-off and landing (feasibility study– GABRIEL concept). *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 85, 33–50.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2016). Conceptual development of an advanced air traffic controller workstation based on objective workload monitoring and augmented reality. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, 230(9), 1747–1761.
- Rohacs, J., Jankovics, I. and Rohacs, D.: "Less-skilled pilot decision support", Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 91 No. 5, pp. 790–802, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/AEAT-12-2017-0269

- Kale, U., Rohács, J. and Rohács, D. (2020), "Operators' Load Monitoring and Management", *Sensors*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Vol. 20 No. 17, p. 4665, 2020.
- Kinzhikeyev, S.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A.: "Sustainable Disaster Response Management Related to Large Technical Systems". *Sustainability* 12 : 24 pp. 1-25. Paper: 10290, 25 p., 2020.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohács, J.; Rohács, D.; Boros, A.: "Intelligent Total Transportation Management System for Future Smart Cities". *Applied Sciences-Basel* 10 : 24 Paper: 8933, 31 p., 2020.
- Rohacs, J. ; Rohacs, D.: (2020a) "Energy coefficients for comparison of aircraft supported by different propulsion systems". *ENERGY 191 p. 116391* Paper: 116391, 2020
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.: (2020b) "Total Impact Evaluation of Transportation Systems". In: *Transport (Vilnius)* 35 : 2 pp. 193-202., 2020.
- Sziroczak, D., Jankovics, I., Gal, I., & Rohacs, D. (2020). Conceptual design of small aircraft with hybridelectric propulsion systems. *Energy*, 204, 117937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.117937
- Wangai, A. W., Rohacs, D., & Boros, A. (2020). Supporting the Sustainable Development of Railway Transport in Developing Countries. Sustainability, 12(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093572
- Kale, U.; Jankovics, I.; Nagy, A.; Rohács, D.: "Towards Sustainability in Air Traffic Management". Sustainability 13: 10 Paper: 5451, 2021.
- Nguyen, D. D.; Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D:: "Autonomous Flight Trajectory Control System for Drones in Smart City Traffic Management". In: *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* 10: 5 p. 338, 2021.
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D.: "Automated Conflict Management Framework Development for Autonomous Aerial and Ground Vehicles". *Energies* 14: 24 Paper: 8344, 2021., 27 p.
- Yildiz, M.; Bilgiç, B.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.: "Experimental Investigation of Communication Performance of Drones Used for Autonomous Car Track Tests". In: Sustainability 13: 10 p. 5602, 2021.
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Hikmet, K.T.: "Environmental damage cost and exergoenvironmental evaluations of piston prop aviation engines for the landing and take-off flight phases". *Energy 261*: Part B Paper: 125356, 2022.
- Balli, O.; Kale, U.; Rohács, D.; Karakoc, T. H.: "Exergoenvironmental, environmental impact and damage cost analyses of a micro turbojet engine (m-TJE)". *Energy Report* 8 pp. 9828-9845. , 18 p., 2022.
- Rohacs, J.; Kale, U.; Rohacs, D.: "Radically new solutions for reducing the energy use by future aircraft and their operations". *Energy 239* Paper: 122420, 2022.
- Sziroczak, D.; Rohacs, D.; Rohacs, J.: "Review of using small UAV based meteorological measurements for road weather management". In: *Progress in Aerospace Sciences 134*, Paper: 100859, 20 p., 2022.
- Kinzhikeyev, Sergey; Rohacs, Jozsef, Rohacs, Daniel; Boros, Anita: Simulation Model Based Response Management Related to Railway (Earthquake) Disaster. *Periodical Polytechnica-Civil Engineering* 66 : 1pp. 40-49., 10 p. (2022)
- Alharasees, O.; Jazzar, A.; Kale, U.; Rohacs, D. (2023) "Aviation communication: the effect of critical factors on the rate of misunderstandings". *Aircraft engineering and Aerospace Technology* 1748-8842 1758-4213 95 (3) pp. 379-388, 2023
- Kale, U., Alharasees, O., Rohacs, J. and Rohacs, D.: "Aviation operators (pilots, ATCOs) decision-making process", *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, Emerald Publishing Limited, Vol. 95 No. 3, pp. 442–451, doi: 10.1108/AEAT-02-2022-0053, 2023.
- Rohacs, D.: "Analysis and optimization of potential energy sources for residential building application". ENERGY 275 Paper: 127508, 2023.
- Rohacs, D. (2022a): "Technology and solution-driven trends in sustainable aviation". Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology 95 : 3 (SI), pp. 415-430., 2023.
- Rohacs Daniel, Yasar Onur, Kale Utku, Ekici Selcuk, Yalcin Enver, Midilli Adnan, Karakoc T. Hikmet Past and current components-based detailing of particle image velocimetry: A comprehensive review, HELIYON 9 : 3 pp. 1-56., 56 p. (2023)
- Selcuk Aslan, Daniel Rohacs, Melih Yıldız, Utku Kale A.: Three-Dimensional UCAV Path Planning Approach Based on Immune Plasma Algorithm. *International Journal of Computational Intelligence Systems 16* : 112 pp. 1-19. , 19 p. (2023)

Journal papers

- Rohacs, D. (2007b) "Kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris hosszútávú előrejelzése: Long-term Prediction of Small Aircraft Accessibility". *Repüléstudományi Közlemények 19* Különszám pp. 1-8., 2007
- Rohacs, D. (2013). A Preliminary Emission Model to Analyze the Impact of Various Personal Aircraft Configurations on the Environment. *Journal of Airspace Operations, Vol.* 2.(No. 3.), pp. 135 - 144. doi:DOI, 10.3233/AOP-140040
- Rohacs, D; Voskuijl, M ; Rohacs, J; Schoustra, R-J, Preliminary Evaluation of the Environmental Impact Related to Take-offand Landings Supported with Ground-Based (MAGLEV) Power. *Journal of Aerospace Operations* 2 : 3-4pp. 161-180., 20 p. (2013)
- Rohács, D; Rohács, J. Impact of Out-of-the-Box Approach on the Future Air Transportation System, *Repüléstudományi Közlemények* 2015 : 3pp. 189-206. , 18 p. (2015)
- Wangai, Agnes ; Kinzhikeyev, Sergey ; Rohacs, Jozsef ; Rohacs, Daniel: Comparison of Total Lifecycle Emission of Aircraft with Different Propulsion System. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények* pp. 337-348. , 12 p. (2017)
- Dudás, D., Somosi, V., & Rohács, D. (2017). A remote tower technológia polgári és katonai alkalmazási lehetőségei. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXIX. évf.* (No. 1), pp. 205 217.
- Kling, F., Somosi, V., Pokorádi, L., & Rohács, D. (2017). Budapest Liszt Ferenc Nemzetközi Repülőtér légijármű forgalmának elemzése Markov-folyamatokkkal. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények*, pp. 115 126.
- Venczel, M., Bicsak, Gy., Rohacs, D. & Rohács, J. (2017). Hidrogéncella alkalmazási lehetőségeinek vizsgálata hibrid hajtású kisrepülőgépekhez. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXIX*(No. 3.), pp. 253 - 272.
- Dobi, S., Fekete, R., & Rohács, D. (2018). Az európai UTM helyzete és jövője. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXIX*(No. 2), pp. 189 204.
- Rohács, J., Rohács, D. Problems and Barriers Impeding the Implementation of MagLev Assisted Aircraft Take-OffandLanding Concept. *Journal of Transportation Technologies* 8 : 2pp. 91-118., 28 p. (2018)
- Dobi, S., Horváth, K., & Rohács, D. (2019). Drónok piacához köthető üzleti felhasználási lehetőségek áttekintése a szegmens aktualitásainak tükrében. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények, XXXI*. (No. 1.), pp. 33 – 52. doi:DOI 10.32560/rk.2019.1.4
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2019). Conceptual design method adapted to electric/hybrid aircraft developments. *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation*, 5(3), 175–189. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSA.2019.103498
- Wangai, A.; Kinzhikeyev, S.; Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D. Total impact estimation to support sustainability of small hybrid aircraft, *International Journal of Sustainable Aviation 5* : 4pp. 263-276., 14 p. (2019)51.
- Szarvas, I., Rohács, D., & Tichy, R. (2019). Mesterséges intelligencia alkalmazása az aviatikában XXXI., 2019 no. 1., 183 – 204 o.,. *Repüléstudományi Közlemények,, XXXI*. (No. 1.), pp. 183 - 3204. doi:DOI 10.32560/rk.2019.1.15
- Boros Anita, Müller Anett, Szántó Edina Anna, Rohács józsef, Rohács Dániel: "Megújuló energiák lakossági célú alkalmazását támogató okos térkép fejlesztéséhez teszthelyszínek kiválasztása". *Economica* ISNN 25602322, 2023 No. 1 2, (Megjelenés alatt)

Confeerence articles

- Rohacs, D. (2004b).: "Analysis the Impact of a Future Small Aircraft on ATM in Europe.". In: *Proceedings* of the 4th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition : Eurocontrol, Brétigny sur Orge, France.
- Rohacs, D., Brochard, M. L., & Gausz, T. (2005): "Analysis of the Impact of a Future Small Aircraft on ATM in Europe". *Proceedings of the 9th Air Transport Research Society World Conference (ATRS)*, (p. paper n. 45). Rio de Janerio.
- Rohacs, D; Brochard, M ; Lavallee, I ; Gausz, T.: "Preliminary Analysis of Small Aircraft Traffic Characteristics and its Interaction on ATM for European Market Attributes". In: *Proceedings of the 4th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* : Eurocontrol (2005) pp. 143-149., 7 p.
- Rohacs, D. (2005a): "Preliminary Analysis of Small Aircraft Traffic Characteristics and its Impact on European ATM Parameters". *Eurocontrol, Activity Report 2005*, Brétigny sur Orge, France.

- Rohacs, D. (2005b): "Preliminary Analysis of Small Aircraft Traffic Characteristics and its Interaction on ATM for European Market Attributes". *Proceedings of the 4th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* (old.: pp. 143 149). Brétigny sur Orge, France
- Rohacs, D., Gausz, T., & Dalichampt, M. (2006): "Probabilistic Prediction of the European Small Aircraft Accessibility for 2020". *Eurocontrol, Activity Report, 2006*. Brétigny sur Orge, France: Eurocontrol, Experimental Cnetre.
- Rohacs, D. (2006a): "The Effect of Income and Total Operating Cost on Small Aircraft Accessibility in Europe: a prediction for 2020". In: *Proceedings of the 5th Innovative Research Workshop and Exhibition* : Eurocontrol, pp. 9-13., 2006.
- Rohacs, D. (2006b): "Potential European Small Aircraft Prediction and Demand Models". 6th International Conference on Nonlinear Problems in Aviation and Aerospace (ICNPAA), (old.: pp. 605 - 616). Budapest.
- Rohacs, D. (2006c): "An Initial European Small Aircraft Prediction Model for 2020". 2nd International Conference on Research in Air Transportation (ICRAT), (pp. pp. 431 439). Belgrade.
- Rohacs, D. (2007c): "Non-linear probabilistic prediction of the Small Aircraft accessibility: A European model for the piston, turboprop and jet Aircraft". In: *Transport Means* 2007 : Proceedings of the11th International Conference, Kaunas, Litvánia : Kauno Technologijos Universitetas, 291 p. pp. 43-46., 4 p, 2007
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010a): "Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation". 12th International Conference on Vehicle system Dynamics, Identification and Anomalis (old.: 385 - 392). Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010b): "Development of an Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation". XIV Conference on Mechanics in Aviation. (Mechanika w lotnictwie, ML-XIV 2010), Tom I. (redaktorzy J. Maryniak, K. Sibilski) (old.: pp. 61 - 70). Warsaw: Polskie Towarzystwo Mechaniki Teoretycznej i Stosowanej.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2010b): "Safety Aspects and System Improvements for Personal Air Transportation System". *Research and Education in Aircraft Design (READ) 2010 international Conference*, (old.: p. 22). Warsaw.
- Rohacs, D. (2011): "An Emission Model to Assess the Environmental Load of Different Personal Aircraft Configurations". Air Transport and Operations Symposium (ATOS), (old.: pp. 292 - 298). Delft. doi:10.3233/978-1-60750-812-0-292
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2011a): "Possible deployment of the UAV in commercial air transport". Frankfurt/Main, Germany, November 6 -8, 2012, Conference Proceedings, AIRTEC international Ae. International Aerospace Supply Fair, 6th International UAV World Conference (old.: p. 8.). Frankfurt/Main: AIRTEC International Aerospace Supply Fair.
- Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2012a): "Active Conflict Detection and Resolution Method for General Aviation". 12th International Conference on Vehicle system Dynamics, Identification and Anomalis (VSDIA), BME Budapest, 2012 ISBN 978 963 313 058 2, pp. 385 – 392. Budapest: BME.
- Rohacs, J; Rohacs, D. (2012b): "Ride Control for the Personal Plane". In: Anon (szerk.) Proceedings of the 28th International Congress of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS), Edinburgh, Egyesült Királyság / Skócia : Optimage Ltd. (2012) pp. 3055-3065., 11 p.
- Jankovics, I. R., Rohacs, D., & Rohacs, J. (2012). "Motion Simulation Model of a Special Acrobatic Aircraft". 12th Mini Conference on Vehicle System Dynamics, Identification and Anomalies (VSDIA) (old.: pp. 393 - 402). Budapest: BME.
- Baburin, R., Gy., Bicsak, Jankovics, I., Rohacs, D. (2013).: "Using UAVs in Education to Support the Development of Engineering Skills"., Preoceedings of the 1st International Scientific Workshop "Extremal and Record-Breaking flights of the UAVs and the Aircraft with electrical power plant (pp. 91 103). Moscow Ramenskoe.
- Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2013). Use of Maglev Technology to Assist the Aircraft Take-Off and Landing. Preoceedings of the 1st International Scientific Workshop "Extremal and Record-Breaking flights of the UAVs and the Aircraft with electrical power plant, (old.: 206 - 220). Moscow - Ramenskoe.
- Voskuijl, M., Rohacs, D., J., R., & Schoustra, R. (2013). Preliminary Evaluation of the Environmental Impact related to Aircraft Take-off and Landings supported with Ground Based (MAGLEV) Power.

Proceedings of the 4th Annual International Air Transport and Operations Symposium (ATOS). Toulouse.

- Rohacs, D; Voskuijl, M; Siepenkotter, N.: "Evaluation of Landing Characteristics Achieved by Simulations and Flight Tests on a Small-Scaled Model Related to Magnetically Levitated Advanced Take-Off and Landing Operations". In *Proceedings of the 29th Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS)*, Bonn, Németország : 2014.
- Bicsák, György; Sziroczák, Dávid; Dr. Rohács, Dániel: "Changes in Aerospace Development Process Trends". In: Rolandas, Makaras; Robertas, Keršys; Rasa, Džiaugienė (szerk.) Proceedings of 20thInternational Scientific Conference Transport Means 2016 Kaunas, Litvánia : Kaunas University of Technology(2016)1,159 p.pp. 528-535., 8 p.
- Rohacs, D; Jankovics, I; Rohacs, J. (2016a): "Development of an advanced ATCO workstation". In: 30th Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, ICAS 2016, International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS) (2016) Paper: 0662, 10 p.
- Bos, T; Zon, R; Furedi, E; Dudas, D; Rohacs, D.: "A Pilot Study into Bio-Behavioural Measurements on Air Traffic Controllers in Remote TowerOperations". In: Yvonne, Desmond (szerk.) H-Workload 2017: *The first international symposium on humanmental workload*, Dublin, Írország : Dublin Institute of Technology(2017)pp. 1-8., 8 p.
- Kale, U., Tekbas, M. B., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2017).: "System supporting the operators supervising with vehicle and transport control," in IFFK 2017, 2017, pp. 101–108. *Innováció és Fenntartható Felszíni Közlekedés (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport)* (old.: pp. 101 108). Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Szullo, A., Seller, R., Rohacs, D., Renner, P. (2017).: "Multilateration based UAV detection and localization". *In: Hermann, Rohling (ed.) 18th International Radar Symposium (IRS. Paper: 8008235*, old.: p. 10. New York: IEEE.
- Gal, I ; Jankovics, I ; Rohacs, J ; Rohacs, D. (2017a) "Diszruptív technológiák fejlesztése, azonosítása, értékelése és kiválasztása – járműfejlesztési sajátosságok" In: Péter, Tamás (szerk.) IFFK 2017 : XI. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés, Budapest, Magyarország : Magyar Mérnökakadémia (MMA) pp. 109-117, 2017.
- Gál, I., Jankovics, I., Bicsák, G., Veress, Á., Rohács, J., Rohács, D. (2017b).: "Conceptual design of a small 4-seater aircraft with hybrid propulsion system". *Proceedings of the Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport, Budapest*, 30, 7.
- Dobi, S., & Rohács, D. (2018).: "HungaroControl nemzetközi szerepvállalás az UTM környezetben: A USIS project".. XII. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés. Paper 42. Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Kling, F., Pethő, E., Papp, G., & Rohács, D. (2018). Az emberi tényezők objektív mérési lehetőségei biztonságkritikus környezetekbenIn Péter, Tamás (szerk.) IFFK 2018: XII. Innováció és. In Péter, Tamás (ed.) IFFK 2018: XII. Innováció és XII. Innováció és fenntartható felszíni közlekedés (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport, Budapest, Magyarország : Magyar Mérnökakadémia (MMA), (2018) Paper: 41. Budapest: Mérnökakadémia.
- Törő, O., Nguyen, D.D., Wangai, A., Rohacs, D. (2018): "Influences of the Electric / Hybrid Aircraft Developments on Forecasting the Demand in Small Aircraft", XII. IFFK 2018 (Innovation and Sustainable Surface Transport) conference, Budapest p. 7.
- Kale, U., Jankovics, I., Gandotra, A., Bizonics, R., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2018a): "Operators' (Pilots and ATCOs) Load Monitoring and Management in Highly Automated Systems". *Proceedings of 22nd International Scientific Conference. Transport Means 2018 Part II.*, (pp. pp. 729 - 736). Kaunas.
- Kale, U., Jankovics, I., Rohacs, J., & Rohacs, D. (2018b).: "Load monitoring for operators' load management". . 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (old.: p. 10). Belo Horizonte: ICAS.
- Gál, István; Rohács, Dániel; Rohács, József.: "Developing the unmanned unconventional cargo airplanes with hybrid propulsion system". In: anon (szerk.) *31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS)*, 2018, Paper: 0697, 10 p.
- Kale, U., Jankovics, I., Rohács, J., Rohács, D. "Radically New Solutions Reducing the Required Capacity of Mission Energy Battery Mass of Electric Aircraft". In: T., Hikmet Karakoc; Evren, Yılmaz Yakın International Symposium on Electric Aviation and Autonomous Systems 2018, (2018) pp. 49-54., 6 p.

- Renner, P., Rohács, D., Papp, G. and Kling, F. (2018), "The Effects of the Introduction of Free Route (HUFRA, Hungarian Free Route Airspace) in the Hungarian Airspace", *Eighth SESAR Innovation Days*, presented at the Eighth SESAR Innovation Days, SESAR, p. 8.
- Nguyen, Dinh; Rohács, Dániel (2019a): "Integrating air traffic management with a total transport-managing system In: Air traffic management and systems" IV : selected papers of the 6th ENRI InternationalWorkshop on ATM/CNS (EIWAC2019) (2019) Paper: paper No. EN-A-65
- Wangai, A. W., Macka, M., de Graaff, A., Travascio, L., Solazzo, M. A., Rohacs, D., & Vozella, A. (2019b). Developing a general methodology for forecasting the demand in small personal aircraft. 84–91.
- Wangai, A. W.; Dung, N. D.; Rohacs, D. (2019c "Forecast of electric, hybrid-electric aircraft". Proceedings of International Symposium on Electric Aviation and Autonomous Systems, pp. 26-31, 2019
- Takarics, Bela ; Mocsanyi, Reka Dora ; Vanek, Balint ; Sziroczak, David; Rohacs, Daniel: "Aerodynamic and LPV Modeling of a Distributed Propulsion Morphing Wing Aircraft", In: 2020 2nd IEEE International Conference on Gridding and Polytope Based Modelling and Control (GPMC), Piscataway (NJ), Amerikai Egyesült Államok : IEEE (2020) pp. 3-8., 6 p.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohacs, D.: "Air Traffic Management of Drones Integrated Into the Smart Cities". In: *32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences*, ICAS 2021, Paper: 0456, 2021.
- Kale, U.; Alharasees, O.; Kling, F.; Rohacs, D. (2021a): "Objective Measurement of Human Factors for Supporting the Operator's Load Management". In: *International Council of Aeronautical Sciences* (*ICAS*), 32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, paper: 0638, 15p., 2021.
- Rohacs, D. (2022), "Comparative analysis of the energy sopurces for supplying the house", *Proceedings of the 14th International Green Energy Conference IGEC 2022*, presented at the 14th International Green Energy Conference IGEC 2022, Virtual, p. 8.
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D.: "Conflict Management Algorithms Development Using the Automated Framework for Autonomous Vehicles". In: Proceedings of The First Conference on ZalaZONE Related R&I Activities of Budapest University of Technology and Economics, BME, Budapest, pp. 89-93., 2022.
- Nguyen, D.D.; Rohacs, D.: "Air Traffic Management of Drones Integrated Into the Smart Cities". In: *32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences*, ICAS 2021, Paper: 0456, 2021.
- Utku, Kale; Omar, Alharasees; Fanni, Kling ; Daniel, Rohacs: "Objective Measurement of Human Factors for Supporting the Operator's Load Simulation and Management". In: *International Council of Aeronautical Sciences (ICAS)* - International Council of AeronauticalSciences (ICAS) (szerk.) 32nd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, ICAS 2021
- Sziroczák, D.; Rohács, D.: "Conflict Management Algorithms Development Using the Automated Framework for Autonomous Vehicles". In: Proceedings of The First Conference on ZalaZONE Related R&I Activities of Budapest University of Technology and Economics, BME, Budapest, pp. 89-93., 2022.
- Omar Alharasees, Utku Kale, Jozsef Rohacs, Daniel Rohacs: "Adaptation of Smart Energy Map to Transportation Domain": A Case Study to Small Airfield Buildings and Other Infrastructures, International Symposiumon Electric Aviation and Autnomous systems, Warsaw, 2023, July 5 - 7, 2023

Theses

- Rohacs, D. (2004): "Nouveau systeme de controle automatique pour de petits avions". *Diploma Thesis*, p. 156. NSA de Lyon & BME.
- Rohács, D.: "Non-linear prediction model for the European small aircraft accessibility for 2020: (Az európai kisrepülőgépek elérhetőségének nemlineáris előrejelző modellje 2020-ra). *PhD értekezés*, BME, 2007. 105 p.
- Rohacs, D. (2020). "Development of Disruptive Technologies and Solutions for Future Aviation" [Dr. *Habilitation thesis*, Budapest University of Technology and Economics]. epozitorium.omikk.bme.hu/. https://repozitorium.omikk.bme.hu/bitstream/handle/10890/16353/00018363.pdf?sequence=1

Project, reports

- SPACECOM (2004 2005). Új légiforgaslmi informatikai rendszer (SPACECOM) fejlesztése, Budapest: eR-Group, RDS-X Fejlesztései és Tanácsadó Kft.
- EPATS (2007 2008). European Personal Air Transportation System SEU FP/ project, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/44549/pl
- SINBAD (2007 2010). Safety improved with a new concept by better awareness on airport approach domain, EU FP6 project, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/37164
- Balk, A. D., Wever, R., Gati, B., Gausz, Z., Gausz, T., Ludányi, L., Rohacs, D., Rohacs, J. (2007). *Threat identification and scenarios*. Deliverable D2.1. of the EU FP6 supported SINBAD project, Amsterdam, Budapest.
- Rohacs, D. (2008). Prediction of the Non-Cooperative Air Targets at the European Airport Vicinities. (Deliverable, SINBAD project) Budapest: BME.
- SafeFly. (2007 2010). Közlekedés-biztonsági innovációk előkészítése és megvalósítása egy új négyszemélyes kompozit repülőgép prototípusának előállításában. *nemzeti Projekt: TECH_8_D4-2008-0033 (Projektvezető Corcus Aircraft)*.
- Corvus. (2008 2010). Racer 540 akrobatikus repülőgép fejlesztése. *Megbízó Red Bull (World Air Race)*. Corvus Aircraft Kft., Ballószög.
- PPLANE (2009 2012) The Personal Plane Project. https://pplane-project.org/
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Jankovics, I., Rozental, S., Stroli, D., Hlinka, J., Katrnak, T.; Trefilova, Mastrapostolis, T., Michaelidis, P., Fasssois, S. (2011). *Report on aircraft systems improvement*. PPLANE project, Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- CDR, U. . (2011). UAV conflict detection and resolution system development preliminary incvestigation (partner, Cofano Venture Partners AG, témavezető: M. Oppelt, magyar témavezető: Rohács D.) Rea-Tech Kft. Budapest, 2011. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- LC-CDR, U. (2011 2012). Low cost conflict detection and resolution system for the small aircraft. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- ESPOSA (2011 2013). Efficient Systems and Propulsion for Small Aircraft EU project, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/284859
- GABRIEL (2011 2014) Integrated Ground and on-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-off and Landing, EU project, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/284884
- Rohacs, J.; Rohacs, D.; Jankovics, I.; Voskuijl, M.; Sibilski, K. (2012b) "Possible Solutions to Take-Off and Land an Aircraft". *Deliverable D2.4. Integrated Ground and On-Board system for Support of the Aircraft Safe Take-Off and Landing – GABRIEL, EU Project Number 284884*, 2012.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Schmollgruber, P., & Voskuijl, M. (2012a). *GABRIEL operational concept*. Budapest: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- Schmollgruber, P., Graaff, A. d., Vozella, A., Amato, M., Rogg, D., Schaik, F. v., Rohacs, D., Rohacs, J., Kocsis, A., Pais, A. R. V., Voskujil, M. (2012). *Preliminary definition of the GABRIEL concept*. Deliverable D2.8., Toulous: The French Aerospace lab - ONERA. P. 49
- Rogg, D., Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Voskuijl, M., & Sibilski, K. (2013). Conceptual Design of the Groundbased System Realted to the GABRIEL Concept, Technical report, Deliverable 3.5, GABRIEL project, Grant Agreement n. 284884, 2013. (D 3.5. Gabriel Project; p. 94). DRogg.
- Majka, A., Klepacki, Z., Orkisz, M., Pawluczy-Majka, J., Wygonik, P., Sibilski, K., Felisiak, P., Wróbel, M., Rohacs, D.; Rohacs, J. (2013). Effect of maglev on aircraft characteristics (geometrics, weight, aerodynamics, flight performance). Rzeszow: Rzeszow University of Technology.
- de Graaff, A., Schmollgruber, P., Kocsis, A., Rohacs, D., Rohacs, J., Voskuijl, M., & Rogg, D. (2014). Cost benefit analysis of the GABRIEL concept. Amsterdam: Ad Acuante.
- Vozella, A., Amato, M., Rogg., & Rohacs, D. (2012). Preliminary Study of the Safety Aspects of the gabriel Concept. Capua: CIRA - Italian Aerospace Research Center.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., & Jankovics, I. (2014). Security problems of the GABRIEL concept. Diósd: Rea-Tech. Ltd.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Graaff, A. d., Kocsis, A., & Guraly, R. (2014). *Final conclusions of the GABRIEL* project. Diósd: Rea-Tech. Ltd.

- Siepenkötter, N., Rohacs, D., Falkowski, K., Sibilski, K., Pool, D., & Voskuijl, M. (2014). *Evaluation of the Simulation Results of the GABRIEL Concept.* Aachen: RWTH Aachen.
- SAT-Rdmp (2011 20139 Home page, Small Aircraft Transport Roadmap, EU suipported Project, 2011 2013, https://sat-rdmp.eu/
- Laplace, I., Ghijs, S., & Rohacs, D. (2011). Small air transport aircraft demand (D2.1. deliverable, SAT-Rdmp project; p. 55). Institute of Aviation. https://sat-rdmp.eu/Files/Deliverables/SAT-Rdmp-D1_2-Report-V1.pdf
- Ghijs, S., & Rohacs, D. (2012). Business case subscriptions with operational characteristics. (STA-Rdmp Project, Delft: Tu Delft.
- Ghijs, S. S., & Rohacs, D. (2013). Analysis of the Impact of each Business Case on the Technology Roadmap. SAT-Rdmp project, Delft: TU Delft.
- INNOVATE INNOvation through Validation for Air Transportation in Europe, Proposal for lot 5 -Modelling Support to Validation, SESAR (Single European Sky ATM Research) Project, deep Blue, 2011 - 2014.
- ATM. (2014 2015). Légiforgaalom menedzsment szimulációs laboratórium megoldások fejlesztése, (Tv. Rohács, D. megbízó Hungarocontrol). BME, Vasúti Járművek, Repülőgépek és Hajók Tanszék.
- Rohács, D., & Rohács, J. (2014 2015). Lajstromjel nélküli repülőgépek elterjedési valószínűsége: a pilóta nélküli és a robotrepülőgépek szabályozási igényei. Diósd: Rea-Tech.
- Rohacs, J., Rohacs, D., Bakonyi, K., Kalman, K., & Vilmos, A. (2016). Business model for establishing and successful development of a regional Eastern European centre of excellence for smart cities. Budapest: BME.
- USIS (2017 2019). U-Space Initial Services, EU H2020 Project, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/783261
- FORJET2035 ATS level Business Jet Forecast, Cleansky2 JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-03, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 2018
- FORROT2035 ATS level Rotorcraft Forecast, Cleansky2 JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-04, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 2018
- FORSAT2035 ATS level Small Aircraft transportation Forecast, Clean Sky 2, JTI-CS2-2016-CFP05-TE2-01-05, (Coordinator CRIA), 2017 - 2018
- Rohacs, J., Törő, O., Wangai, A., Nguyen, D. D., & Rohacs, D. (2018a). *Report on Methodology Definition and Demand Estimation*. (FORSAT project, Diosd: Rea-Tech Ltd.
- IDEA-E. (2017). Investigation and development of the disruptive technologies for e-mobility and their integration into the engineering education. (EFOP-3.6-1-16-2016-00014.). Budapest University of Technology and Economics, John Neumann University, Szeged University.
- HM. (2019). Katonai stzimuláció. HM contract, HungaroControl, Budapest
- Rohacs, J., Sziroczak, D., Gál, I., Jankovics, I., & Rohács, D. (2020). Mesterséges intelligencia adatbázis és modell felépítése drón repülési konfliktus előrejelzési és elkerülési kutatások végzéséhez. Budapest: BME, Vasúti Járművek, repülőgépek és Hajók Tanszék.
- SAFEMODE Strengthening synergies between Aviation and maritime in the area of human Factors towards achieving more Efficient and resilient MODE of transportation, EU H2020 Project, 2019 - 2022, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/814961
- GREAT Greener Air Traffic Operations, EU H2020 Project, 2020-2023, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/875154
- MATE. (2023). *Project 'Smart Energy Utilisation Map'* (Research and Development ÉZFF/212/2022-TIM-Smart Map; I. Appendix I. Paper Review on Small Resinsential Energy Systems, p. 38). Centre for Circular Economy Analysis and Knowledge at Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences (MATE).